#### University of Louisville

# ThinkIR: The University of Louisville's Institutional Repository

**Electronic Theses and Dissertations** 

1-2022

# Person-centered decision-making and socio-cultural contexts influencing cesarean deliveries: a national analysis.

Alice M. Story University of Louisville

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.library.louisville.edu/etd

Part of the Maternal and Child Health Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Story, Alice M., "Person-centered decision-making and socio-cultural contexts influencing cesarean deliveries: a national analysis." (2022). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. Paper 3836. https://doi.org/10.18297/etd/3836

This Doctoral Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by ThinkIR: The University of Louisville's Institutional Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ThinkIR: The University of Louisville's Institutional Repository. This title appears here courtesy of the author, who has retained all other copyrights. For more information, please contact thinkir@louisville.edu.

# PERSON-CENTERED DECISION-MAKING AND SOCIO-CULTURAL CONTEXTS INFLUENCING CESAREAN DELIVERIES: A NATIONAL ANALYSIS

By

Alice M. Story

B.S., Spelman College, 2011

M.P.H., University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, 2013

J.M., Emory University, 2014

A Dissertation

Submitted to the Faculty of the

School of Public Health and Information Sciences of the University of Louisville

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Public Health Sciences

Department of Health Promotion and Behavioral Sciences

University of Louisville

Louisville, Kentucky

May 2022

© 2022 by Alice M. Story

All rights reserved

#### PERSON-CENTERED DECISION-MAKING AND SOCIO-CULTURAL CONTEXTS

#### INFLUENCING CESAREAN DELIVERIES: A NATIONAL ANALYSIS

By

Alice M. Story

B.S., Spelman College, 2011 M.P.H., University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, 2013 J.M., Emory University, 2014

A Dissertation Approved on

April 22, 2022

by the following Dissertation Committee:

Muriel J. Harris, Ph.D., M.P.H. Dissertation Chair

Aisha A. Brown, Ph.D.

Jelani C. Kerr, Ph.D., M.S.P.H.

Saraswathi Vedam, Ph.D., R.M., F.A.C.N.M., Sci.D. (hc)

### DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my parents

Dr. Troy L. Story

and

Jacqueline W. Story

who have always provided immense love and support.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My gratitude is first extended to God, who has given me strength and blessings through family and friends who have supported and devoted their time throughout this journey. Dr. Aisha A. Brown, my advisor and committee member, I would not be in this position if it was not for you. Thank you for providing this opportunity to live my dream. Dr. Muriel Harris, my dissertation chair, I am grateful for your guidance and unimaginable opportunities you have exposed me to over the years. Dr. Jelani Kerr, my committee member, thank you for your continuous support and improving my research skills. Dr. Saraswathi Vedam, my committee member, thank you for the opportunity to collaborate with the Birth Place Lab and making this study possible.

To my parents, Dr. Troy L. Story and Jacqueline W. Story, who have instilled in me positivity and to work hard and never give up. My grandparents who have paved the way, Dr. Jacob White, Alice White, Troy L. Story, Sr., and Margaret Story. My sisters, Alysa Story and Sherise Beale and aunts, Lillie Jule Dyson and Andrea White who have provided support and prayers. Namu (Johnetta Cobb) who understood and always believed in me. Lastly, Ms. Faatimah Muhammad, my extended family, friends, and Spelman sisters who have encouraged me and provided a haven throughout this process.

#### ABSTRACT

# PERSON-CENTERED DECISION-MAKING AND SOCIO-CULTURAL CONTEXTS INFLUENCING CESAREAN DELIVERIES: A NATIONAL ANALYSIS

Alice M. Story

April 22, 2022

Vaginal delivery is the safest mode of delivery yet, the cesarean delivery rate has steadily increased for several decades and accounts for a third of pregnancies in the U.S. Cesarean deliveries are often performed in the absence of a perceived maternal or fetal health threat, which increases women's risk of an unnecessary surgical procedure, hence increasing the risk of maternal morbidity and mortality, especially among marginalized women. This study applied a newly developed, theoretically sound, conceptual model grounded in the social cognitive theory to identify potential areas of intervention that could reduce rates of cesarean deliveries in the U.S. The social cognitive theory's cognitive and environmental constructs assessed in this study included collective efficacy, knowledge, normative beliefs, social support, and barriers and facilitators. This cross-sectional study design used the Giving Voice to Mothers - United States data with descriptive statistics and logistic regression analyses to predict covariates associated with having a cesarean delivery vs. spontaneous vaginal delivery (n=1,876). Significant covariates were determined ( $p \le 0.05$ ) and included the following: having a prior cesarean delivery (OR: 14.11, 95% CI: 7.99 - 24.90); more than one child (OR: 0.21,

v

95% CI: 0.13 - 0.35); elevated pregnancy risk (OR: 2.22 - 4.90, 95% CI: 2.22 - 4.90); doctor as perinatal care provider (OR: 2.25, 95% CI: 1.40 - 3.61); and receiving disrespectful perinatal care (OR: 2.16, 95% CI: 1.13 - 4.12). Significant covariates associated with race/ethnicity with white women as the reference group included the following: Asian women had higher odds of having a prior cesarean delivery (OR: 2.59, 95% CI: 1.31 - 5.12) and doctor as their perinatal care provider (OR: 2.31, 95% CI: 1.22 -4.35); Black women had higher odds of having one or more child (OR: 2.15, 95% CI: 1.11 - 4.14); and Hispanic (OR: 1.89, 95% CI: 1.04 - 3.45) and Indigenous (OR: 3.17, 95% CI: 1.34 - 7.48) women had higher odds of receiving disrespectful perinatal care. Integrating the "Quality of Maternal and Newborn Care" framework into public health practice can improve individual and interpersonal factors through less medical care interventions and improved patient-provider interactions.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
ABSTRACT	v
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	X
CHAPTER I	1
INTRODUCTION Background Maternal Mortality Maternal Morbidity Cesarean Deliveries Perinatal Health Providers Statement of the Problem Purpose of the Study Hypotheses Conceptual Model	1 1 1 2 3 7 7 7 8
CHAPTER II	. 10
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE Theoretical Frameworks Social Ecological Model Social Cognitive Theory Mode of Delivery	. 10 . 10 . 10 . 12 . 15
Vaginal Delivery Cesarean Delivery Place of Birth Community Birth	. 15 . 16 . 20 . 21
Hospital Birth Social Support Quality of Perinatal Care	. 23 . 23 . 25
Equitable Care Racism and Discrimination Race or Cultural Concordance Person-centered Care	. 26 . 26 . 34 . 36
F EINUH-UEHLEICH U AIC	. 30

Person-centered Decision-making.	. 38
Respectful Perinatal Care	. 41
Gaps in the Literature	. 44
Rationale and Significance of the Study	. 44
Conceptual Model	. 46
Research Questions	. 47
Hypotheses	. 47
CHAPTER III	. 48
METHODOLOGY	. 48
Survey Instrument Overview	. 48
Research Design	. 50
Study Population	. 50
Recruitment	. 51
Inclusion Criteria	. 51
Exclusion Criteria	. 51
Sample Size	. 51
Measurement	. 52
Analysis	. 58
Descriptive Statistics	. 58
Logistic Regression	. 58
CHAPTER IV	. 62
RESULTS	. 62
Descriptive Statistics	. 62
Mode of Delivery	. 66
Significant Covariates	. 75
Logistic Regression	. 75
Differences in Race	. 77
Significant Factors Influencing Cesarean Delivery	. 81
CHAPTER V	. 82
DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	. 82
Strengths	. 88
Limitations	. 89
Implications for Future Research	. 89
Implications for Public Health Practice and Policy	. 91
Conclusion	. 95
REFERENCES	. 96
APPENDICES	127
Appendix A: Giving Voice to Mothers-US Adapted Survey Instrument	127
Appendix B: University of Louisville IRB Outcome Letter	138

CURRICULUM VITAE
------------------

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Medical Conditions Associated with Increased Rates of Cesarean Delivery	. 18
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics (n=1,876)	. 62
Table 3. Descriptive Statistics Perinatal Health Status (n=1,876)	. 63
Table 4. Descriptive Statistics Place of Birth and Perinatal Care Provider (n=1,876)	. 64
Table 5. Descriptive Statistics Cognitive and Environmental Factors and Mode of	
Delivery (n=1,876)	. 65
Table 6. Descriptive Statistics Mode of Delivery and Maternal Age (n=1,876)	. 67
Table 7. Descriptive Statistics Mode of Delivery and Race/Ethnicity (n=1,876)	. 67
Table 8. Descriptive Statistics Mode of Delivery, Education, and Low Socioeconomic	
Status (n=1,876)	. 68
Table 9. Descriptive Statistics Mode of Delivery, Health Insurance Status, and Region	of
Residence at Birth (n=1,876)	. 68
Table 10. Descriptive Statistics Mode of Delivery and Perinatal Health Status (n=1,87)	6)
-	. 69
Table 11. Descriptive Statistics Mode of Delivery, Place of Birth, and Perinatal Care	
Provider (n=1,876)	. 70
Table 12. Association between Cesarean Delivery and Covariates	. 70
Table 13. Association between MADM (person-centered decision-making) and	
Covariates	. 73
Table 14. Adjusted Logistic Regression Model Predicting a Cesarean Delivery	. 76
Table 15. Significant Covariates Stratified by Race/Ethnicity Part 1	. 78
Table 16. Significant Covariates Stratified by Race/Ethnicity Part 2	. 79
Table 17. Crude Logistic Regression Model Predicting Significant Differences by	
Race/Ethnicity	. 80
•	

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Conceptual Model of Cognitive and Environmental Factors Influencing Mode
of Delivery
Figure 2. Social Ecological Model [Adapted from Golden & Wendel, 2020] 12
Figure 3. Conceptual Model of Cognitive and Environmental Factors Influencing Mode
of Delivery
Figure 4. Descriptive Statistics and Logistic Regression Sample Size Flowchart 52
Figure 5. Social Ecological Model [Adapted from Golden & Wendel, 2020] 92
Figure 6. Quality of Maternal and Newborn Care Framework [Adapted from Renfrew et
al., 2014]

#### CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION

#### Background

#### Maternal Mortality

Maternal mortality is an indicator of the overall health of a population and status of women in society (Douthard et al., 2021). The maternal mortality ratio is determined by the number of maternal deaths per 100,000 live births and is readily utilized globally (Douthard et al., 2021). In the U.S., the maternal mortality ratio has increased from 12 per 100,000 live births in 1990 to 19 per 100,000 live births in 2017, the highest rates being among Blacks, American Indian, and Alaska Native women (Douthard et al., 2021; Noursi et al., 2021, Oribhabor et al., 2020). Specifically, Black women are 3-4 times more likely than white women to experience a death or complication due to childbirth (Chinn et al., 2021; Hardeman et al., 2019; Omeish & Kiernan, 2020; Oribhabor et al., 2020). Maternal mortality ratio is decreasing globally yet women in the U.S. are more likely to die from pregnancy or experience pregnancy- or delivery-related complications (Douthard et al., 2021; Johnson et al., 2019; Leonard et al., 2019a; Noursi et al., 2021; Tangel et al., 2019).

#### Maternal Morbidity

Maternal morbidity consists of physical or psychological conditions that adversely affect a woman's health during or after pregnancy (Creanga et al., 2014). Maternal morbidity can impact quality of life, with short- and long-term adverse health consequences for mothers and infants (Johnson et al., 2019; Koblinsky et al., 2012). Severe maternal morbidity affects 60,000 women annually and can be life-threatening and increase the risk of poor perinatal outcomes with subsequent pregnancies, longer recovery, and hospital lengths of stay (Creanga et al., 2014; Howell et al., 2016; Johnson et al., 2019; Korb et al., 2019; Leonard et al., 2019a; Leonard et al., 2019b; Tangel et al., 2019; Zamani-Alavijeh et al., 2017; Zuckerwise & Lipkind, 2017). Women of color are affected by severe maternal morbidity more than white women, with Black women experiencing the greatest burden (Howell et al., 2016; Leonard et al., 2019b; Omeish & Kiernan, 2020; Somer et al., 2017; Zuckerwise & Lipkind, 2017). Omeish & Kiernan (2020) suggest college educated Black women have a higher rate of severe maternal morbidity (333.0 per 10,000 deliveries) than white women who have not completed high school (137.7 per 10,000 deliveries). Racial disparities of severe maternal morbidity are present among women who deliver by cesarean delivery as well (Leonard et al., 2019b).

#### **Cesarean Deliveries**

The U.S. has one of the highest cesarean delivery rates among high-resource countries (Boyle et al., 2013; Edmonds et al., 2013; Getahun et al., 2009; Guo et al., 2021; Kawakita & Landy, 2017; Kozhimannil et al., 2013; Leonard et al., 2019a; Menacker et al., 2006; Morris et al., 2016. Cesareans are the most common major surgical procedure for women and can result in severe maternal morbidity or mortality (Boyle et al., 2013; Edmonds et al., 2013; Getahun et al., 2009; Guo et al., 2021; Kawakita & Landy, 2017; Kozhimannil et al., 2013; Leonard et al., 2019a; Menacker et al., 2006; Morris et al., 2016). Cesarean deliveries have been on the rise in the U.S. since

1996 and account for a third of pregnancies, which far exceeds the World Health Organization's recommendation of 10-15% (Boyle et al., 2013; Edmonds et al., 2013; Getahun et al., 2009; Guo et al., 2021; Keag et al., 2018; Kozhimannil et al., 2013; Leonard et al., 2019a; Martinez et al., 2020; Morris et al., 2016; Spong et al., 2012; Yee et al., 2015; Zamani-Alavijeh et al., 2017). While cesarean deliveries may be indicated when anticipating serious maternal or fetal health complications, rates above 10-15% do not improve outcomes, and can increase the risk of severe maternal morbidity and mortality for women (Desai & Tsukerman, 2021; Leonard et al., 2019a; Martinez et al., 2020; Tangel et al., 2019; Zamani-Alavijeh et al., 2017).

Cesarean delivery and perinatal outcomes vary by the mother's race and ethnicity (Bailit & Love, 2008). Black women are more likely to have a cesarean delivery compared to other racial and ethnic groups even after being adjusted for sociodemographic factors (Altman et al., 2020; Attanasio et al., 2017; Huesch & Doctor, 2015; Washington et al., 2012). A study conducted by Huesch & Doctor (2015) suggested that Black women were significantly more likely to have an elective or emergency primary cesarean delivery than any other racial/ethnic group, reflecting disparities in cesarean utilization. The type of perinatal health provider can also influence cesarean utilization in the U.S.

#### **Perinatal Health Providers**

To ensure adequate care and reduce adverse perinatal outcomes, the availability of skilled providers is key (World Health Organization [WHO], 2016). In the U.S., perinatal care providers include obstetricians, family physicians, midwives, and nurses, though availability of midwives vary by state, and across populations (Vedam et al, 2018).

Physicians provide over 90% of perinatal care, and obstetricians, family physicians, midwives, and nurses do not consistently collaborate across health settings (Akileswaran & Hutchinson, 2016; Neal et al., 2018; Vedam et al., 2018). Family physicians and certified nurse-midwives provide in hospital labor and delivery care in some regions, and certified professional midwives offer community birth options in most states. Together they can improve perinatal care by offering a diverse set of skills and care choices for childbirth (Pecci et al., 2012).

The literature has associated midwifery care with high quality of care and reduced cesarean delivery rates (Akileswaran & Hutchinson, 2016; Carlson et al., 2018; Hoope-Bender et al., 2014; Kennedy et al., 2018a; Kozhimannil et al., 2015b; Neal et al., 2018). There are many benefits of midwifery care, but integration of midwives into the U.S. health system is lower than most other high-resource countries (Vedam et al., 2018). Therefore, efforts to enhance collaboration across perinatal care providers is imperative in improving access to quality perinatal care (Neal et al., 2018; Pecci et al., 2012). Studies conducted in the U.S. by Darlington et al. (2011), Levine et al. (2021), Nielsen et al. (2012), and Ogburn et al. (2012) on the collaboration between obstetricians and midwives when providing perinatal care revealed cesarean delivery rates were lower than the 30% national rate, which might be attributed to person-centered decision-making.

#### **Person-centered** Care

Enhancing person-centered decision-making is another aspect of ensuring quality perinatal care (Nieuwenhuijze et al., 2014, Attanasio et al., 2018; Vedam et al., 2017b). During the process of person-centered decision-making, the patient expresses their preferences, wishes, and values; yet this process can be complex when it involves women

of color, due to differences in values and power dynamics between them and their provider (Altman et al., 2019; Attanasio et al., 2018; Fersini et al., 2019; Nieuwenhuijze et al., 2014). Prior research has failed to assess cultural differences and account for how social discourse influences women's knowledge and decision-making and may hinder their decision-making capability and positive perinatal health outcomes (Regan et al, 2013, Altman et al., 2019). Understanding how culture affects women's expectations during the perinatal care period is needed to provide supportive culturally appropriate care (Fowles, 2017). Woman's social and culture norms also affect their preferences of perinatal care services, such as mode of delivery and place of birth (Coast et al., 2014; Fowles, 2017; Preis et al., 2018; Roudsari et al., 2015; Ugwu & de Kok, 2015). In some cultures, childbirth is considered sacred and vaginal delivery or home birth is more desirable (Fowles, 2017; Roudsari et al., 2015). Also, some pregnant women perceive a planned community birth that occurs in a home or birth center safer than a planned hospital birth due to the overuse of technology and medicalization (Cheyney et al., 2019; Lang et al., 2021). Decisions pregnant women make about place of birth and mode of delivery can be influenced by the social support they receive (Zamani-Alavijeh et al., 2018).

Social support is received through social integration and is considered a protective factor for health and a woman's transition into motherhood (Collins et al., 2021; Orr, 2004; Kim et al., 2014; Hetherington et al., 2015). Women with a social support network throughout the perinatal care period usually experience less stress and cesarean deliveries; decreased risk for postpartum depression; better health and well-being; and reduced effects of racism and discrimination (Collins et al., 2021; Corrigan et al., 2015;

Farrish & Roberston, 2012; Kim et al., 2014; Morikawa et al., 2015; Versteegen et al., 2021).

#### Equitable Care

Equitable care is care that does not differ in quality based on race or ethnicity [World Health Organization (WHO), 2016]. Racism and discrimination lead to women experiencing inequitable care; but receiving equitable care improves their quality of care throughout the perinatal care period (Altman et al., 2019; Attanasio et al., 2017). Racism is defined by Chambers et al. (2019) as "a perceived threat formed on an immutable characteristic often central to a person's identity, resulting in unfair treatment based on a person's physical attributes including skin color" (p. 214) and includes the concept of unequal treatment based on skin color or other individual characteristics (Alhusen et al., 2016). Racism is used interchangeably with discrimination, but there are differences between the terms, someone regardless of their race can experience discrimination and others can experience both, racism, and discrimination (Alhusen et al., 2016).

Racism and discrimination can occur both in and outside the health care setting and differences between patients and providers opinions of care can contribute to disparities in health care and barriers in patient-provider communication throughout perinatal care (Zakaria et al., 2021; Slaughter-Acey et al., 2019). Researching race and ethnicity as social constructs instead of biological constructs shifts the approach from individual level factors such as health behaviors to societal factors that influence how an individual experiences perinatal care (Dominguez, 2011; Ford & Airhihenbuwa, 2010; Hardeman et al., 2019).

#### **Statement of the Problem**

The overuse of cesarean delivery is attributed to various factors known and unknown (Gregory et al., 2012). Cesarean deliveries are often performed in the absence of perceived maternal or fetal health threat, which increases women's rates of unnecessary surgical procedures, and hence, their risk of maternal morbidity and mortality, especially among Black and other marginalized racial/ethnic women (Desai & Tsukerman, 2021; Leonard et al., 2019a; Martinez et al., 2020; Tangel et al., 2019; Zamani-Alavijeh et al., 2017). Research suggest that cognitive, environmental, and structural conditions may contribute to disparities and are appropriate targets for change to address the overuse of cesarean deliveries (Attanasio et al., 2017; Bryant et al., 2009). Identifying and understanding factors influencing cesarean delivery utilization and racial disparities is a prioritize public health issue in the U.S. (Dominguez et al., 2008; Janevic et al., 2013).

#### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this study was to assess cognitive and environmental factors that influence mode of delivery and the differences among race/ethnicity, and to identify potential areas of intervention to reduce cesarean deliveries.

#### **Research Questions**

- 1. How do cognitive and environmental factors influence mode of delivery?
  - a. How does this differ by race?

#### Hypotheses

1. If women have lower Mothers Autonomy in Decision Making (MADM) scores, then they are more likely to have a cesarean delivery.

- 2. If women's social or cultural beliefs hold that birth should not be interfered with unless medically necessary, then they are less likely to experience a cesarean delivery.
- 3. If women experience racism during pregnancy, then they are more likely to have a cesarean delivery.
- 4. If women are affected by discrimination, then they are more likely to have a cesarean delivery.
- 5. If women receive social support during labor and birth, then they are less likely to have a cesarean delivery.
- 6. If women share the same race, culture, or heritage with their perinatal care provider, then they are less likely to have a cesarean delivery.
- 7. If women have lower Mothers on Respect index (MORi) scores, then they are more likely to have a cesarean delivery.

#### **Conceptual Model**

This study incorporated constructs of the social cognitive theory to predict and

explain cognitive and environmental factors that contribute to mode of delivery. These

factors were conceptualized with the social ecological model, representing multiple levels

of influence on mode of delivery.





#### CHAPTER II

#### **REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE**

#### **Theoretical Frameworks**

Theory is the interconnection between concepts, definitions, and propositions that provide a systematic view of situations by specifying relations among variables to explain and predict outcomes (Glanz et al., 2015). Public health researchers use theory to support research designs, answer research questions, and inform practice to improve health outcomes (Glanz et al., 2015). Health promotion research often uses theory to understand individual behaviors to create change, but this area of focus is evolving to incorporate the social ecological model in research efforts to address and improve health outcomes. Hence, health outcomes and disparities are not only attributed to individual behaviors or genetics, but are rooted in policies, structures, and systems that influence individual choices, access, and knowledge (Golden & Wendel, 2020). This shift in acknowledging factors influencing health outcomes has prompted using the social ecological model for public health research (Golden & Wendel, 2020).

#### Social Ecological Model

The ecological model is a conceptual framework that focuses on behavior and the environment (McLeroy, 1988). The ecological model has evolved and is commonly referred to as the social ecological model or social ecological approach for health promotion application (Golden & Wendel, 2020; McLeroy, 1988). The social ecological

model is a useful framework to conceptualize multiple levels influencing health behaviors and outcomes (Glanz et al., 2015). This study used the social ecological model created by Golden & Wendel (2020) and descriptions of levels of influence by Golden & Wendel (2020), Rimer & Glanz (2005), and Simmons-Morton et al. (2012) which include the following five levels of influence: individual (characteristics that influence behavior including knowledge, attitudes and beliefs); interpersonal (primary groups including family and friends); community, organizations, institutions (informal or formal rules, regulations, structures, and social networks among individuals and groups); policies (institutional, local, state, federal); and culture (shared beliefs, values, behaviors, practices). This study highlighted individual, interpersonal, institution, and culture levels of influence along with the social cognitive theory (SCT) to contextualize individual and environmental levels of the theory as determinants of health behaviors and outcomes (Silveria & Motl, 2019).



Figure 2. Social Ecological Model [Adapted from Golden & Wendel, 2020] Social Cognitive Theory

The SCT highlights the importance of cognitive factors in learning, understanding, and predicting behavior with a focus on collective agency where individuals operate in a reciprocal triadic model of causation, commonly referred to as reciprocal determinism (Bandura, 1999; Glanz et al., 2015). Reciprocal determinism is expressed in SCT when its' three factors: cognitive, behavioral, and environmental interact to influence human behavior (Bandura, 1999; Glanz et al., 2015).

#### **Cognitive Factors and Constructs.**

The SCT cognitive factors describe an individual's ability to process information, apply knowledge, and change preferences (Glanz et al., 2015). The cognitive factor constructs include self-efficacy, collective efficacy, outcome expectations, and knowledge (Glanz et al., 2015). Self-efficacy is a person's confidence in their ability to perform a behavior that leads to an outcome (Glanz et al., 2015). Collective efficacy is the belief that a group of individuals can perform actions to achieve an outcome, which becomes enhanced by shared goals, communication, teamwork, and prior success (Glanz et al., 2015). Outcome expectations are possible consequences from partaking in a particular action based on individual judgement (Glanz et al., 2015). Knowledge is understanding information necessary to perform a behavior (Glanz et al., 2015).

#### **Behavioral Factors and Constructs.**

The SCT behavioral factor consist of actions or tasks taken by individuals and includes the following constructs: behavioral skills, intentions, and reinforcement or punishment (Glanz et al., 2015). Behavioral skills are individual skills needed to successfully perform a behavior (Glanz et al., 2015). Behavioral capability is the ability for someone to perform a behavior by knowing the importance of conducting the behavior (knowledge) and how to conduct the behavior (behavioral skills) (Glanz et al., 2015). Intentions are goals of adding or modifying current behaviors, which is usually accomplished by goal setting and monitoring progress towards a goal (Glanz et al., 2015). Reinforcement or punishment is based on behavior being influenced by the provision or removal of rewards or punishments (Glanz et al., 2015).

#### **Environmental Factors and Constructs.**

The SCT environmental factor includes physical and social aspects in an environment that affects individual behavior (Glanz et al., 2015). The environmental constructs include observational learning, normative beliefs, social support, and barriers and opportunities (Glanz et al., 2015). Observational learning is when individuals learn new information and behaviors by observing behaviors of others (Glanz et al., 2015).

Normative beliefs are culture norms and beliefs about social acceptability of a behavior (Glanz et al., 2015). Social support is encouragement and support an individual receives from their social circle, which is categorized into four criteria: emotional support, esteem support, informational support, and instrumental support to assist with carrying out a behavior (Glanz et al., 2015). Barriers and opportunities are social or physical aspects of the environment that makes performing a behavior challenging or easier to achieve (Glanz et al., 2015).

#### **SCT Theory Application.**

This study examined cognitive and environmental factors and constructs (cognitive factor constructs - collective efficacy and knowledge; environmental factor constructs - normative beliefs, social support and barriers and opportunities) as potential influences on the increase in cesarean deliveries in the U.S. The social cognitive theory is seldom applied to mode of delivery research. Previous mode of delivery research has incorporated the health belief model, theory of planned behavior, or combined the behavioral intention model with the social cognitive theory. A study conducted by Kanani et al. (2015) used the behavioral intention model's subjective norms and behavior intention constructs, and the social cognitive theory's self-efficacy and outcome expectations constructs together to model the intention to choose a vaginal delivery. Studies conducted by Shahraki-Sanavi et al. (2012) and Ghasemi et al. (2017) applied all constructs of the theory of planned behavior to choosing a mode of delivery, which differed from Zamani-Alavijeh et al. (2017) who only used the normative beliefs construct. Zamani-Alavijeh et al. (2017) applied the normative belief construct with the health belief model constructs of perceived susceptibility, perceived benefits, perceived

barriers, and self-efficacy to evaluate factors influencing women's mode of delivery preferences. Hence, mode of delivery studies utilizing behavioral change theories are limited, and those that exist have not applied the social cognitive theory independently of other behavioral change theories in the U.S. Utilizing the social cognitive theory incorporates environmental constructs (e.g., social support) and cognitive constructs (e.g., collective efficacy) that provide an integration of non-individual factors that may influence a women's mode of delivery.

#### **Mode of Delivery**

The delivery of a baby, either by vaginal or cesarean routes, is one of the most common reasons for hospitalizations in the U.S. (Clark & Lake, 2020, Zamani-Alavijeh et al., 2017). Vaginal delivery is the safest mode of delivery for the mother and fetus yet, cesarean delivery is performed in a third of all pregnancies with a greater likelihood of adverse health outcomes (Boyle et al., 2013; Desai & Tsukerman, 2021; Edmonds et al., 2013; Getahun et al., 2009; Guo et al., 2021; Keag et al., 2018; Kozhimannil et al., 2013; Leonard et al., 2019a; Martinez et al., 2020; Morris et al., 2016; Spong et al., 2012; Yee et al., 2015; Zamani-Alavijeh et al., 2017).

#### Vaginal Delivery

Vaginal delivery is either spontaneous or operative (with the assistance of forceps or vacuum) and is expected when spontaneous labor occurs or if amniotic membranes rupture during full-term pregnancies (Desai & Tsukerman, 2021; Dresang & Yonke, 2015). Spontaneous vaginal delivery is the preferred method of giving birth by most women and usually results in positive maternal and infant outcomes when compared to cesarean delivery (Clark & Lake, 2020; Dahlen et al. 2018; Declercq et al., 2014; Desai

& Tsukerman, 2021; Guo et al., 2021; Sandall et al., 2018). The benefits to the mother of a vaginal delivery include rapid recovery physically and psychologically, decreased hospital stay after childbirth, and enhanced mother-child bond and attachment (Desai & Tsukerman, 2021). Benefits for the infant include improved hormonal and endocrinological functions such as blood sugar regulation; respiratory function; temperature regulation; increase in exploratory behaviors; long-term growth, immunity, and development; and the infant being placed directly on the mother's skin (Dresang & Yonke, 2015). Immediate skin-to-skin contact, more common after vaginal birth, is associated with additional infant benefits including decreased time to the first feeding; improved breastfeeding initiation; higher blood glucose level; decreased crying; and decreased hypothermia (Dresang & Yonke, 2015).

#### **Cesarean Delivery**

Cesarean delivery is classified as either elective, unplanned, or emergency. An elective cesarean delivery is planned before labor is initiated (Benton et al., 2019). Alternatively, unplanned cesareans occur as a result of both non-urgent and acute adverse features of labor progress or fetal status during labor, and emergency cesarean delivery is a result of an acute adverse event or after the onset of labor (Benton et al., 2019). Unplanned and emergency cesarean delivery typically occurs when fetal, maternal, or placenta adverse conditions are present, but the verified incidence of these factors do not account for the increase and overuse of cesarean delivery is attributed to various factors known and unknown and primary cesarean delivery (the first delivery as cesarean delivery) has been associated with increased cesarean deliveries and declines in trials of

labor (Boyle et al., 2013; Gregory et al., 2012; Spong et al., 2012). A study conducted in 2009 by Kozhimannil et al. (2013), revealed that the primary cesarean rate in the U.S. had increased 10 times across hospitals (7.1% to 69.9%), while the cesarean rate for a low-risk pregnancy increased 15 times (2.4% to 36.5%). This is concerning due to findings from Boyle et al. (2013) and Spong et al. (2012) that reveal women in the U.S. who require a primary cesarean delivery are more than 90% likely to have a repeat cesarean delivery, which further increases the risk of maternal and fetal complications during labor and delivery and future pregnancies. Effectively assessing perinatal health status prior and during labor and delivery can help reduce primary cesarean deliveries (Barber et al., 2011).

#### Perinatal Health Status.

Perinatal health status can lead to a pregnancy being labled as "high risk" which increases the risk of a cesarean delivery (United States Department of Health and Human Services [HHS], 2018). There are various medical risk factors associated with increased incidence of cesarean delivery along with short- and long-term effects after delivery in Table 1 (Barber et al., 2011; Boerma et al., 2018; Getahun et al., 2009; HHS, 2018; Huesch & Doctor, 2015; Martin et al., 2019; Martinez et al., 2020; Pacher et al., 2013; Spong et al., 2012; Washington et al., 2012; Werner et al., 2012; Yee et al., 2015).

Maternal	Fetal	
Plurality	Breech presentation	
Parity	Intrauterine growth restriction	
Gestational diabetes	Gestational age	
Preeclampsia	Small for gestational age	
Eclampsia	Abnormal fetal heart rate	
Previous preterm birth or cesarean	Genetic conditions of the fetus	
delivery	Intrapartum asphyxia	
Placenta abnormalities		
Hemorrhage (intraventricular or subdural)		
Seizure		
Arrest of labor		
Failed induction		
Prior shoulder dystocia		
Myomectomy		
Fistula from previous birth		
Sepsis		
These items can affect labor management protocols and mode of delivery.		

Table 1. Medical Conditions Associated with Increased Rates of Cesarean Delivery

A study conducted by Liu et al. (2007) in Canada found that the risk of severe maternal morbidities (e.g., hemorrhage, uterine rupture, venous thromboembolism) was almost three times higher in cesarean delivery when compared to vaginal delivery. These adverse outcomes affect the mother, but also can increase the infant's likelihood of admission to neonatal intensive care unit; perinatal death; and experiencing short- and long-term effects throughout life (Benton et al., 2019; Desai & Tsukerman, 2021; Werner et al., 2012). Short-term effects include alteration in the immune system, reduced intestinal microbiome, and increased likelihood in development of allergies and asthma (Desai & Tsukerman, 2021; Martinez et al., 2020). Long-term effects include the development of obesity, risk associated with obesity, and celiac disease (Desai & Tsukerman, 2021; Keag et al., 2018; Martinez et al., 2020). Short- and long-term risk factors have led to strategies to reduce cesarean deliveries.

#### Strategies to Reduce Cesarean Deliveries.

Medical and non-medical strategies to reduce the risk of cesarean delivery when they are not deemed necessary consist of addressing individual, interpersonal, institutional, and hospital culture factors. Individual factors include delayed childbearing, multiple gestation, maternal obesity, and maternal request (Boyle et al., 2013). Keag et al. (2018) and VanGompel et al. (2019) highlighted interpersonal factors such as social support systems (e.g., doulas) and person-centered decision-making, while Keag et al. (2018) and Spong et al. (2012) addressed providers educating patients about the short-and long-term risk and benefits of cesarean delivery for mother, infant, and subsequent pregnancies, which is less frequently discussed. Spong et al. (2012) expressed individual factors experienced by physicians such as fatigue, workload, and anticipated sleep deprivation affecting the decision-making process for recommending a cesarean delivery. Addressing institutional/hospital culture factors such as time constraints for scheduling, staff availability, inability to support prolonged inductions, expenses for cesarean delivery being higher than vaginal delivery, providers lack of understanding factors leading to cesarean deliveries, and providers fear of litigation may also be important (Boyle et al., 2013; Spong et al., 2012; Zamani-Alavijeh et al., 2017). In addition, Betrán et al. (2018) suggests strategies to reduce cesarean deliveries by providing women with less medical care interventions through midwifery-led care due to its association with safer care, lower health care costs, and positive perinatal health outcomes. Midwives are perinatal care providers that can help reduce cesarean deliveries by the model of care they practice in comparison to doctors (Betrán et al., 2018).

#### **Perinatal Care Provider**

Perinatal care providers who provide direct care throughout the perinatal care period usually consist of obstetricians, family physicians, midwives, and nurses. These providers vary across the U.S. due to availability and patient preferences. Family physicians and certified nurse-midwives provide in hospital labor and delivery care in some regions, and certified professional midwives are the primary attendants at community birth in most states. Together these primary care providers have potential to improve perinatal care by offering a diverse set of skills and care choices for childbirth (Pecci et al., 2012).

In the U.S., the literature has associated midwifery care with quality of care and positive perinatal outcomes such as low cesarean delivery rates, less reliance on oxytocin for labor induction, less analgesics, and reduced labor abnormalities and fetal distress (Akileswaran & Hutchinson, 2016; Carlson et al., 2018; Hoope-Bender et al., 2014; Kennedy et al., 2018a; Kozhimannil et al., 2015b; Neal et al., 2018). Midwifery care is person-centered care and non-interventional unless medically indicated (Akileswaran & Hutchinson, 2016; Kozhimannil et al., 2015b; Neal et al., 2018). A women's decision on place of birth can determine the model of care she receives (Lang et al., 2021).

#### **Place of Birth**

Place of birth is a factor that can affect perinatal outcomes for women and infants (Vedam et al., 2017a). Selection of a birth setting may be attributed to pregnancy health status, risk perception of birth setting, family or perinatal provider influence, religious views, cultural values, or variations in access to options for place of birth (Lang et al., 2021). A community birth is a planned or unplanned birth that occurs in a home or birth

center setting (Cheyney et al., 2019; Lang et al., 2021). If complications arise during community birth, then a transfer to hospital can occur. Hospital births can be planned or unplanned too, but planned hospital births are usually the norm in the U.S. (Zielinski et al., 2015).

#### **Community Birth**

In the U.S., planned community births increased during 2004-2017 (Lang et al., 2021; MacDorman & Declercq, 2019). In 2018, community births accounted for about 1.6% of all births, which were mainly attended by midwives while physicians attended to only 4.2% of these births (Fleming et al., 2016; Lang et al., 2021). Some pregnant women perceive community birth to be safer than a planned hospital birth due to the increased rate of interventions and medicalization during birth in hospital facilities (Lang et al., 2021). Snowden et al. (2015) conducted a population-based, retrospective cohort study of all births that occurred during 2012 and 2013 in Oregon by using birth certificate data. The results of the study showed that planned community birth was associated with decreased odds of cesarean delivery. Community births are associated with the lowest rates of obstetric interventions and lower cesarean delivery rates than in planned hospital births, even lower than rates reported in low-risk pregnancies attended by midwives in a hospital setting (Lang et al., 2021; Scarf et al., 2018).

The home environment provides women with empowerment, control, emotional support, and comfort from the midwife and family (Janssen et al., 2009). In addition, a study conducted by MacDorman & Declercq (2019), revealed that women who had a planned home or birth center birth where less likely to experience a preterm birth or low birthweight infant. Birth centers are facilities that provide a home-like environment for

perinatal care for low-risk pregnancy with midwives typically providing primary care through a team approach with physicians (Jevitt et al., 2020; Lotshaw et al., 2020; Phillippi et al., 2018; Stapleton et al., 2013). Freestanding birth centers are guided in principles associated with the midwifery model of care (Jevitt et al., 2020). There are two types of birth centers that provide perinatal care, which are freestanding or in-hospital (Alliman & Phillippi, 2016). A freestanding birth center is a health facility where childbirth is planned to occur away from a woman's residence that is often licensed or otherwise certified as a facility that can provide safe prenatal care, labor and delivery, and postpartum care (Alliman & Phillippi, 2016). Stapleton et al. (2013) conducted a prospective cohort study from the American Association of Birth Centers (AABC) uniform U.S. dataset from 2007 to 2010 of women receiving perinatal care in 79 accredited birth centers in 33 states (N=15,574). The study reported on perinatal outcomes of women in labor who were transferred from a birth center to hospital, which resulted in 1,851 women and 7.5% experienced a cesarean delivery. A study by Thornton et al. (2017) used the same AABC uniform dataset but from 2006 to 2011 and supported the results of Stapleton et al. (2013) where cesarean deliveries were less common among women who planned giving birth at a birth center.

In addition, when medical conditions or factors arise during labor in a community birth setting, transfer of care to a hospital are deemed necessary yet yield lower rates of cesarean deliveries (11% for nulliparous and 1% for multiparous women) as revealed by Nethery et al. (2021), a retrospective cohort study from January 1, 2015 - June 30, 2020. Transfer to hospital from a planned community birth results in overall better birth
outcomes than planned hospital births, despite hospitals being the birth setting considered the cultural norm in the U.S. (Zielinski et al., 2015).

#### Hospital Birth

Women with both low- and high-risk pregnancies deliver in hospitals that are optimized for high-risk pregnancies that may require enhanced technology and staffing for monitoring and intervening where over intervening during pregnancies are linked to cesarean deliveries (Shaw et al., 2016). Snowden et al. (2015) conducted a populationbased retrospective cohort study of 2012 and 2013 birth certificates of all births in Oregon, which were classified as planned community birth or planned hospital birth. According to Snowden et al. (2015) obstetrical procedures were more common among women who had a planned hospital birth in comparison to a planned community birth, resulting in 24.7% of women experiencing a cesarean delivery which revealed similar results from a systematic literature review conducted by Rossi & Prefumo (2018).

Place of birth can influence a woman's mode of delivery, which is likely due to the model of care (medical vs. midwifery) she receives in a hospital (medical model of care) or community birth (midwifery model of care). Women who receive the midwifery model of care are likely to experience more emotional support and social support is accompanied by less cesarean deliveries (Farrish & Roberston, 2012; Janssen et al., 2009).

### Social Support

Social support is described as a voluntary act in how social relations that are received and filled through social integration (Kim et al., 2014; Hetherington et al., 2015; Orr, 2004). Social support can also be described as the sense of being cared for and

having someone to offer advice and provide help when necessary (Giurgescu et al., 2015). Social support can be provided by a partner, family, friend, church, societal group, or others (Kim et al., 2014; Orr, 2004). Social support is given in different forms, which are the following: informational, physical, emotional, instrumental, appraisal, and financial (Kim et al., 2014; Orr, 2004). Social support is defined and received in various ways and is considered a protective factor for health and a woman's transition into motherhood (Collins et al., 2021; Orr, 2004).

There is emerging literature that social support can improve birth outcomes (Hetherington et al., 2015). Social support and health have expanded from mortality risk to indicators of morbidity affecting pregnant women such as low-birth weight, preterm birth, and pregnancy complications (Orr, 2004). Women with a social support network throughout the perinatal care period usually experience less stress and cesarean deliveries; decreased risk for postpartum depression; and better health and well-being (Collins et al., 2021; Corrigan et al., 2015; Farrish & Roberston, 2012; Kim et al., 2014; Morikawa et al., 2015; Versteegen et al., 2021).

Many women have support from a partner, family, or friends throughout labor and delivery to comfort and encourage them through the process, but doulas are becoming more present during labor and delivery and provide physical, emotional, and informational support to women and their families by facilitating communication between them and perinatal care providers (Gruber et al., 2013). Doulas are especially helpful for women who are marginalized, without a partner, or experience cultural barriers (Gruber et al., 2013). Women who have support from doulas are more likely to avoid a cesarean delivery (Gruber et al., 2013; Thomas et al., 2017). Gruber et al. (2013)

conducted a comparative analysis of doula support for women at risk for adverse birth outcomes because of racial disparities, particularly Black, Hispanic, or low-income women and found that cesarean delivery rates were higher for women who did not have a doula present during labor and delivery, but it was not significant. Thomas et al. (2017) also conducted a comparative analysis of *Healthy Start Brooklyn* (home visiting program) that offered free doula services for in Black and Latino neighborhoods through the *By My Side Birth Support Program*, but the cesarean delivery rate for women who participated in the program was lower than women who did not participate in the program but also not statistically significant. Kozhimannil et al. (2015a) conducted similar studies as Gruber et al. (2013) and Thomas et al. (2017) by assessing marginalized and low-income women both through semi-structured focus groups to assess birth outcomes. Kozhimannil et al. (2015a) and Almanza et al. (2019) studies did not assess cesarean delivery rates, but findings suggest that women expressed a need for social support to improve their quality of perinatal care.

### **Quality of Perinatal Care**

Quality of care is recognized globally as an aspect to improve maternal and neonatal outcomes (WHO, 2016). According to Bhutta et al. (2014), Mannava et al., 2015, and WHO (2016), effective and high-quality care can assist in preventing and managing complications during pregnancy and childbirth and reduce the rate of maternal and neonatal mortality. Therefore, World Health Organization (WHO) developed a framework to improve quality of care for mothers and newborns during childbirth (WHO, 2016). WHO (2016) defined quality of care as "the extent to which health care services provided to individuals and patient populations improve desired health outcomes" (p.14).

To achieve these outcomes, health care must be safe (care that minimizes risk and harms); effective (care based on scientific knowledge and evidence-based guidelines); timely (providing and receiving care with reduced delays); efficient (care that maximizes resources and avoids waste); equitable (care that does not differ in quality based on race, ethnicity, gender, socioeconomic status, or geographical location); and person-centered (care that accounts for individual preferences based on their culture and community) to achieve quality of care (WHO, 2016).

### Equitable Care

Equitable care is care that does not differ in quality based on race or ethnicity (WHO, 2016). Inequitable care received throughout the perinatal care period due to race and ethnicity is a form of racism and discrimination that affects a woman's quality of care (Altman et al., 2019; Attanasio et al., 2017). The U.S. is a race-conscious society, therefore, understanding race as a social construct and not as a biological factor can provide context to factors contributing to poor perinatal outcomes affecting women of color (Altman et al., 2019; Attanasio & Hardeman, 2019; Owens & Fett, 2019; Slaughter-Acey et al., 2013).

### **Racism and Discrimination.**

Race is a social construct based on individual physical characteristics (Malat & Hamilton, 2006; Slaughter-Acey et al., 2019). This social construct leads to social classification that impacts individual life experiences, opportunities, and choices (Slaughter-Acey et al., 2019). Racism is defined by Chambers et al. (2019) as "a perceived threat formed on an immutable characteristic often central to a person's identity, resulting in unfair treatment based on a person's physical attributes including

skin color" (p. 214). Definitions of racism vary and are used interchangeably with discrimination, but commonality amongst the definitions include the concept of unequal treatment based on skin color or other individual characteristics (Alhusen et al., 2016).

There are multiple forms of racism, and it is experienced by some individuals at multiple levels, these levels include intrapersonal (internalized), interpersonal, and structural (Alhusen et al., 2016). Intrapersonal racism is the acceptance of negative attributes and worth among marginalized individuals (Alhusen et al., 2016). Interpersonal racism refers to prejudice and discrimination that results in differential assumptions about the capabilities and motives of others based on their race (perceived racism) (Alhusen et al., 2016; Julian et al., 2020). Structural racism is a term that refers to policies, institutional practices, and cultural representation that unequally allocate access to goods, opportunities, and services in society by racial groups (Chambers et al., 2019; Taylor, 2020). Racism is used interchangeably with discrimination which is defined as differential treatment of others based on their race (Alhusen et al., 2016). Even though Alhusen et al. (2016) uses racism and discrimination interchangeably, there are differences between the terms, someone regardless of their race can experience discrimination and others can experience both, racism, and discrimination. The literature is growing in describing experiences of discrimination among women of color while receiving perinatal care (Attanasio & Hardeman, 2019). Societal factors such as racism and discrimination within the health care system and life course contributes to how women of color access and experience perinatal care, which can influence adverse outcomes to the mother and infant (Altman et al., 2019).

# Structural Racism.

Structural racism is a form of racism studied in perinatal health research to better understand disparities in perinatal outcomes (Chambers et al. 2021). Structural racism is defined in the article by Julian et al. (2020) as "policies and practices across political sectors that award white people with unearned access to opportunities and resources denied to communities of color on a sole basis of racial identity" (p. 2). Studies have shown that exposure to structural racism is associated with adverse birth outcomes among Black women in comparison to white women when individual level factors are controlled (Chambers et al., 2019). Structural racism negatively affects health and well-being of individuals of color through chronic stressors that are present at the intrapersonal, interpersonal, and structural levels that systematically perpetuate health disparities (Chambers et al., 2019; Julian et al., 2020). Chambers et al. (2021) conducted a qualitative study of focus groups with 32 Black women throughout the reproductive lifespan to conceptualize structural racism and its potential impact on maternal and infant health outcomes. Nine domains of structural racism were revealed in the study (Chambers et al., 2021). Medical care was one of the domains and the sub-domains included inadequate reproductive health care and lack of patient-provider concordance (Chambers et al., 2021). There is evidence of known associations between structural racism, health outcomes, and health care experiences, but knowledge around the impact of structural racism on perinatal and reproductive health inequity is lacking among perinatal health care providers (Julian et al., 2020). Understanding historical and present influences of structural racism is needed to address the inequities.

# Historical Oppression.

Structural racism affects maternal health due to historical systems of oppression that have devalued women of color and is still present today in health care policies and practices (Taylor, 2020). Legal and medical attention to enslaved women's bodies shaped the poor perinatal outcomes experienced by Black women (Owens & Fett, 2019). François Marie Prevost, a surgeon and slave holder pioneered cesarean delivery on enslaved women's bodies through repeated experimentation (Owens & Fett, 2019). Women are living longer, and the effects of racism are embedded in their lives and the lives of their children (Owens & Fett, 2019). This stressor has harmed Black women physiologically and genetically (Owens & Fett, 2019). The health care system in the U.S. disregards the detrimental health effects that daily racial discrimination has on Black women and researchers suggest that new frameworks are needed to understand this phenomenon and improve perinatal outcomes.

#### Racial and Ethnic Perinatal Health Disparities.

Racial and ethnic disparities in obstetrics may be due to an overlap in economics, biology, and discrimination, which makes understanding the racial and ethnic disparities in obstetrics complex (Bailit & Love, 2008). Despite the complexity and uncertainty of the mechanisms associated with race and ethnicity, perinatal outcomes are used to measure the quality of obstetric care (Bailit & Love, 2008). Research suggests patients of color are more likely than white patients to experience discrimination or unfair treatment due to race in health care settings (Attanasio & Hardeman, 2019). The Listening to Mothers III survey conducted in the U.S. among women who gave birth in 2011 and 2012 revealed that 13% of participants experienced discrimination due to race, ethnic,

language, or culture when they were hospitalized during childbirth (Declercq et al., 2014). In addition, Black and Hispanic participants were more likely to experience discrimination in comparison to white participants (Attanasio & Hardeman, 2019). A justification for these disparities is due to implicit unconscious or automatic racial biases and explicit racial stereotypes among white health care providers (Attanasio & Hardeman, 2019). According to Attanasio & Hardeman (2019), implicit racial biases are not unconscious or automatic and health care providers can reject negative ideas and images of marginalized groups but are hindered due to a worldview that constantly stereotypes these individuals. Julian et al. (2020) expresses that these outcomes are attributed to physician-centered models of care that rarely address structural, social, and clinical factors in environments to mediate racial disparities in perinatal outcomes.

# Exposure to Chronic Stressors and Perinatal Health.

There have been advances in medical care and technology, but racial disparities in perinatal outcomes persist in the U.S. (Zhang et al., 2013). Social determinants of health and stress contribute to perinatal care and outcomes (Zhang et al., 2013). Blacks experience more life events, distress, and stress than any other racial or ethnic group (Dominguez et al., 2008). Studies suggest that experiences of racism and chronic life stressors increases the risk of poor perinatal outcomes such as preterm birth, low birthweight, and very low birthweight among marginalized women due to higher lifetime exposure to chronic stressors (Alhusen et al., 2016; Collins et al., 2004; Chambers et al., 2021; Dominguez, 2011; Rosenthal & Lobel., 2011; Slaughter-Acey et al., 2013). Chronic stress has been associated with elevated basal cortisol levels and exaggerated hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) response to natural or experimental stressors (Lu et al., 2010). Chronic stress leads to elevated cortisol levels which may also lead to immune suppression and immune-inflammatory dysregulation (Lu et al., 2010). This pathway suggest why Black women are at an increased risk for preterm birth and low birthweight (Lu et al., 2010). Exposure to stress during pregnancy has the potential to cause Geronimus's concept of "weathering" (when an individual is consistently exposed to stressors such as racial discrimination overtime which then increases their risk for disease) over the life course, which results in greater allostatic load and poor perinatal outcomes (Alhusen et al., 2016; Lu et al., 2010).

#### Addressing Racism and Discrimination in Perinatal Health.

The decline in reproductive health status of Black women has been attributed to racism and social disadvantages (Dominguez, 2011). Slaughter-Acey et al. (2019) have suggested that racism or racial discrimination occurs in and outside a health care setting, which can hinder women to seek perinatal care. Researching race and ethnicity as social constructs instead of biological constructs can provide useful information about how environmental and cultural factors can affect someone's health (Ford & Airhihenbuwa, 2010; Hardeman et al., 2019). This approach shifts from individual level factors such as health behaviors to societal factors that influence how an individual experiences life (Dominguez, 2011).

#### Normative Beliefs.

Natural birth is a physiologic process that is influenced by a woman's culture (Fowles, 2017). The definition of culture varies but Coast et al. (2014) refers to the culture as aspects of shared norms, beliefs, expectations, language, and behavioral customs. There are different levels of culture that are explicit and implicit (Coast et al.,

2014). Explicit culture is usually the perceptions or known culture factors of others outside a given culture such as language, rituals, and dress (Coast et al., 2014). Implicit culture are norms that are known to members of a particular culture that are not shared with others that are not within the same cultural context (Coast et al., 2014). Most societies represent more than one culture (e.g., ethnic groups, religious groups, social classes, attitudes to illness and health, diet, wealth, power, gender, education) (Coast et al., 2014). This is important because when women's social and cultural norms about perinatal care do not align with their perinatal care providers' recommendation, disarticulation can result in poor quality of care.

Study results from Vedam et al. (2019) reported percentages of mistreatment among women who declined care during pregnancy or birth (19.4%); pressured into medical interventions or procedures (37.9%); and had differences in opinion from their perinatal care providers (78.8%). This study also reported disparities in mistreatment where Indigenous, Hispanic, and Black women are more likely to experience mistreatment than white women (Vedam et al., 2019). In addition, women with lower socioeconomic status (SES); women who decided to give birth in a hospital; and women who had an unplanned cesarean delivery, experienced higher rates of mistreatment (Vedam et al., 2019).

#### Social and Cultural Norms.

Childbirth is usually influenced by social and culture norms that affects women's use of perinatal care services, such as mode of delivery and place of birth (Coast et al., 2014; Fowles, 2017; Preis et al., 2018; Roudsari et al., 2015; Ugwu & de Kok, 2015). By some cultures, childbirth is considered sacred based on women's religious beliefs, which

vaginal delivery or home birth is desirable (Fowles, 2017; Roudsari et al., 2015). In addition, many societies have social structures that define roles of men and women, which are usually rooted in religious, tribal, and social traditions (Osamor & Grady, 2016). Gendered and religious socio-cultural factors can limit a women's capacity to make health related decisions such as accepting a cesarean delivery even when lifethreatening complications arise (Farrish & Roberston, 2012; Osamor & Grady, 2016; Ugwu & de Kok, 2015). Ugwu & de Kok (2015) conducted a mixed-method study in Nigeria and results from the semi-structured interviews revealed that vaginal delivery is the "proper" mode of delivery; "true" women do not give birth through cesarean; and beliefs vaginal delivery can be achieved through faith and divine intervention. Roudsari et al. (2015) conducted an ethnographic approach study to explore beliefs, values, and traditions on women's preferred mode of delivery in North Iran. Results from Roudsari et al. (2015) demonstrated that women viewed vaginal birth as a symbol of power and ability and a sign of God's power and scared phenomenon. Findings from Roudsari et al. (2015) align with mode of delivery and religious findings from Ugwu & de Kok (2015) despite the studies occurring in different countries. Cultural difference can lead to insensitivity or incompetence of health care providers, which can cause poor quality of care among patients (Coast et al., 2014). Therefore, WHO has expressed a need for "culturally-appropriate" health facilities and a mandate on "health for all" (Coast et al., 2014).

### Culturally Appropriate Care.

Culturally appropriate care is important in perinatal care because childbirth is influenced by cultural norms and expectations (Ottani, 2002). Attitudes and values

influence women's behaviors throughout the perinatal care period (Ottani, 2002). The WHO provided recommendations to support culturally appropriate perinatal care services to improve maternal and newborn health (Jones et al., 2017). Perinatal care providers that lack cultural competence, have differences in cultural practices and preferences of perinatal care services, which can affect women and their family's decision on the use of perinatal care services (Jones et al., 2017). Understanding how culture affect women's expectations during the perinatal care period is needed to provide culturally appropriate care that supports women (Fowles, 2017). A means to improving culturally appropriate care is through the effects of race and cultural concordance.

### Race or Cultural Concordance.

Cultural and racial concordance is having a shared identity between a patient and health care provider (Shen et al., 2018; Weng & Landes, 2016). The race concordance concept has started to emerge to understand health disparities (Meghani et al., 2009). The race concordance concept is used to determine if individuals can identify, relate, understand, and interact more with health care providers that share their values and culture (Meghani et al., 2009). Cultural differences between patients and physicians often contribute to disparities in health care and barriers in patient-physician communication (Zakaria et al., 2021). Therefore, Saha et al. (2003) and Almanza et al. (2019) suggest exploring barriers in cross-cultural patient-provider relationships as a contributing factor to quality of care.

Studies are limited on provider's perspectives of race and cultural concordance, but Almanza et al. (2019) researches the perspectives of midwives due to lack of racial and ethnic representation in the U.S. There are only 5.8% of midwives of color that are

certified by the Midwifery Certification Board and five Black-owned birth centers in the U.S., which makes it difficult for women of color to experience perinatal care in a setting with providers that share their identity. Almanza et al. (2019) conducted a qualitative study of semi-structured interviews of midwives who identified as African American in an African American-owned birth center in Minneapolis, Minnesota. Themes were derived from the interviews by using an inductive grounded theory approach (Almanza et al., 2019). The three themes derived from Almanza et al. (2019) included: "1) offering racially concordant care to the community; 2) racial justice as a primary motivation in their work; and 3) providing physically and emotionally safe care" (p. 601). The subtheme of "providing physically and emotionally safe care" highlighted that racially concordant care is needed to provide safe and integrated care between community and hospital births and build meaningful relationships with patients (Almanza et al., 2019).

The Almanza et al. (2019) study provides the provider's perspective of the importance of racial and culture concordance, while several studies have been conducted to understand patient preferences in providers based on shared identity. A systematic literature review of 27 publications was conducted by Meghani et al. (2009) and the results revealed that patient-provider concordance was associated with positive health outcomes for marginalized individuals in nine studies (33%). Eight studies (30%) did not find an association of race concordance and findings from ten studies (37%) were mixed.

A survey-based study conducted by Chen et al. (2005) in the U.S. found that 22% of Blacks preferred a Black physician, 65% did not have a racial preference, and 13% preferred a non-Black physician. Blacks who preferred a Black physician had stronger beliefs about racial discrimination in health care in comparison to Blacks who did not

have a preference in provider (Chen et al., 2005). An additional study conducted by the Kaiser Family Foundation found that 20.7% of Blacks preferred a health care provider that shared their race, 12.6% preferred a different race health care provider, and 66.7% did not have a race preference in their health care provider (Malat & Hamilton, 2006). Participants (57.4%) felt that discrimination occurs somewhat or very often when there are differences in race between the patient and health care provider and suggested that Blacks might prefer same-race health care providers to avoid discrimination in receiving care (Malat & Hamilton, 2006). This finding is consistent with other studies that have suggested that Black patients are more likely to prefer physicians of their own race/ethnicity and rate those physicians as providing better health care than other physicians with a different race (Chen et al., 2005; Saha et al., 2003). The Chen et al. (2005) race concordance study in the U.S. yields similar results as Olayemi et al. (2009) that studied ethnic concordance in Nigeria. Olayemi et al. (2009) Nigerian study, determined that pregnant African women of various ethnic backgrounds who shared their perinatal care provider's ethnicity experienced less painful labor than perinatal care providers who were of a different ethnicity. Therefore, understanding patient preferences of sharing race or cultural concordance with their providers is important in achieving quality perinatal care in the U.S. where race and cultural concordance research is limited.

#### **Person-centered** Care

Achieving quality of care through person-centered care increases the likelihood of improved health outcomes, but the U.S. experiences challenges with supporting personcentered care (Attanasio & Kozhimannil, 2015; Koblinsky et al., 2016; Tunçalp et al., 2015). Areas of person-centered care include patient-provider communication and

patient-involvement in decision-making, which are associated with higher levels of patient satisfaction, provider trust, better treatment adherence, and health outcomes (Attanasio & Kozhimannil, 2015; Dahlem et al., 2014). Therefore, there is a need to understand factors that influence health care interactions, since poor interactions (e.g., lack of person-centered decision-making) may contribute to perinatal care disparities due to limited research on efforts to improve perinatal person-centered care and perceived discrimination based on patient race/ethnicity (Altman et al., 2019). Hence, the influence of quality of care among racial and ethnic marginalized women is a growing area of research (Janevic et al., 2013).

Health care discrimination is a barrier to person-centered care and perceived discrimination is associated with worse communication in clinical encounters, lower patient ratings of care, less treatment adherence, and poor health outcomes (Attanasio & Kozhimannil, 2015). Health care providers stereotypes and patient perceptions of stereotypes affect the experience of quality of care for marginalized groups (Altman et al., 2019). Results from a survey-based study conducted by Attanasio & Kozhimannil (2015) found that Black and Hispanic women had higher odds of discrimination due to race, language, or culture during perinatal care. While results from a qualitative study (interviews) by Altman et al. (2020) provided recommendations from the perspectives of women of color to improve perinatal care within health systems and among health care providers. At the health system level, recommendations included continuity of care, racial concordance with providers, supportive health care system structures, and implicit bias training to reduce discrimination (Altman et al., 2020). Recommendations at the health care provider level suggest that providers should spend quality time, build meaningful

connections, provide individualized person-centered care, and develop partnerships in decision-making during the perinatal care period (Altman et al., 2020).

#### **Person-centered Decision-making.**

Person-centered decision-making is a component of person-centered care, under the larger realm of quality of care (Attanasio et al., 2018; Vedam et al., 2017b). Personcentered decision-making is an approach where the provider and patient share suggestions of care while the provider supports the patient in considering options to make informed decisions (Nieuwenhuijze et al., 2014). During this process, the patient and provider should express their preferences, wishes, and values together to determine a solution for any situation that arises (Attanasio et al., 2018; Fersini et al., 2019; Nieuwenhuijze et al., 2014). This process can be complex due to differences in values and power dynamics associated with providers and patients, especially among women of color (Altman et al., 2019; Fersini et al., 2019).

Person-centered decision-making has been suggested as an approach to making health care decisions since the early 1980s and to protect the autonomy of patients but has been undermined by unequal power dynamics between patients and providers during perinatal care (Attanasio et al., 2017; Shay & Lafata, 2015). The U.S. health care system is built on creating a power dynamic that has resulted in inequitable treatment among marginalized women by race, which is an underlying and unconscious norm of health care delivery where patients are more impacted by structural and interpersonal racism, do not feel empowered, and experience less agency throughout their care (Altman et al., 2019; Attanasio et al., 2017). These effects of power dynamics in person-centered

decision-making become more pronounced and challenging during labor and delivery including the decision-making process for cesarean delivery (Nieuwenhuijze et al., 2014).

#### Decision-making and Cesarean Delivery.

Panda et al. (2018) conducted a systematic literature review and meta-synthesis to assess factors that may influence the decision-making process for cesarean delivery. Themes derived from the study included: personal beliefs, cesarean delivery being a safe option; lack of cooperation and trust); health care systems; characteristics (convenience, demographics, confidence, and skills); and beliefs in relation to maternal request for cesarean delivery (ambiguous vs. clear clinical reasons) (Panda et al., 2018). An individual factor such as maternal request for cesarean delivery from the patient perspective might be due to life experiences such as trauma; violence; poor obstetric outcomes; anxiety about the birth process; fear of pain during childbirth; being able to predict their delivery; and perceived decrease in risk to their infant and pelvic floor (Munro et al., 2009). In addition, maternal request for cesarean delivery accounts for less than 2.5% of women who give birth in the U.S. and does not explain the rise in cesarean deliveries (Attanasio et al., 2017; Panda et al., 2018). This outcome is supported by a systematic literature review and meta-analysis study conducted by Mazzoni et al. (2011) who determined that only 15.6% of women in low- mid- and high-resource countries, expressed their preference for cesarean delivery. Therefore, maternal request for cesarean delivery is not increasing the cesarean delivery rate, but the expression of women not being informed about their obstetric procedures and treatments and not having autonomy in decision-making about the perinatal care they receive in the U.S. (Stevens & Miller, 2012).

Attanasio et al. (2018) conducted a study that assessed data of women who participated in the "First Baby Study", which included a cohort of 3,006 women who gave birth to a singleton infant in a Pennsylvania hospital during 2009-2011. They revealed that 69% of women with spontaneous vaginal deliveries, 61% of women with assisted vaginal deliveries, and 51% of women with cesarean deliveries experienced a high level of person-centered decision-making (Attanasio et al., 2018). In addition, Black women had lower odds of person-centered decision-making if they delivered by cesarean in comparison to white women (Attanasio et al., 2018). The Altman et al. (2019) study determined that patient-provider interactions during perinatal care were influenced by structural components of the health care system, which included lack of information for women to make decisions about their care and women of color felt powerless in trying to make care decisions and would like the opportunity to have an active role in care decision-making.

Cesarean delivery is influenced by a complex interplay of factors such as the hospital environment, culture beliefs, health care providers' practices, patient-provider interactions, and women preferences and attitudes (Attanasio et al., 2017). According to Regan et al. (2013), prior research has failed to assess cultural aspects of birth and account for how social discourse influences women's knowledge of birth and decision-making. Therefore, person-centered decision-making is essential for women to feel supported while receiving perinatal care, which can improve health outcomes (Altman et al., 2019).

#### Decision-making and Health Outcomes.

There have been mixed results of the effects of person-centered decision-making on health outcomes in the U.S. Attanasio et al. (2018) suggest that person-centered decision-making in perinatal care could improve outcomes in the realm of reducing decisional conflict; increasing delivery experience satisfaction, positive feelings, and fewer depressive symptoms; and increasing person-centered care. These outcomes are important because decisions made during the perinatal period often affect the health and well-being of women and infants (Nieuwenhuijze et al., 2014). According to Nieuwenhuijze et al. (2014), women want to be involved in the decision-making process, while Vedam et al. (2017b) suggest that patients who prefer not to participate in the person-centered decision-making process still benefit from positive perinatal health outcomes. The issue is that women have the inability to participate in the decisionmaking process throughout their perinatal care, which is likely due to minimal information about best practices for person-centered decision-making responsibilities and implementation of these practices (Loke et al., 2019; Nieuwenhuijze et al., 2014; Vedam et al., 2017b). The inability for women to participate in decision-making is influenced by another aspect of person-centered care, respectful perinatal care, which can affect women of color and mode of delivery outcomes.

### **Respectful Perinatal Care.**

Respectful perinatal care is a growing area of research mostly focused on low-, mid-resource countries, resulting in poor quality and respectful care (Mannava et al., 2015; Vedam et al., 2017c). If women, and especially women of color do not receive respectful care from their health care providers such as physicians or midwives, then they

are more likely to experience dissatisfaction with health care systems and are less likely to seek further perinatal care (Altman et al., 2020; Mannava et al., 2015). Women of color can share insightful knowledge about their health and care experiences to assist in improving perinatal care experiences and outcomes (Altman et al., 2020).

Mannava et al. (2015) conducted a systematic literature review of perinatal health provider's attitudes and behaviors towards patients with most of the studies taking place in Africa and Asia from January 1990 - December 2014. Findings from the study revealed that verbal abuse (scolding, shouting, or insulting language) and rude behavior from perinatal care providers were common. Perinatal care providers were also prejudice towards women with lower socioeconomic status and education attainment, residing in rural areas, or an ethnic minority.

Altman et al. (2019) and Niles et al. (2021) conducted qualitative analysis of data from high-resource countries to assess the effects of care among women, which differs from Mannava et al. (2015). Altman et al. (2019) conducted a constructivist grounded theory of semi-structured interviews with 22 women in San Francisco, CA from September 2015 - December 2017 to explore perinatal care experience of women of color with a focus on respectful and disrespectful care. Interview transcripts were analyzed by dimensional analysis and situational mapping (Altman et al., 2019). Women reported on respect and disrespect in various forms throughout the perinatal period. Women felt a lack of respect for bodily autonomy, when they did not receive information during interactions with their provider and did not feel heard or respected if they had long wait times with short appointments (Altman et al., 2019). In contrast, they felt more respected if they had more education where they explicitly communicated their level of education

with their provider. Niles et al. (2021) conducted a qualitative content analysis of childbearing women in British Columbia (n=892). Niles et al. (2021) did not solely focus on women of color as Altman et al. (2019), but they were represented in the sample size (7.3% women of color) along with assessing respectful perinatal care and its influence on cesarean delivery. The content analysis revealed four themes and two of the themes highlighted the influence of refusing care and cesarean delivery which included: Knowledge as control or as power: "Like I was a dim girl" and Morbid threats: "Do you want your baby to die?" (Niles et al., 2021). The theme Knowledge as control or as power: "Like I was a dim girl" an obstetrician insisted that a woman have a cesarean delivery because she was overweight and due to her size, the baby was probably going to be too large (Niles et al., 2021). The same obstetrician wanted her to schedule a cesarean delivery to save herself from a long labor and an inevitable emergency cesarean delivery (Niles et al., 2021). The women declined the cesarean delivery, and the obstetrician made her feel less than wise for not accepting the request, but she successfully had a vaginal delivery (Niles et al., 2021). The theme Morbid threats: "Do you want your baby to *die?*" revealed that a women experienced morbid threats with manipulative tactics into receiving a cesarean delivery when a staff member provided her with a consent form for cesarean delivery (Niles et al., 2021). The patient refused the cesarean delivery and advocated for a vaginal delivery but was taken to the operating room for a cesarean delivery (Niles et al., 2021). Providing respectful perinatal that supports patient autonomy and values is important in achieving quality perinatal care and reducing the cesarean delivery rate in the U.S.

#### Gaps in the Literature

Decades of attention have been placed on cesarean deliveries, but the national rate has failed to decrease significantly, especially among Black women (Clark & Lake, 2020). Public health efforts to address perinatal outcome disparities have primarily focused on increasing access to prenatal care, which has improved perinatal outcomes, but more research is needed to understand factors influencing the increase in cesarean deliveries (Lu et al., 2010). Studies suggest additional research is needed to understand factors that influence patient-provider interactions, which may further contribute to disparities in perinatal care among marginalized women while recognizing historical oppression and racism in the U.S. (Altman et al., 2019; Ford & Airhihenbuwa, 2010; Hardeman et al., 2019). Understanding social and cultural norms has the potential to improve quality of care and factors contributing to mode of delivery and place of birth decisions, but research on these aspects of perinatal care have been limited in the U.S. (Coast et al., 2014; Fowles, 2017; Preis et al., 2018; Roudsari et al., 2015; Ugwu & de Kok, 2015). Understanding how culture affects women's expectations during the perinatal care period is needed to improve interactions between the patient and provider and care decisions throughout the perinatal care period (Fowles, 2017; Jones et al., 2017).

#### **Rationale and Significance of the Study**

The childbirth experience is complex due to individual, medical, and sociocultural factors that interact to influence women's experiences and outcomes (Rowlands & Redshaw, 2012). To improve quality perinatal care, new paradigms and theoretical frameworks are needed to address factors influencing the cesarean delivery rate in the U.S., especially among Black and other marginalized women. This study addressed part

of this complexity by applying a newly developed, theoretically sound, conceptual model (Figure 3) grounded in the social cognitive theory to identify potential areas of intervention that could reduce rates of cesarean deliveries in the U.S.

### **Conceptual Model**





# **Research Questions**

- 1. How do cognitive and environmental factors influence mode of delivery?
  - a. How does this differ by race?

# Hypotheses

- 1. If women have lower Mothers Autonomy in Decision Making (MADM) scores, then they are more likely to have a cesarean delivery.
- 2. If women's social or cultural beliefs hold that birth should not be interfered with unless medically necessary, then they are less likely to experience a cesarean delivery.
- 3. If women experience racism during pregnancy, then they are more likely to have a cesarean delivery.
- 4. If women are affected by discrimination, then they are more likely to have a cesarean delivery.
- 5. If women receive social support during labor and birth, then they are less likely to have a cesarean delivery.
- 6. If women share the same race, culture, or heritage with their perinatal care provider, then they are less likely to have a cesarean delivery.
- 7. If women have lower Mothers on Respect index (MORi) scores, then they are more likely to have a cesarean delivery.

# CHAPTER III

# METHODOLOGY

This cross-sectional study design used the Giving Voice to Mothers - United States (GVtM-US) survey data to determine potential associations of differential factors influencing cesarean deliveries among women by race in a secondary analysis. The GVtM study was approved by the Behavioral Research Ethics Board at the University of British Columbia (H15–01524) and all participants provided informed consent before the online survey was administered (Vedam et al., 2019). This study was approved by the University of Louisville Institutional Review Board (IRB Number: 22.0191, Reference Number: 741640).

#### **Survey Instrument Overview**

In 2016, a multi-stakeholder team consisting of community members, clinicians, community health service leaders, and researchers launched the GVtM-US study (Vedam et al., 2019). This community-based participatory study was designed to address a gap in measures assessing quality perinatal care experiences, specifically among marginalized women. Previous national studies were limited to women with planned hospital births, had limited information on perinatal care experiences by race, and lacked mistreatment in perinatal care measures (Vedam et al., 2019). Therefore, the GVtM-US Steering Council recruited community agency leaders and service providers to develop a survey instrument on perinatal care experiences for the U.S., which was adapted from a previous study conducted in the British Columbia, Canada (Vedam et al., 2019). After consultation with

community partners, additional items from the literature that assessed non-consensual care, disparities in access to care, social determinants of health, and institutional racism (Vedam et al., 2019). In addition, some items in the GVtM-US survey included measures of disrespect and abuse in low-resource countries which were adapted for use in the U.S. (Vedam et al., 2019). The GVtM-US survey instrument draft was reviewed by 57 women from community agencies who represented the target population (Vedam et al., 2019). After the draft instrument was reviewed, 31 community members who represented the target population served as experts to validate the GVtM-US survey instrument through content validation (Vedam et al., 2019). Each survey item was rated on a 4-point ordinal scale to provide clarity, relevance, and importance through dialogue (Vedam et al., 2019). The GVtM study team retained, revised, or discarded survey items based on content validation best practices (Vedam et al., 2019). In addition, community members included the following validated measures MADM (autonomy) and MORi (respect) (Vedam et al., 2019). The Perceptions of Racism scale was also adapted to for the study's target population (Vedam et al., 2019). After content validation, the final GVtM-US survey instrument included 218 items with Likert responses and open-ended questions for participants to provide experiences about their care in the realm of preferences and access to care, patient-provider interactions, and autonomy in decision-making (Vedam et al., 2019).

Internal consistency reliability, using Cronbach's alpha was used to assess reliability of MADM, MORi, and adapted Perceptions of Racism scale. Cronbach's alpha for MADM is 0.96 (n=2,285), MORi is 0.94 (n=2,105), and adapted Perceptions of Racism scale is 0.92 (n=1,669) (Vedam et al., 2017b; Vedam et al., 2017c). Cronbach's

alpha for all the scales were  $\geq 0.80$  which is a satisfactory level of internal consistency (Taber, 2018). Items from the GVtM-US study were selected to assess cognitive and environmental factors associated with mode of delivery to identify potential areas of intervention that could reduce cesarean delivery rates (Appendix A).

### **Research Design**

### **Cross-sectional Design**

A cross-sectional design was used for this study and reflects data collected at one point in time and measures differences between or among different individuals (e.g., race, ethnicity, age, gender), variety of factors (e.g., socioeconomic status, health risk), or phenomena associated with the outcome variable (Salazar et al., 2015). Most survey research uses a cross-sectional design and is deemed the best method for understanding characteristics (e.g., individual thoughts, behaviors) of a population (Salazar et al., 2015). Data analysis for cross-sectional surveys includes descriptive statistics (frequencies or percentages), odds ratios, chi-squared test, and correlation coefficients (Salazar et al., 2015). This study utilized descriptive statistics to provide a representation of the study population and logistic regression to assess factors influencing mode of delivery using Stata/IC 15.1. Prior to analyses, all variables were reviewed for any inconsistency and missing values; and other-specify responses were assessed by creating new categories or adding them to already defined categories (Nguyen et al., 2017; Ruel et al., 2016).

### **Study Population**

The GVtM-US validated survey was administered in 2016 to women who experienced at least one pregnancy in the U.S. between 2010 and 2016 or were pregnant during the time of survey administration (March 2016-March 2017) (Vedam et al., 2019).

# Recruitment

Study participants were recruited for the GVtM-US study using venue-based sampling; social networking; agencies that served marginalized women; and survey cafés that provided computers for participants to take the survey (Vedam et al., 2019). If participants needed assistance in these venues, there were trained peers (data doulas) who assisted participants with their data entry (Vedam et al., 2019).

# **Inclusion Criteria**

• Women who were not currently pregnant; did not have a miscarriage, abortion, or stillbirth and opted to answer questions about labor and birth; and had a spontaneous vaginal delivery or cesarean delivery.

# **Exclusion Criteria**

• Women who were currently pregnant; had a miscarriage, abortion, or stillbirth and opted not to answer questions about labor and birth; and had an operative vaginal delivery.

# Sample Size

This study was based on a secondary quantitative data analysis of the GVtM-US study (N=2,700). Quantitative data analysis of this study included descriptive statistics (n=1,876) and logistic regression (n=1,876). Figure 4 depicts how the sample size was derived for the descriptive statistics and logistic regression analyses.





This study focused on measures aligned with the conceptual model (Figure 3) for descriptive statistics and logistic regression from the GVtM-US survey.

# Maternal Age

Maternal age was reported by the year the participant was born. To covert the year the participant was born into a numerical age, the year the survey was taken was subtracted from the year the participant was born. After the numerical age was determined, age was categorized as follows: 17-24, 25-30, 31-39, and  $\geq$  40 years. The age categories for maternal age are based on analysis conducted by Vedam et al. (2019) that utilized the GVtM-US data set.

# Race/Ethnicity

The survey used self-reported race and ethnicity, rather than the U.S. Census Bureau race/ethnicity categories to capture race/ethnicity lived experiences (Vedam et al., 2019). The survey included 13 pre-defined race/ethnicity categories where participants could select multiple descriptors and Vedam et al. (2019) coded maternal race by the following framework: Black (Black or African in any race field); Indigenous (Native American, Native Alaskan, Native Hawaiian, Indigenous to Mexico or South America in any of the race fields but not Black or African); Asian (Asian in any race field but not Black, African, Indigenous); Hispanic (any race field but not Black/African/Indigenous/Asia); other person of color; and White (White in any race field that were not allocated to Black, Indigenous, Asian, Hispanic, or other person of color) (Vedam et al., 2019). This study used the same racial/ethnicity categories as Vedam et al. (2019).

Educational attainment was measured by responses from the following survey question: *What was the highest level of education you had completed at the beginning of your most recent pregnancy*? Responses were coded into the following three categories: 1) No College Education: primary school, some high school, high school or equivalent (e.g., GED); 2) College Education: associate degree; college; some college, but no degree; some graduate school, but no degree; 3) Graduate or Professional Education: graduate degree (e.g., MS, PhD), professional school (e.g., MD, JD).

#### Socioeconomic Status

Socioeconomic status (SES) was measured using a comprehensive composite index used in the Vedam et al. (2019) study utilizing the GVtM-US data set that

accounted for participants with a family income below the federal poverty level (before tax family income and household size); had heat or electricity turned off (in the year before pregnancy or during); inability to buy enough food or meet financial obligations; and received a housing subsidy; assistance from Indian Health Services or a state health plan; Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF); food stamps; Women, Infants and Children (WIC) food vouchers or money to purchase food. Participants who experienced  $\geq 1$  indicator was categorized as "low SES" (Vedam et al., 2019).

#### Health Insurance Status

Health insurance status of respondents was measured. The "Insured" category included the following: Medicaid or Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP); Indian Health Services; TriCare/United Healthcare for Active-Duty Service Members; other government. The "Not Insured/Other" category included the following: out-of-pocket, not sure, other.

### **Region of Residence**

Region of residence was measured by the following survey question: *In what state did you give birth?* Prior to categorizing regions, Armed Forces Asia, Europe, and Pacific and Puerto Rico responses were omitted and the 50 states and District of Columbia was categorized into one of the four regions determined by the U.S. Census Bureau: 1) Northeast: Connecticut, Maine, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, Rhode Island, Vermont, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania; 2) Midwest: Indiana, Illinois, Michigan, Ohio, Wisconsin, Iowa, Kansas, Minnesota, Missouri, Nebraska, North Dakota, South Dakota; 3) South: Delaware, District of Columbia, Florida, Georgia, Maryland, North Carolina, South Carolina, Virginia, West Virginia, Alabama, Kentucky, Mississippi, Tennessee,

Arkansas, Louisiana, Oklahoma, Texas; 4) West: Arizona, Colorado, Idaho, New Mexico, Montana, Utah, Nevada, Wyoming, Alaska, California, Hawaii, Oregon, Washington (United States Census Bureau, 2010a).

# **Perinatal Health Status**

Perinatal health status was measured by parity (having none or more than one child), having a prior cesarean delivery (yes, no), and "elevated pregnancy risk" using a comprehensive composite index used in Vedam et al. (2019) study utilizing the GVtM-US data set that grouped pregnancy risk factors as follows: pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI)  $\geq$  40; multiple gestation with twins; or experienced high blood pressure, gestational diabetes, or other pregnancy complications such as breech baby, problems with baby's growth or health, and preterm labor. Participants who experienced  $\geq$  1 indicator was categorized as "elevated pregnancy risk."

# Place of Birth

Place of birth was measured using the survey question: *Where was your baby born?* Prior to categorizing place of birth, the following responses: *home, unplanned, accidental, or en-route to the hospital and home, planned unassisted* were omitted to capture the following categories to provide insight into care they received: 1) hospital birth: birth center inside hospital; hospital and planned hospital birth and 2) planned community birth: freestanding birth center outside hospital; planned in a home with midwife or physician present; transfer to hospital from planned home birth after labor started; and transfer to hospital from freestanding birth center after labor started.

# Type of Provider

Type of provider utilized the survey question prior to responses for personcentered decision-making that was measured with the MADM scale, which included: *My answer in this section describes my conversations or experiences with a...* where the responses were categorized into 1) midwife and 2) physician: family doctor, obstetrician/OB-GYN doctor.

#### Person-centered Decision-making

The 7-item MADM scale was used to measure a service users' role and level of agency and autonomy that they experienced when they interacted with providers while making decisions around options for perinatal care (Vedam et al., 2017b; Vedam et al., 2018). Higher scores indicated that women had greater autonomy in decision-making (Vedam et al., 2017b; Vedam et al., 2018). The scale scores range from 7-42 and to measure women who experienced the least autonomy in decision-making was determined by women who scored in the bottom 10<sup>th</sup> percentile. The 10<sup>th</sup> percentile indicator is based on the reporting of MORi scores in the Vedam et al. (2017c) study and how MORi scores were reported in this study, therefore, MADM scores were reported in the same manner for consistency.

### Normative Beliefs

Normative beliefs were measured using a 6-point Likert type scale with responses ranging from strongly disagree to strongly agree. The statement to assess normative beliefs was: *Giving birth is a process that should not be interfered with unless medically necessary*.

# Social Support

Social support during labor and birth was measured from the survey question: During labor and birth, some women get support from someone who is present to make them more comfortable and explain what is happening. Who if anyone, gave you this type of support when you were in labor? Two categories were created as follows: 1) received support: my partner/husband, another family member, my friend, a doula or trained labor assistant, a midwife, a nurse, or a doctor; 2) did not receive support: I did not receive this type of support.

# **Racism and Discrimination**

Racism and discrimination were measured by two items in the survey with a 6point Likert type scale with responses ranging from strongly disagree to strongly agree. The statement about racism during pregnancy is *I experienced racism during my pregnancy* and the statement about discrimination is *I am not affected by discrimination*.

### Race and Cultural Concordance

Race and cultural concordance were measured as yes/no for the following survey question: *The midwife or doctor who cared for me during my most recent pregnancy shared my race, culture, or heritage.* 

#### **Respectful Perinatal Care**

Respectful perinatal care was measured with the 14-item MORi scale to assess patient-provider interactions in the realm of comfort, coercion, discrimination and/or autonomy (Vedam et al., 2017c). The scale scores (14-84) were calculated by the proportion of women who scored in the bottom 10<sup>th</sup> percentile, which included women who experienced the least respectful care (Vedam et al., 2017c).

### Mode of Delivery

Mode of delivery was measured by the survey question followed by three responses, *My most recent birth was a:* followed by three responses: vaginal birth; cesarean birth; or vaginal birth with forceps or vacuum. Operative vaginal delivery (vaginal birth with forceps or vacuum) was omitted from analyses, which made this outcome variable dichotomous (spontaneous vaginal birth, cesarean birth).

# Analysis

### **Descriptive Statistics**

Descriptive statistics was determined for all variables present in the conceptual model (Figure 3) which consisted of demographic factors; perinatal health status; place of birth; perinatal care provider; cognitive factor (person-centered decision-making); environmental factors (normative beliefs; social support; racism during pregnancy; discrimination; race or cultural concordance); and mode of delivery. All variables were summarized in table format capturing frequencies (Ruel et al., 2016).

### Logistic Regression

Logistic regression is an analysis used to examine relationships between a dichotomous dependent variable and independent variables where the predictors can be continuous or categorical (Maroof, 2012; Ruel et al., 2016). The purpose of logistic regression is to predict the probability of study participants likelihood of experiencing the determined outcome in logarithmic terms, odds ratio (Maroof, 2012). To determine the true effect of results presented in a logistic regression, a univariate analysis was conducted among covariates and exposure variable and covariates and outcome variable
at a significance criterion of  $\leq 0.20$  before variables were entered into the final logistic regression model (Lee, 2013; Pourhoseingholi et al., 2012).

#### Person-centered Decision-making as an Exposure Variable.

An exposure variable is associated with an outcome of interest and applies to other variables such as covariates present in a conceptual model (Lee & Pickard, 2013). This study assessed person-centered decision-making as an exposure variable with the MADM scale since it is a non-medical risk factor that can influence the mode of delivery outcome (Altman et al., 2019; Attanasio et al., 2017; Panda et al., 2018).

#### Selecting Covariates for Logistic Regression Models.

Covariates are variables that reveal the true effect between the exposure and outcome variables (Lee, 2013; Pourhoseingholi et al., 2012). Multivariate models can account for multiple covariates that can be used in a logistic regression model (Pourhoseingholi et al., 2012). Logistic regression models produce odds ratios that can control for confounding variables (Pourhoseingholi et al., 2012). This outcome is referred to as adjusted odds ratio because the value has been adjusted for the covariates and covariates provided in the model (Pourhoseingholi et al., 2012). Identifying covariates are useful to depict a causal relationship between the exposure, outcome, and potential confounder (Lee & Burstyn, 2016). To determine a potential confounder in a univariate analysis, either Fisher's exact test or Pearson's chi-squared test is conducted for each variable (Bursac et al., 2008). Fisher's exact test is used for smaller sample sizes while Pearson's chi-squared test is used for larger sample sizes (Ruel et al., 2016). This study utilized Pearson's chi-squared test based on the sample size (n=1,876). Significance criterion is used with p-value cutoffs of  $\leq 0.20$  or  $\leq 0.05$  based on the univariate

assessment results (Bursac et al., 2008; Lee & Burstyn, 2016). According to Bursac et al. (2008), covariates with p-values that were not deemed significant from the  $\leq 0.20$  or  $\leq$ 0.05 cutoffs were removed from the model and not considered a confounder (Bursac et al., 2008). Bursac et al. (2008) and Lee & Burstyn (2016) suggest assessing p-values at the  $\leq 0.20$  cutoff since the  $\leq 0.05$  cutoff fails to identify important variables for analysis.

# **Statistical Analysis Models.**

Three models were conducted to determine associations between mode of delivery (dependent variable), person-centered decision-making (exposure variable), and covariates (independent variables) which included the following: demographic factors; perinatal health status; place of birth; perinatal care providers; normative beliefs; receiving social support; racism during pregnancy; affected by discrimination; race and cultural concordance; and respectful maternal care. A fourth statistical model was conducted to determine how significant covariates in statistical model 3 differed by race.

#### Statistical Analysis Model 1.

Statistical analysis model 1 used Pearson's chi-squared test to assess potential associations between mode of delivery (outcome) and covariates. P-values  $\leq 0.20$  from this test was not included in the final model for analysis.

#### Statistical Analysis Model 2.

Statistical analysis model 2 used Pearson's chi-squared test to assess potential associations between person-centered decision-making (exposure) and covariates. P-values  $\leq 0.20$  from this test were not included in the final model for analysis.

# Statistical Analysis Model 3.

Statistical analysis model 3 included mode of delivery (outcome), decisionmaking (exposure), and covariates (p-values  $\leq 0.20$ ) from the Pearson's chi-squared test. Logistic regression analysis was conducted for these variables and odds ratios were reported in table format. Significant results were determined at the 95% confidence interval (p-value  $\leq 0.05$ ) which is used to determine a significant association for logistic regression (Ruel et al. 2016).

# Statistical Analysis Model 4.

Statistical analysis model 4 used crude logistic regression by taking each significant covariate determined in statistical analysis 3 and making it the dependent variable and pairing it with the race/ethnicity variable and significant criteria was assessed at p-value  $\leq 0.05$  to determine how the significant covariates differed by race (Getahun et al., 2009).

# CHAPTER IV

# RESULTS

#### **Descriptive Statistics**

# Maternal Age, Race/Ethnicity, Education, Low SES, Health Insurance Status and Region of Residence at Birth

Descriptive statistics were first conducted to summarize the study population (n=1,876). Most of the population was white (66%) followed by other women of color (Hispanic, Asian, Indigenous, and Biracial women of color) (17%) and Black (15%) (Table 2). Over 50% of women were 31-39 years. Over 60% of women had college of graduate/professional education attainment and over 60% of women did not have low socioeconomic status (Table 2). Over 70% of women were insured and almost half of respondents gave birth in the northeast region (Table 2)

Variable	n (%)	
Demographics		
Maternal Age		
17-24	93 (4.96)	
25-30	540 (28.78)	
31-39	1,020 (54.37)	
≥40	119 (6.34)	
Missing	104 (5.54)	
Race/Ethnicity		
Black	272 (14.50)	
White	1,246 (66.42)	
Hispanic	161 (8.58)	
Asian	81 (4.32)	
Indigenous	58 (3.09)	
Biracial Women of Color	18 (0.96)	

Table 2.	Descriptive	Statistics	(n=1,876)

Variable	n (%)
Missing	40 (2.13)
Education	
No College	578 (30.81)
College	675 (35.98)
Graduate/Professional	532 (28.36)
Missing	90 (4.80)
Low Socioeconomic Status <sup>a</sup>	
No	1,227 (65.41)
Yes	649 (34.59)
Missing	0 (0.00)
Health Insurance Status	
Not Insured	431 (22.97)
Insured	1,375 (73.29)
Missing	70 (3.73)
Region of Residence at Birth	
Northeast	777 (41.89)
Midwest	260 (14.02)
South	441 (23.77)
West	360 (19.41)
Missing	17 (0.92)

<sup>a</sup> Low socioeconomic status: family income below the federal poverty level (before tax family income and household size); had heat or electricity turned off (in the year before pregnancy or during); inability to buy enough food or meet financial obligations; and received a housing subsidy; assistance from Indian Health Services or a state health plan; Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF); food stamps; Women, Infants and Children (WIC) food vouchers or money to purchase food. Participants who experienced  $\geq 1$  indicator was categorized as "low socioeconomic status."

# Perinatal Health Status

For perinatal health status, over 80% of women did not have a prior cesarean

delivery, over 60% of women had  $\geq$ 1 child, and over 75% of women did not have an

elevated pregnancy risk (Table 3).

Table 3. Descriptive	Statistics Perinatal	Health Status	(n=1,876)
----------------------	----------------------	---------------	-----------

Perinatal Health Status	
Prior Cesarean Delivery	
No	1,626 (86.67)
Yes	229 (12.21)
Missing	21 (1.12)
Parity	

None	672 (35.82)
$\geq 1$	1,202 (64.07)
Missing	2 (0.11)
Elevated Pregnancy Risk <sup>b</sup>	
No	1,477 (78.73)
Yes	399 (21.27)
Missing	0 (0.00)

<sup>b</sup> Elevated pregnancy risk: pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI)  $\geq$  40; multiple gestation with twins; or experienced high blood pressure, gestational diabetes, or other pregnancy complications such as breech baby, problems with baby's growth or health, and preterm labor. Participants who experienced  $\geq$  1 indicator was categorized as "elevated pregnancy risk."

# Place of Birth and Perinatal Care Provider

For place of birth, over 75% of women had a hospital birth and over 65% of

women had a midwife as their perinatal care provider (Table 4).

Table 4. Descriptive	Statistics Place	of Birth and	Perinatal	Care Pr	ovider (	(n=1)	,876)	)
----------------------	------------------	--------------	-----------	---------	----------	-------	-------	---

Place of Birth	
Hospital	798 (76.66)
Planned Community Birth	238 (22.86)
Missing	5 (0.48)
Perinatal Care Provider	
Doctor	553 (29.56)
Midwife	1,289 (68.89)
Missing	29 (1.55)

# Cognitive and Environmental Factors and Mode of Delivery

About 10% of women did not have autonomy in person-centered decision-making (Table 5). Over 90% of women agreed with the following normative belief statement: "giving birth is a process that should not be interfered with unless medically necessary (Table 5). Over 90% of women received social support during labor and birth (Table 5). About 11% of women experienced racism during pregnancy and over 40% of women were affected by discrimination (Table 5). About 8% of women experienced disrespectful perinatal care (Table 5). Over 60% of women had race or cultural concordance and about

14% of women had a cesarean delivery (Table 5).

**Table 5.** Descriptive Statistics Cognitive and Environmental Factors and Mode of Delivery (n=1,876)

Cognitive Factor	
Person-centered Decision-making: MADM	bottom 10 <sup>th</sup> percentile
No	1,626 (86.67)
Yes	184 (9.81)
Missing	66 (3.52)
Environmental Factors	. , , , , ,
Normative Belief: "Giving birth is a process	s that should not be interfered with unless
medically necessary"	
Disagree	145 (7.73)
Agree	1,724 (91.90)
Missing	7 (0.37)
Received Social Support during Labor/Birth	1
No	96 (5.12)
Yes	1,780 (94.88)
Missing	0 (0.00)
Experienced Racism During Pregnancy	
Disagree	1,548 (82.52)
Agree	196 (10.45)
Missing	132 (7.04)
Affected by Discrimination	
Disagree	940 (50.11)
Agree	818 (43.60)
Missing	118 (6.29)
Disrespectful Perinatal Care: MORi bottom	10 <sup>th</sup> percentile
No	1,557 (83.00)
Yes	161 (8.58)
Missing	158 (8.42)
Race or Cultural Concordance: Sharing her	itage, race, ethnic or cultural background
with provider	
No	651 (34.70)
Yes	1,204 (64.18)
Missing	21 (1.12)
Mode of Delivery	
Cesarean Delivery	269 (14.34)
Spontaneous Vaginal Delivery	1,607 (85.66)
Missing	0 (0.00)

# Mode of Delivery

Descriptive statistics of women having a cesarean delivery (outcome variable) and covariates were assessed to further examine the sample. The majority of women who had a cesarean delivery were  $\geq$  31 years; women of color (Black, Hispanic, Asian, Indigenous, and Biracial women of color); low socioeconomic status; insured; an elevated pregnancy risk; gave birth in the northeast or south regions of the U.S.; did not have a prior cesarean delivery; gave birth in a hospital (excluding transfer from planned community birth to hospital); had a doctor as their perinatal care provider; shared race or cultural concordance with their provider; received social support; agreed to the normative belief statement that "giving birth is a process that should not be interfered with unless medically necessary"; did not experience racism during pregnancy; and did not score in the bottom 10<sup>th</sup> percentile for MADM (autonomy in person-centered decision-making) and MORi (disrespectful perinatal care). Participants' education was dispersed with a third having either no college, college, or graduate/professional degree, while about half of the population had  $\geq$  1 child and was affected by discrimination.

## Maternal Age.

To determine differences in mode of delivery outcomes, frequencies of cesarean and spontaneous vaginal delivery were compared. More women had a cesarean delivery than a spontaneous vaginal delivery if they were 17-24 and  $\geq$  40 years (Table 6).

Demographics				
Maternal Age				
	17-24	25-30	31-39	≥40
Cesarean Delivery (n=269) n (%)	16 (6.23)	76 (29.57)	147 (57.20)	18 (7.00)
Spontaneous Vaginal Delivery (n=1,607) n (%)	77 (5.08)	464 (30.63)	873 (57.62)	101 (6.67)

Table 6. Descriptive Statistics Mode of Delivery and Maternal Age (n=1,876)

# Race/Ethnicity.

Women who identified as Black, Hispanic, Asian, or Indigenous had more

cesarean deliveries and less spontaneous vaginal deliveries than white women (Table 7).

Demographics						
Race/Ethnicity						
	Black	White	Hispanic	Asian	Indigenous	Biracial Women of Color
Cesarean	54	150	30	15	11	1
Delivery	(20.07)	(55.76)	(11.15)	(5.58)	(4.09)	(0.37)
(n=269)						
n (%)						
Spontaneous	218	1,096	131	66	47	17
Vaginal Delivery	(13.57)	(68.20)	(8.15)	(4.11)	(2.92)	(1.06)
(n=1,607)						
n (%)						

**Table 7.** Descriptive Statistics Mode of Delivery and Race/Ethnicity (n=1,876)

# **Education and Low SES.**

Education attainment and low SES did not differ much by mode of delivery, with a third of women representing each education category and about 65% of women with low SES having either a cesarean delivery or spontaneous vaginal delivery (Table 8).

Demographics					
	Education			Low Socio Status <sup>a</sup>	economic
	No College	College	Graduate/ Professional	No	Yes
Cesarean Delivery (n=269) n (%)	84 (33.47)	84 (33.47)	83 (33.07)	177 (65.80)	92 (34.20)
Spontaneous Vaginal Delivery (n=1,607) n (%)	494 (32.18)	591 (38.50)	449 (29.25)	1,050 (65.34)	557 (34.66)

**Table 8.** Descriptive Statistics Mode of Delivery, Education, and Low Socioeconomic Status (n=1,876)

<sup>a</sup> Low socioeconomic status: family income below the federal poverty level (before tax family income and household size); had heat or electricity turned off (in the year before pregnancy or during); inability to buy enough food or meet financial obligations; and received a housing subsidy; assistance from Indian Health Services or a state health plan; Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF); food stamps; Women, Infants and Children (WIC) food vouchers or money to purchase food. Participants who experienced  $\geq 1$  indicator was categorized as "low socioeconomic status."

# Health Insurance Status and Region of Residence at Birth.

Most women were insured regardless of mode of delivery and more women had a

cesarean delivery than a spontaneous vaginal delivery if they gave birth in the South

region (Table 9).

**Table 9.** Descriptive Statistics Mode of Delivery, Health Insurance Status, and Region of Residence at Birth (n=1,876)

Demographics							
	Health Insurance Status			Region of Residence at Birth			
		1			1	1	1
	Not	Insured		Northeast	Midwest	South	West
	Insured						
Cesarean	24	217		90	39	76	51
Delivery	(9.96)	(90.04)		(35.57)	(15.42)	(30.04)	(20.16)
(n=269)					, ,		, , ,
n (%)							

Spontaneous	79	677	302	117	199	158
Vaginal Delivery	(10.45)	(89.55)	(38.92)	(15.08)	(25.64)	(20.36)
(n=1,607)						
n (%)						

# Perinatal Health Status.

Over 60% of women who had a prior cesarean delivery had a cesarean delivery

(Table 10). Over 65% of women who had more than one child had a spontaneous vaginal

delivery (Table 10). In addition, about half of women who had an elevated pregnancy risk

had a cesarean delivery (Table 10).

Perinatal Health Status								
	Prior Cesarean		Parity				Elevated	
	Delivery			-			Pregnancy Risk <sup>b</sup>	
	No	Yes		None	≥1		No	Yes
Cesarean	171	97		137	131		131	138
Delivery	(63.81)	(36.19)		(51.12)	(48.88)		(48.70)	(51.30)
(n=269)								
n (%)								
Spontaneous	1,455	132		534	1,072		1,346	261
Vaginal Delivery	(91.68)	(8.32)		(33.25)	(66.75)		(83.76)	(16.24)
(n=1,607)								
n (%)								
	1							

Table 10. Descriptive	e Statistics Mode	of Delivery and	l Perinatal Health Status	(n=1,876)
-----------------------	-------------------	-----------------	---------------------------	-----------

<sup>b</sup> Elevated pregnancy risk: pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI)  $\geq$  40; multiple gestation with twins; or experienced high blood pressure, gestational diabetes, or other pregnancy complications such as breech baby, problems with baby's growth or health, and preterm labor. Participants who experienced  $\geq$  1 indicator was categorized as "elevated pregnancy risk."

# Place of Birth and Perinatal Care Provider.

Most women gave birth in a hospital regardless of mode of delivery, but over

25% of women who had a spontaneous vaginal delivery had a planned community birth

(Table 11). Women who had a planned community birth and cesarean delivery included

women who experienced a transfer from a planned community birth setting to a hospital

(Table 11).

**Table 11.** Descriptive Statistics Mode of Delivery, Place of Birth, and Perinatal Care Provider (n=1,876)

Place of Birth and Perinatal Care Provider							
	Place of Birth			Perinatal Care			
	II. and tal	Dlannad Camanyaita		Provider	Midavifa		
	Hospital	Birth		Doctor	Midwile		
Cesarean Delivery	217	38		172	80		
(n=269)	(85.10)	(14.90)		(68.25)	(31.75)		
n (%)							
Spontaneous Vaginal	569	216		332	446		
Delivery	(72.48)	(27.52)		(42.67)	(57.33)		
(n=1,607)	Ì,						
n (%)							

# Association between Cesarean Delivery and Covariates

To determine associations between cesarean delivery (outcome variable) and covariates, chi-squared test was conducted with significant criteria assessed at  $p \le 0.20$ (Table 12). Race/ethnicity, region of residence, prior cesarean delivery, parity, elevated pregnancy risk, place of birth, perinatal care provider, person-centered decision making (MADM bottom 10<sup>th</sup> percentile), normative beliefs: "giving birth is a process that should not be interfered with unless medically necessary", received social support during labor/birth, and disrespectful perinatal care (MORi bottom 10<sup>th</sup> percentile) were significant ( $p \le 0.20$ ).

Variable	Chi-squared Estimate	p-value
Demographics		
Maternal Age		
17-24	0.14	0.71
25-30	0.42	0.52
31-39	0.05	0.83

 Table 12. Association between Cesarean Delivery and Covariates

Variable	Chi-squared Estimate	p-value
$\geq$ 40	1.43	0.23
Race/Ethnicity		
Black	0.87	0.35
White	3.96	0.05*
Hispanic	0.85	0.36
Asian	2.50	0.11*
Indigenous	0.59	0.44
Biracial Women of Color	1.10	0.30
Education		
No College	0.47	0.49
College	0.74	0.39
Graduate/Professional	0.05	0.82
Low Socioeconomic Status <sup>a</sup>	0.05	0.82
Health Insurance Status	0.05	0.83
Region of Residence at Birth		
Northeast	0.90	0.34
Midwest	0.02	0.90
South	1.88	0.17*
West	0.00	0.95
Perinatal Health Status		
Prior Cesarean Delivery	112.13	0.00*
Parity	1	
None	5.56	0.02*
<u>≥1</u>	5.40	0.02*
	1	
Elevated Pregnancy Risk <sup>b</sup>	73.14	0.00*
Place of Birth		
Hospital, Planned Community Birth	16.59	0.00*
Perinatal Care Provider	1	Τ
Doctor, Midwife	49.84	0.00*
<b>Cognitive Factor</b>		

Variable	Chi-squared Estimate	p-value
Person-centered Decision-	15.37	0.00*
making: MADM bottom 10 <sup>th</sup>		
percentile		
<b>Environmental Factors</b>		
Normative Belief: "Giving birth	2.99	0.08*
is a process that should not be		
interfered with unless medically		
necessary"		
		1
Received Social Support during	12.45	0.00*
Labor/Birth		
		1
Experienced Racism During	0.00	0.97
Pregnancy		
		1
Affected by Discrimination	0.11	0.74
Disrespectful Perinatal Care:	24.88	0.00*
MORi bottom 10 <sup>th</sup> percentile		
Race or Cultural Concordance	1.29	0.26

\*p-values  $\leq 0.20$ 

<sup>a</sup> Low socioeconomic status: family income below the federal poverty level (before tax family income and household size); had heat or electricity turned off (in the year before pregnancy or during); inability to buy enough food or meet financial obligations; and received a housing subsidy; assistance from Indian Health Services or a state health plan; Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF); food stamps; Women, Infants and Children (WIC) food vouchers or money to purchase food. Participants who experienced  $\geq 1$  indicator was categorized as "low socioeconomic status."

<sup>b</sup> Elevated pregnancy risk: pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI)  $\geq$  40; multiple gestation with twins; or experienced high blood pressure, gestational diabetes, or other pregnancy complications such as breech baby, problems with baby's growth or health, and preterm labor. Participants who experienced  $\geq$  1 indicator was categorized as "elevated pregnancy risk."

# Association between MADM (person-centered decision-making) and Covariates

To determine associations between MADM (exposure variable) and covariates,

chi-squared test were conducted with significant criteria assessed at  $p \le 0.20$  (Table 13).

Race/ethnicity, low socioeconomic status, health insurance status, region of residence at

birth, parity, elevated pregnancy risk, place of birth, perinatal care provider, received

social support during labor/birth, experienced racism during pregnancy, affected by

discrimination, disrespectful perinatal care, and race or cultural concordance were

significant.

Table 13. Association between MADM (person-centered decision-making) an	d
Covariates	

Variable	Chi-squared Estimate	p-value
Demographics		
Maternal Age		
17-24	1.14	0.29
25-30	0.25	0.61
31-39	1.47	0.23
$\geq$ 40	0.22	0.64
Race/Ethnicity		
Black	13.04	0.00*
White	15.92	0.00*
Hispanic	2.66	0.10*
Asian	12.48	0.00*
Indigenous	0.27	0.60
Biracial Women of Color	1.64	0.20*
Education		
No College	0.25	0.62
College	0.08	0.77
Graduate/Professional	0.66	0.42
Low Socioeconomic Status <sup>a</sup>	7.38	0.01*
Health Insurance Status	1.98	0.16*
Region of Residence at Birth		
Northeast	1.03	0.31
Midwest	0.93	0.34
South	4.18	0.04*
West	0.04	0.85
Perinatal Health Status		
Prior Cesarean Delivery	0.00	0.99
Parity		
None	4.97	0.03*

Variable	Chi-squared Estimate	p-value
$\geq 1$	4.86	0.03*
		<u>.</u>
Elevated Pregnancy Risk <sup>b</sup>	1.84	0.17*
		<u>.</u>
Place of Birth		
Hospital, Planned Community	3.86	0.05*
Birth		
Perinatal Care Provider		
Doctor, Midwife	39.52	0.00*
<b>Environmental Factors</b>		
Normative Belief: "Giving birth	0.96	0.33
is a process that should not be		
interfered with unless medically		
necessary"		
	1	
Received Social Support during	27.07	0.00*
Labor/Birth		
	T	
Experienced Racism During	22.29	0.00*
Pregnancy		
	L =	
Affected by Discrimination	8.79	0.00*
	L	
Disrespectful Perinatal Care:	283.40	0.00*
MOR <sub>1</sub> bottom 10 <sup>th</sup> percentile		
Race or Cultural Concordance	10.99	0.00*

\*p-values  $\leq 0.20$ 

<sup>a</sup> Low socioeconomic status: family income below the federal poverty level (before tax family income and household size); had heat or electricity turned off (in the year before pregnancy or during); inability to buy enough food or meet financial obligations; and received a housing subsidy; assistance from Indian Health Services or a state health plan; Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF); food stamps; Women, Infants and Children (WIC) food vouchers or money to purchase food. Participants who experienced  $\geq 1$  indicator was categorized as "low socioeconomic status."

<sup>b</sup> Elevated pregnancy risk: pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI)  $\geq$  40; multiple gestation with twins; or experienced high blood pressure, gestational diabetes, or other pregnancy complications such as breech baby, problems with baby's growth or health, and preterm labor. Participants who experienced  $\geq$  1 indicator was categorized as "elevated pregnancy risk."

# **Significant Covariates**

Significant covariates determined by the chi-squared test included the following: race/ethnicity, low socioeconomic status, health insurance status, region of residence at birth, prior cesarean delivery, elevated pregnancy risk, place of birth, perinatal care provider, normative beliefs: "giving birth is a process that should not be interfered with unless medically necessary", received social support during labor/birth, experienced racism during pregnancy, affected by discrimination, disrespectful perinatal care: MORi bottom 10<sup>th</sup> percentile, and race or cultural concordance. These covariates were included in the logistic regression.

# **Logistic Regression**

Logistic regression was conducted to predict covariates associated with women having a cesarean delivery vs. spontaneous vaginal delivery by determining the odds ratio with significant criteria assessed at  $p \le 0.05$  (Table 14). Significant covariates associated with cesarean delivery included the following: having a prior cesarean delivery (p =0.00); more than one child (parity) (p = 0.00); elevated pregnancy risk (p = 0.00); a doctor as their perinatal care provider (p = 0.00); and receiving disrespectful care (MORi bottom 10<sup>th</sup> percentile) (p = 0.02). Women who had a prior cesarean delivery were 14 times more likely to have cesarean delivery than women who did not have a prior cesarean delivery (OR: 14.11, 95% CI: 7.99 - 24.90). Women who had more than one child had an increased odds of having a cesarean delivery than women who did not have a prior child (OR: 0.21, 95% CI: 0.13 - 0.35). Women who had an elevated pregnancy risk were 3.3 times more likely to have a cesarean delivery than women who did not have an elevated pregnancy risk (OR: 2.22 - 4.90, 95% CI: 2.22 - 4.90). Women who received

perinatal care from a doctor were 2.25 times more likely to have a cesarean delivery than women who received perinatal care from a midwife (OR: 2.25, 95% CI: 1.40 - 3.61). Women who received disrespectful perinatal care by scoring in MORi bottom 10<sup>th</sup> percentile were 2.16 times more likely to have a cesarean delivery than women who did not receive disrespectful care (OR: 2.16, 95% CI: 1.13 - 4.12). Further analysis was conducted to determine how these significant covariates differed by race/ethnicity.

Variable	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence	z-score	p-value		
		Interval				
Demographics						
Race/Ethnicity (ref.	White)					
Black	1.08	0.42 - 2.75	0.15	0.88		
Hispanic	0.91	0.42 - 2.00	-0.23	0.82		
Asian	0.87	0.35 - 2.15	-0.31	0.76		
Indigenous	1.16	0.38 - 3.58	0.26	0.79		
Biracial Women	0.26	0.03 - 2.39	-1.19	0.23		
of Color						
Low Socioeconomic	c Status (ref. N	lo) <sup>a</sup>				
Yes	0.86	0.56 - 1.33	-0.68	0.50		
Health Insurance St	atus (ref. Insur	red)				
Not Insured	1.39	0.68 - 2.82	0.91	0.37		
Region of Residenc	e at Birth (ref.	Northeast)				
Midwest	0.87	0.50 - 1.54	-0.47	0.64		
South	1.06	0.65 - 1.72	0.22	0.83		
West	0.94	0.56 - 1.59	-0.24	0.81		
Perinatal Health S	tatus					
Prior Cesarean Deli	very (ref. No)					
Yes	14.11	7.99 - 24.90	9.13	0.00*		
Parity (ref. none)						
$\geq 1$	0.21	0.13 - 0.35	-6.26	0.00*		
Elevated Pregnancy	Risk (ref. No)	b				
Yes	3.30	2.22 - 4.90	5.93	0.00*		
<b>Place of Birth</b>						
Place of Birth (ref. 1	Planned Comn	nunity Birth)				
Hospital	1.19	0.65 - 2.19	0.57	0.57		
Perinatal Care Pro	ovider					
Perinatal Care Provi	ider (ref. Midv	vife)				
Doctor	2.25	1.40 - 3.61	3.36	0.00*		
Cognitive Factor						

**Table 14.** Adjusted Logistic Regression Model Predicting a Cesarean Delivery

Variable	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence	z-score	p-value				
		Interval						
Person-centered Decision-making: MADM bottom 10 <sup>th</sup> percentile (ref. No)								
Yes	1.00	0.53 - 1.88	0.00	0.10				
<b>Environmental Fac</b>	ctors							
Normative Beliefs: '	Giving birth i	s a process that should	not be interfere	d with unless				
medically necessary	" (ref. Disagre	e)						
Agree	0.65	0.36 - 1.19	-1.59	0.17				
Received Social Support during Labor/Birth (ref. No)								
Yes	0.50	0.21 - 1.18	-1.39	0.10				
Experienced Racism During Pregnancy (ref. Disagree)								
Agree	1.12	0.59 - 2.14	0.35	0.73				
Affected by Discrimination (ref. Disagree)								
Agree	1.06	0.70 - 1.61	0.30	0.76				
Race or Cultural Concordance (ref. No)								
Yes	1.24	0.77 - 1.98	0.90	0.37				
Disrespectful Perinatal Care: MORi bottom 10 <sup>th</sup> percentile (ref. No)								
Yes	2.16	1.13 - 4.12	2.34	0.02*				

\*p-values  $\leq 0.05$ 

<sup>a</sup> Low socioeconomic status: family income below the federal poverty level (before tax family income and household size); had heat or electricity turned off (in the year before pregnancy or during); inability to buy enough food or meet financial obligations; and received a housing subsidy; assistance from Indian Health Services or a state health plan; Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF); food stamps; Women, Infants and Children (WIC) food vouchers or money to purchase food. Participants who experienced  $\geq 1$  indicator was categorized as "low socioeconomic status."

<sup>b</sup> Elevated pregnancy risk: pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI)  $\geq$  40; multiple gestation with twins; or experienced high blood pressure, gestational diabetes, or other pregnancy complications such as breech baby, problems with baby's growth or health, and preterm labor. Participants who experienced  $\geq$  1 indicator was categorized as "elevated pregnancy risk."

# **Differences in Race**

# **Descriptive Statistics.**

Significant covariates yield by the adjusted logistic regression model were

stratified by race/ethnicity and presented as descriptive statistics to determine women

who were more affected by factors influencing cesarean delivery.

# Perinatal Health Status.

Over 20% of Black and Asian women had a prior cesarean delivery while white, Hispanic, Indigenous, and Biracial women of color experienced a lower frequency (Table 15). Black women (63.21%), more than any other racial/ethnic group, had more than one child (Table 15). All women of color (Black, Hispanic, Asian, Indigenous, and Biracial women of color) had a higher elevated pregnancy risk than white women (Table 15).

Perinatal Health Status								
	Prior Cesarean			Parity			Elevated Pregnancy	
	Delivery						Risk <sup>a</sup>	
	No	Yes		None	$\geq 1$		No	Yes
Black	155	39		71	122		132	63
n (%)	(79.90)	(20.10)		(36.79)	(63.21)		(67.69)	(32.31)
White	553	89		293	363		474	182
n (%)	(86.14)	(13.86)		(44.66)	(55.34)		(72.26)	(27.74)
Hispanic	76	12		46	43		61	28
n (%)	(86.36)	(13.64)		(51.69)	(48.31)		(68.54)	(31.46)
Asian	31	13		25	20		30	15
n (%)	(70.45)	(29.55)		(55.56)	(44.44)		(66.67)	(33.33)
Indigenous	26	4		15	15		18	12
n (%)	(86.67)	(13.33)		(50.00)	(50.00)		(60.00)	(40.00)
Biracial Women	9	1		6	4		7	3
of Color	(90.00)	(10.00)		(60.00)	(40.00)		(70.00)	(30.00)
n (%)								

Table 15. Significant Covariates Stratified by Race/Ethnicity Part 1

<sup>a</sup> Elevated pregnancy risk: pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI)  $\geq$  40; multiple gestation with twins; or experienced high blood pressure, gestational diabetes, or other pregnancy complications such as breech baby, problems with baby's growth or health, and preterm labor. Participants who experienced  $\geq$  1 indicator was categorized as "elevated pregnancy risk."

# Perinatal Care Provider and Disrespectful Perinatal Care.

Over 50% of white and Indigenous women had a midwife as their provider and

over 60% of Black, Asian, Hispanic, and Biracial women of color had a doctor as their

provider (Table 16). Disrespectful perinatal care was the most pronounced among

Indigenous, Hispanic, and Black women (Table 16).

	Perinatal Care			Environmental Factor		
	Provider					
	Perinatal C	are		Disrespectful Perinatal Care: MORi		
	Provider			bottom 10 <sup>th</sup> percentile		
	Midwife	Doctor		No	Yes	
Black	72	119		143	33	
n (%)	(37.70)	(62.30)		(81.25)	(18.75)	
White	369	280		531	67	
n (%)	(56.86)	(43.14)		(88.80)	(11.20)	
Hispanic	40	47		67	16	
n (%)	(45.98)	(54.02)		(80.72)	(19.28)	
Asian	16	28		38	6	
n (%)	(36.36)	(63.64)		(86.36)	(13.64)	
Indigenous	17	13		20	8	
n (%)	(56.67)	(43.33)		(71.43)	(28.57)	
Biracial Women	2 (20.00)	8 (80.00)		8	1	
of Color				(88.89)	(11.11)	
n (%)						

Table 16. Significant Covariates Stratified by Race/Ethnicity Part 2

## **Crude Logistic Regression.**

To provide more context to these descriptive statistics and significant logistic regression results, a crude logistic regression model was conducted by each significant covariate becoming the dependent variable and pairing it with the race/ethnicity variable with significant criteria assessed at  $p \le 0.05$  (Table 17).

The crude logistic regression yields significant results for prior cesarean delivery and Asian women (p = 0.00); parity  $\ge 1$  and Black women (p = 0.02); perinatal care provider as a doctor and Asian women (p = 0.01); and disrespectful perinatal care (MORi bottom 10<sup>th</sup> percentile) for Hispanic and Indigenous women. Asian women were 2.59 times more likely to have a prior cesarean delivery (OR: 2.59, 95% CI: 1.31 - 5.12) and 2.31 times more likely to have a doctor as their perinatal care provider (OR: 2.31, 95% CI: 1.22 - 4.35) than white women. Black women were 2.15 times more likely to have one or more child (OR: 2.15, 95% CI: 1.11 - 4.14) than white women. Hispanic (OR: 1.89, 95% CI: 1.04 - 3.45) and Indigenous (OR: 3.17, 95% CI: 1.34 - 7.48) women had

higher odds of receiving disrespectful perinatal care (scoring in MORi bottom 10<sup>th</sup>

percentile) than white women.

<b>Table 17.</b> Crude Logistic Regression Model Predicting Significant Differences	by
Race/Ethnicity	

Variable	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence	z-score	p-value				
		Interval		-				
Perinatal Health Status								
Prior Cesarean Delivery: Yes (ref. White)								
Black	0.62	0.30 - 1.28	-1.30	0.20				
Hispanic	0.99	0.52 - 1.90	-0.02	0.98				
Asian	2.59	1.31 - 5.12	2.73	0.00*				
Indigenous	0.98	0.33 - 2.87	-0.04	0.97				
Biracial Women	0.71	0.09 - 5.65	-0.33	0.75				
of Color								
Parity $\geq 1$ (ref. Whit	te)							
Black	2.15	1.11 - 4.14	2.28	0.02*				
Hispanic	0.75	0.48 - 1.18	-1.25	0.21				
Asian	0.65	0.35 - 1.19	-1.41	0.16				
Indigenous	0.81	0.39 - 1.68	-0.57	0.57				
Biracial Women	0.54	0.15 - 1.92	-0.95	0.34				
of Color								
Elevated Pregnancy	Risk: Yes (ref	f. White) <sup>a</sup>						
Black	0.95	0.48 - 1.90	-0.13	0.90				
Hispanic	1.20	0.74 - 1.93	0.73	0.47				
Asian	1.30	0.68 - 2.48	0.80	0.42				
Indigenous	1.74	0.82 - 3.68	1.44	0.15				
Biracial Women	1.11	0.29 - 4.36	0.16	0.87				
of Color								
Perinatal Care Pro	ovider							
Doctor (ref. White)								
Black	0.94	0.48 - 1.86	0.87	0.87				
Hispanic	1.55	0.99 - 2.43	0.06	0.06				
Asian	2.31	1.22 - 4.35	0.01	0.01*				
Indigenous	1.01	0.48 - 2.11	0.98	0.98				
Biracial Women	5.27	1.11 - 25.02	0.03	0.07				
of Color								
Environmental Factor								
Disrespectful Perinatal Care: MORi bottom 10 <sup>th</sup> percentile (ref. White)								
Black	1.46	0.57 - 3.74	0.79	0.43				
Hispanic	1.89	1.04 - 3.45	2.08	0.04*				

Asian	1.25	0.51 - 3.07	0.49	0.62
Indigenous	3.17	1.34 - 7.48	2.64	0.00*
Biracial Women	0.99	0.12 - 8.04	-0.01	0.99
of Color				

\*p-values  $\leq 0.05$ 

<sup>a</sup> Elevated pregnancy risk: pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI)  $\geq$  40; multiple gestation with twins; or experienced high blood pressure, gestational diabetes, or other pregnancy complications such as breech baby, problems with baby's growth or health, and preterm labor. Participants who experienced  $\geq$  1 indicator was categorized as "elevated pregnancy risk."

# Significant Factors Influencing Cesarean Delivery

These analyses were designed to test how cognitive and environmental factors influence mode of delivery and differences by race. The environmental factor, disrespectful perinatal care was supported by the adjusted logistic regression model as significant and supported the null hypothesis: "if women have lower MORi scores, then they are more likely to have a cesarean delivery." To determine differences in race, the crude logistic regression model resulted in significance of Hispanic and Indigenous women being more likely to receive disrespectful perinatal care (lower MORi scores)

than white women.

#### CHAPTER V

## DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

The purpose of this study was to assess cognitive and environmental factors that influenced mode of delivery outcomes and the differences among race/ethnicity grounded in the study's conceptual model. The conceptual model determined key findings on factors influencing cesarean deliveries to provide levels of influence from the social ecological model to intervene, address strengths and limitations, and implications for policy, practice, and future research.

#### **Respectful Perinatal Care**

The statistically significant environmental factor assessed in this study was respectful perinatal care which is a component of quality care. Respectful perinatal care was measured in this study by MORi bottom 10<sup>th</sup> percentile, which represents women who experienced disrespectful perinatal care. Women were 14 times more likely to experience disrespectful perinatal care if they had a cesarean delivery in comparison to a spontaneous vaginal delivery. Quantitative studies assessing respectful perinatal care are limited in the U.S. and have mostly occurred in Africa and Asia (Mannava et al., 2015). Qualitative studies conducted in the U.S. by Altman et al. (2019) and Niles et al. (2021) revealed that women who had cesarean deliveries experienced disrespectful perinatal care where women refused care and felt insulted and manipulated by their provider.

#### Perinatal Health Status, Place of Birth, and Perinatal Care Provider

This study also yields non-cognitive and environmental statistically significant factors associated with cesarean deliveries, which included women who had a prior cesarean delivery, parity  $\geq 1$ , elevated pregnancy risk, and a doctor as their provider. Perinatal health status in this study included prior cesarean delivery, parity, and elevated pregnancy risk, which are factors associated with mode of delivery and can determine if a pregnancy is low or high risk (HHS, 2018). Parity and prior cesarean delivery are factors associated with increased rates of cesarean delivery but were not included in the elevated pregnancy risk composite index to maintain consistency with other studies utilizing the GVtM study and elevated pregnancy risk composite index (Boyle et al., 2013; Gregory et al., 2012; Spong et al., 2012).

Having a prior cesarean delivery follows a precedent for subsequent cesarean deliveries where 51.1% of women in this study had a primary cesarean delivery. This is usually consistent with other studies for primary cesarean deliveries, which has been associated with increasing the cesarean delivery rate in the U.S. by 10 times (7.1% to 69.9%) and 15 times (2.4% to 36.5%) for low-risk pregnancies (Boyle et al., 2013; Spong et al., 2012). Some medical factors arise during the perinatal period, but over intervening when it is not medically necessary increases the risk of cesarean deliveries in hospital settings (Shaw et al., 2016).

Women who have a hospital birth are more likely to have a doctor as their provider, which might be due to them over intervening in care or being the only provider licensed to perform a cesarean delivery (Shaw et al., 2016; VanGompel et al., 2018). The results of this study showed that women who gave birth in a hospital or had a doctor as

their provider increased their odds of having a cesarean delivery. Women with low- and high-risk pregnancies delivered in hospitals, which are optimal for high-risk pregnancies that may require enhanced technology and staffing for monitoring and intervening, but over intervening during pregnancies are linked to cesarean deliveries (Shaw et al., 2016). Place of birth and type of provider can influence a woman's mode of delivery, which is likely due to the model of care she receives from her provider because midwifery care and planned community births are associated with higher quality of care and lower cesarean delivery rates (Akileswaran & Hutchinson, 2016; Carlson et al., 2018; Hoope-Bender et al., 2014; Kennedy et al., 2018a; Kozhimannil et al., 2015b; Neal et al., 2018). Quality of care and its influence on cesarean deliveries can also differ based on someone's race/ethnicity.

## **Differences in Race/ethnicity**

Differences by race/ethnicity on how cognitive and environmental factors influenced mode of delivery yield the following statistically significant factors: disrespectful perinatal care (environmental factor), perinatal health status factors, and perinatal care provider. Statistically significant associations for race/ethnicity as white women as the reference group included Asian women being more likely to have a prior cesarean delivery and doctor as their perinatal care provider; Black women being more likely to have one or more child; and Hispanic and Indigenous women being more likely to receive disrespectful perinatal care. In addition, race/ethnicity was not a significant factor in this study, but Black, Hispanic, Asian, and Indigenous women had a higher rate of having a cesarean delivery than white women. This finding is supported by the literature where marginalized women are more likely to experience cesarean deliveries (Altman et al., 2020; Attanasio et al., 2017; Bailit & Love, 2008; Huesch & Doctor, 2015; Washington et al., 2012). There are numerous inequities present in perinatal outcomes experienced by marginalized women that are driven by historical and structural injustices that can be remedied through a shift in power within relationships (Hardeman et al., 2019). Patient-centered care places marginalized pregnant women as the experts regarding their own bodies with their provider as the expert in medical diagnoses and care (Hardeman et al., 2019). A focus on patientcentered care could reduce the experiences of racism and discrimination during perinatal care.

## **Racism and Discrimination**

Racism and discrimination were environmental factors that were not statistically significant factors influencing cesarean delivery in this study, but some women were affected by these factors. There were about 11% of women who experienced racism during pregnancy for each mode of delivery category. Women were affected by discrimination regardless of mode of delivery. The Listening to Mothers III study conducted in the U.S. revealed that 13% of women experienced racial, ethnic, language, or culture discrimination during labor and birth in a hospital (Declercq et al., 2014). The Listening to Mothers III study did not assess the associations between racism or discrimination and its influence on cesarean deliveries. The Listening to Mothers III study but women who experienced less discrimination in comparison to this study, but women who experienced discrimination was lower than discrimination present in this study

(Declercq et al., 2014). Race and culture concordance may be an avenue where representation can reduce racism or discrimination throughout perinatal care.

#### **Race and Culture Concordance**

Fewer women experienced race and culture concordance for cesarean delivery (57.1%) in comparison to women who had a spontaneous vaginal delivery (66.2%). This suggests that women who have a cesarean delivery receive less representation during labor and birth, which could potentially influence their mode of delivery. This deprives a woman's social support network where some women receive social support from their perinatal care provider.

#### Social Support

Women who received social support decreased from 95.5% (spontaneous vaginal delivery) to 91.1% (cesarean delivery). Previous studies suggested that women who receive social support throughout the perinatal care period experience fewer cesarean deliveries (Collins et al., 2021; Corrigan et al., 2015; Farrish & Roberston, 2012; Kim et al., 2014; Morikawa et al., 2015; Versteegen et al., 2021). Gruber et al. (2013) studied doula support as a form of social support during the perinatal care period, but doula support was categorized as "receiving social support" and not analyzed individually as a form of social support. Gruber et al. (2013) also found that cesarean delivery rates were higher for Black women who did not have a doula present during labor and birth, but it was not significant. A social support network can help women advocate for care options by respecting their normative beliefs.

Normative belief was measured by the following statement "giving birth is a process that should not be interfered with unless medically necessary" where 93.1% of

women who had a spontaneous vaginal delivery agreed with the statement but decreased to 86.9% for women who had a cesarean delivery. This decline shows that women who have a cesarean delivery are less likely to agree with the statement. There is limited literature assessing normative beliefs and perinatal care in the U.S., where most studies have typically occurred in Nigeria and Iran and used different normative belief measures (Roudsari et al., 2015; Ugwu & de Kok, 2015). The U.S. is a diverse society of shared and different norms, beliefs, expectations, languages, and behavioral customs (Coast et al., 2014; Fowles, 2017). This is important because when women's social and cultural norms about perinatal care do not align with their perinatal care provider's recommendations can result in poor person-centered decision-making.

#### **Person-centered Decision-making**

The cognitive factor assessed for this study was person-centered decision-making which was measured by MADM. Low autonomy in person-centered decision-making did not independently emerge from the multivariate analysis and this could possibly be attributed to MADM and MORi interacting since experiencing low autonomy in decision-making is receiving disrespectful care. Although person-centered decision-making was not a predictor, more women experienced low autonomy if they had a cesarean delivery (20.8%) than women who had a spontaneous vaginal delivery (8.3%). In comparison to a study conducted by Attanasio et al. (2018) women who had a cesarean delivery with high level of autonomy in person-centered decision-making was 51.0% and this study, 79.2%. The measures for person-centered decision-making in this study was measured by MADM while Attanasio et al. (2018) measured it by the Delivery Decision Making Scale (DDMS). Person-centered decision-making is measured differently for

each instrument based on the number of items, statements, and response options. The 7item MADM scale was used to measure a service users' role and level of agency and autonomy when they interacted with providers while making decisions around perinatal care options with Likert responses (Vedam et al., 2017b; Vedam et al., 2018). The 6-item DDMS measures women's perceptions of involvement and satisfaction with the perinatal care decision-making process with true or false responses (Attanasio et al., 2018).

# Strengths

Strengths of this study includes an overall large sample size that provides the best estimates and frequencies of cognitive and environmental factors influencing mode of delivery. The study population was closely aligned to the 2010 U.S. Census racial/ethnic demographics but provided greater representation among Black and Indigenous women which gave more context into their experiences of care (United States Census Bureau, 2010b). A third of pregnancies in the U.S. are by cesarean delivery and in this study, less than 15% of women experienced a cesarean delivery (Boyle et al., 2013; Edmonds et al., 2013; Getahun et al., 2009; Guo et al., 2021; Keag et al., 2018; Kozhimannil et al., 2013; Leonard et al., 2019a; Martinez et al., 2020; Morris et al., 2016; Spong et al., 2012; Yee et al., 2015; Zamani-Alavijeh et al., 2017). This was most likely due to women experiencing the midwifery model of care by having a planned community birth or midwife as their provider. In addition, this is the first study applying SCT cognitive and environmental factors and the following constructs: collective efficacy and knowledge (person-centered decision-making); normative beliefs; social support; and barriers and facilitators (racism experienced during pregnancy, affected by discrimination, race or cultural concordance, and respectful perinatal care) to predict its influence on mode of

delivery. This study also used validated and reliable MORi (respect) and MADM (autonomy) instruments to measure respectful perinatal care and autonomy in personcentered decision-making, which has not been previously applied to mode of delivery research. Strengths of this study are followed by a few limitations.

# Limitations

Definitions for the terms discrimination and experiencing racism during pregnancy were not defined which led to the participants own interpretation, where these terms can sometimes be used interchangeably. Further determining terms and forms of discrimination could help clarify the experiences of the participants. Overall, measures for person-centered decision-making, social support, racism, discrimination, normative belief, and respectful perinatal care are not consistent with previous studies, but this study can provide a basis for future research.

# **Implications for Future Research**

Future research can address limitations of this study by utilizing consistent measures, terminology, and definitions for perinatal health research and referring to women/mothers as birthing people or individual to be inclusive of everyone. The measure for person-centered decision-making (i.e., MADM) differed from previous studies (e.g., DDMS). Providing a direct comparison of autonomy and cesarean delivery can better determine means to improve person-centered care. Previous studies assessing social support and the impact on cesarean deliveries only focused on one form of social support (i.e., doula) while this study focused on any form of social support received. Having a consistent way to report social support, whether individually or overall, social support received should be considered in future studies.

The terms racism and discrimination are sometimes used interchangeably, and clear definitions are needed to effectively assess the influence these factors have on cesarean delivery outcomes. Any form of racism or discrimination present during the perinatal care period is problematic due to historical systems of oppression that affect health care systems, policies, and practices that are negatively impacting the health of women (Taylor, 2020). Studies have not been conducted specifically applying the critical race theory (CRT) to perinatal health research, but the literature provides approaches on the use of CRT in this field. Research has suggested using CRT to address root causes of health disparities by developing solutions and interventions that address gaps in cesarean deliveries among marginalized women (Ford & Airhihenbuwa, 2018; Hardeman et al., 2019).

There is limited research on the effects of race and culture concordance and more focus is needed on the perspectives of the patients and not providers to determine if representation can influence person-centered decision-making, respectful perinatal care, provider social support, and normative beliefs. Over 85% of women who had a cesarean delivery agreed to the following normative belief statement: "giving birth is a process that should not be interfered with unless medically necessary", further determining if the cesarean delivery was medically necessary can provide context to their normative belief being respected. Measuring respectful perinatal care is limited and MORi helped address the gap, but more studies should utilize MORi to further determine initiatives to improve respectful perinatal care and reduce cesarean delivery rates in the U.S.

Future research can further determine and explore factors influencing cesarean deliveries by using a mixed methods sequential explanatory design (Creswell et al.,

2003). This study design can allow for the incorporation of utilizing consistent measures, terminology, and definitions and current measures highly effective in measuring personcentered decision-making (MADM) and respectful perinatal care (MORi) through quantitative data collection and analysis (e.g., surveys). This will allow for further exploration of the experiences of women who had a cesarean delivery through qualitative data collection and analysis (e.g., interviews) to provide greater depth to quantitative results. In addition to future research, public health practice and policy can assist with improving quality perinatal care and reducing cesarean deliveries in the U.S.

#### **Implications for Public Health Practice and Policy**

This study used the social ecological model to conceptualize levels of influence being studied and to identify levels of influence to intervene. The statistically significant factors influencing cesarean delivery (i.e., parity, prior cesarean delivery, elevated pregnancy risk, having a doctor as a provider, and disrespectful perinatal care), especially among marginalized women to address a need for interventions at the individual and interpersonal levels of influence (Figure 5). Parity, prior cesarean delivery, elevated pregnancy risk represents the individual level of influence, while having a doctor as a provider and disrespectful perinatal care represents the interpersonal level of influence. For the context of this study and utilization of the social ecological model, the individual level of influence represents women obtaining knowledge from respectful perinatal care providers (interpersonal level of influence) about their perinatal health status to make informed decisions about mode of delivery. Therefore, to intervene at these levels of influence, perinatal care needs to shift from an over interventionalist medical model of

care to a model of care focused on quality of care with emphasizes on person-centered and equitable care.



Figure 5. Social Ecological Model [Adapted from Golden & Wendel, 2020]

# **Quality Maternal and Newborn Care Framework**

The quality of maternal and newborn care (QMNC) framework is a model of care centered on quality perinatal care (Figure 6). The QMNC framework was developed to describe multiple components of care affecting outcomes for women, newborns, and families throughout the perinatal period due to growing concerns of the overuse of medical interventions to manage complications if they arise (Renfrew et al., 2014). Public health professionals have deemed that midwifery care is imperative to utilize for assurance of high-quality perinatal care due to its focus on person-centered and lowintervention approach to care (Akileswaran & Hutchinson, 2016; Kozhimannil et al., 2015b; Neal et al., 2018; Renfrew et al., 2014). The QMNC framework addresses the role and integration of perinatal care providers and health systems to provide quality perinatal care, which was derived from a systematic review of methods, results, and lessons learned in low-, middle-, and high-income countries (Renfrew et al., 2014). The QMNC framework is especially applicable for public health practice and policy in the U.S. to assess quality perinatal care; workforce development that focuses on teamwork and collaboration of perinatal health professionals; resource allocation; educational curriculum; or identify gaps for future research (Renfrew et al., 2014). The framework is also intended for individualized demands of identified populations (e.g., marginalized populations) and political, social, and cultural context within a health care system (Renfrew et al., 2014).

For all childbearing women and infants

For childbearing women and	
infants with complications	

Education	Assessment	Promotion of	First-line	Medical		
Information	Screening	processes,	management of	obstetric		
Health	Care	prevention of	complications	neonatal		
promotion	planning	complications		services		
Available, a	ccessible, acce	eptable, good-qu	ality services, adequ	uate, and		
competent workforce						
Continuity, services, integrated across community and facilities						
Respect, communication, community knowledge, and understanding						
Care tailored to women's circumstances and needs						
Optimizing biological, psychological, social, and cultural processes;						
strengthening woman's capabilities						
Practitioners who combine clinical knowledge and skills with						
interpersonal and cultural competence						
Division of roles and responsibilities based on need, competencies, and						
resources						
	Education Information Health promotion Available, a Continui Respect, co Ca Optimizing Practition	EducationAssessmentInformationScreeningHealthCarepromotionplanningAvailable, accessible, accessibl	Education Assessment Promotion of Information Screening processes, Health Care prevention of promotion planning complications Available, accessible, acceptable, good-qua competent workfor Continuity, services, integrated across of Respect, communication, community know Care tailored to women's circum Optimizing biological, psychological, soc strengthening woman's c Practitioners who combine clinical know interpersonal and cultural of Division of roles and responsibilities based resources	EducationAssessmentPromotion of processes, processes, promotionFirst-line management of complicationsHealthCareprevention of promotioncomplicationsAvailable, accessible, acceptable, good-quality services, adequality competent workforcecompetent workforceContinuity, services, integrated acrosscommunity and fact computed acrossRespect, communication, community knowledge, and unders Care tailored to women's circumstances and needsOptimizing biological, psychological, social, and cultural pro- strengthening woman's capabilitiesPractitioners who combine clinical knowledge and skills interpersonal and cultural competenceDivision of roles and responsibilities based on need, competent resources		

**Figure 6.** Quality of Maternal and Newborn Care Framework [Adapted from Renfrew et al., 2014]

The QMNC framework can be applied to this study through public health practice by addressing statistically significant individual factors: a prior cesarean delivery, parity  $\geq$  1, and elevated pregnancy risk through the following "practice categories": anti-racist and culturally aware education, information, and health promotion; and promotion of normal process and prevention of complications so women can assess the benefits and harms associated with their care by their provider in order to achieve person-centered and equitable care (Crear-Perry et al., 2020; Kennedy et al., 2018b). In addition, these individual factors are represented by "philosophy" through optimizing biological, psychological, social, and cultural processes that strengthen women by only medically intervening when necessary (Renfrew et al., 2014). The interpersonal statistically significant factor: disrespectful perinatal care aligns with the QMNC framework's categories of "values" by providing respectful perinatal care through communication and tailoring care that suits women's needs and circumstances; and "care providers" where perinatal care providers combine clinical knowledge and skills with interpersonal and cultural competence and care for women based on need, competencies, and resources (Renfrew et al., 2014). Addressing the statistically significant factors and disparities among Black, Asian, Indigenous, and Hispanic women in this study by integrating the QMNC framework into practice has the potential to influence change among perinatal care providers and health care systems delivery of care.

To integrate this model of care, the QMNC framework should be presented to perinatal care providers; medical, midwifery, and hospital organizations/societies; other perinatal care stakeholders; and decision-makers to inform policy for health care institutions and for perinatal care workers to practice. This model of care has the potential
to improve quality of perinatal care through person-centered and equitable care and reduce the U.S. cesarean delivery rate.

## Conclusion

Cesarean deliveries account for a third of pregnancies in the U.S., which is above WHO recommendation of 10-15% cesarean deliveries (Boyle et al., 2013; Edmonds et al., 2013; Getahun et al., 2009; Guo et al., 2021; Keag et al., 2018; Kozhimannil et al., 2013; Leonard et al., 2019a; Martinez et al., 2020; Morris et al., 2016; Spong et al., 2012; Yee et al., 2015; Zamani-Alavijeh et al., 2017). This study aimed to provide insight into this phenomenon by determining cognitive and environmental factors that influence mode of delivery and how they differ by race/ethnicity by addressing gaps in the literature. This study addressed gaps in the literature by assessing patient-provider interactions through person-centered decision-making and respectful perinatal care and normative beliefs that can affect women's decisions in their care and mode of delivery. Results of this study indicated that perinatal health risk factors and quality of care experienced by women are areas that need to receive greater attention to reduce the cesarean delivery rate in the U.S. Integration of the QMNC framework has the potential to reduce cesarean deliveries by improving quality of care through less medical care interventions and improved patient-provider interactions.

## REFERENCES

- Akileswaran, C. P., & Hutchison, M. S. (2016). Making Room at the Table for Obstetrics, Midwifery, and a Culture of Normalcy Within Maternity Care. Obstet Gynecol, 128(1), 176-180. https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.00000000001493
- Alhusen, J. L., Bower, K. M., Epstein, E., & Sharps, P. (2016). Racial discrimination and adverse birth outcomes: an integrative review. *Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health*, 61(6), 707–720. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jmwh.12490</u>
- Alliman, J., & Phillippi, J. C. (2016). Maternal Outcomes in Birth Centers: An Integrative Review of the Literature. J Midwifery Womens Health, 61(1), 21-51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jmwh.12356</u>
- Almanza, J., Karbeah, J., Kozhimannil, K. B., & Hardeman, R. (2019). The experience and motivations of midwives of color in Minnesota: nothing for us without us. *Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health*, 64(5), 598–603.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jmwh.13021

- Altman, M. R., Oseguera, T., McLemore, M. R., Kantrowitz-Gordon, I., Franck, L. S., & Lyndon, A. (2019). Information and power: Women of color's experiences interacting with health care providers in pregnancy and birth. Soc Sci Med, 238, 112491. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.112491</u>
- Attanasio, L. B., & Hardeman, R. R. (2019). Declined care and discrimination during the childbirth hospitalization. Soc Sci Med, 232, 270-277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.05.008</u>

- Attanasio, L. B., Hardeman, R. R., Kozhimannil, K. B., & Kjerulff, K. H. (2017). Prenatal attitudes toward vaginal delivery and actual delivery mode: Variation by race/ethnicity and socioeconomic status. Birth, 44(4), 306-314. https://doi.org/10.1111/birt.12305
- Attanasio, L. B., Kozhimannil, K. B., & Kjerulff, K. H. (2018). Factors influencing women's perceptions of shared decision making during labor and delivery:
  Results from a large-scale cohort study of first childbirth. Patient Educ Couns, 101(6), 1130-1136. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2018.01.002</u>
- Attanasio, L., & Kozhimannil, K. B. (2015). Patient-reported Communication Quality and Perceived Discrimination in Maternity Care. Med Care, 53(10), 863-871. https://doi.org/10.1097/MLR.0000000000000411
- Austin, P. C., White, I. R., Lee, D. S., & van, B. S. (2021). Missing Data in Clinical Research: A Tutorial on Multiple Imputation. The Canadian Journal of Cardiology, 37(9), 1322–1331. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cjca.2020.11.010</u>
- Bailit, J. L., & Love, T. E. (2008). The role of race in cesarean delivery rate case mix adjustment. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 198(1), 1–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2007.05.045
- Bandura, A. (1999). Social Cognitive Theory: An Agentic Perspective. Asian Journal of Social Psychology, 2(1), 21–41. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-839X.00024
- Barber, E. L., Lundsberg, L. S., Belanger, K., Pettker, C. M., Funai, E. F., & Illuzzi, J. L. (2011). Indications contributing to the increasing cesarean delivery rate. Obstetrics and Gynecology, 118(1), 29–38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.0b013e31821e5f65</u>

Benton, M., Salter, A., Tape, N., Wilkinson, C., & Turnbull, D. (2019). Women's psychosocial outcomes following an emergency caesarean section: A systematic literature review. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth, 19(1), 535.
https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-019-2687-7

Betrán, A. P., Temmerman, M., Kingdon, C., Mohiddin, A., Opiyo, N., Torloni, M. R.,

Zhang, J., Musana, O., Wanyonyi, S. Z., Gülmezoglu, A. M., & Downe, S.

(2018). Interventions to reduce unnecessary caesarean sections in healthy women and babies. *Lancet (London, England)*, *392*(10155), 1358–1368.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31927-5

Bhutta ZA, Das JK, Bahl R, Lawn JE, Salam RA, Paul VK, et al. Can available interventions end preventable deaths in mothers, newborn babies, and stillbirths, and at what cost? Lancet 2014; 384:347–370.

Boerma, T., Ronsmans, C., Melesse, D. Y., Barros, A. J. D., Barros, F. C., Juan, L., Moller, A. B., Say, L., Hosseinpoor, A. R., Yi, M., de, L. R. N. D., & Temmerman, M. (2018). Global epidemiology of use of and disparities in caesarean sections. Lancet (London, England), 392(10155), 1341–1348. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31928

- Boyle, A., Reddy, U. M., Landy, H. J., Huang, C. C., Driggers, R. W., & Laughon, S. K.
  (2013). Primary cesarean delivery in the United States. Obstet Gynecol, 122(1),
  33-40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.0b013e3182952242</u>
- Bryant, A. S., Worjoloh, A., Caughey, A. B., & Washington, A. E. (2009). Racial/ethnic disparities in obstetric outcomes and care: prevalence and determinants. American

Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 202(4), 335–343.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2009.10.864

Bursac, Z., Gauss, C. H., Williams, D. K., & Hosmer, D. W. (2008). Purposeful selection of variables in logistic regression. Source Code for Biology and Medicine, 3(1),

1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1751-0473-3-17</u>

Carlson, N. S., Neal, J. L., Tilden, E. L., Smith, D. C., Breman, R. B., Lowe, N. K., Dietrich, M. S., & Phillippi, J. C. (2018). Influence of midwifery presence in United States centers on labor care and outcomes of low-risk parous women: A Consortium on Safe Labor study. Birth, 46(3), 487-499.

https://doi.org/10.1111/birt.12405

- Chambers, B. D., Arabia, S. E., Arega, H. A., Altman, M. R., Berkowitz, R., Feuer, S. K., Franck, L. S., Gomez, A. M., Kober, K., Pacheco-Werner, T., Paynter, R. A., Prather, A. A., Spellen, S. A., Stanley, D., Jelliffe-Pawlowski, L. L., & McLemore, M. R. (2019). Exposures to structural racism and racial discrimination among pregnant and early post-partum Black women living in Oakland, California. Stress Health, 36(2), 213-219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.2922</u>
- Chambers, B. D., Arega, H. A., Arabia, S. E., Taylor, B., Barron, R. G., Gates, B.,
  Scruggs-Leach, L., Scott, K. A., & McLemore, M. R. (2021). Black Women's
  Perspectives on Structural Racism across the Reproductive Lifespan: A
  Conceptual Framework for Measurement Development. Matern Child Health J,
  25(3), 402-413. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-020-03074-3

- Chen, F. M., Fryer, G. E., Jr., Phillips, R. L., Jr., Wilson, E., & Pathman, D. E. (2005). Patients' beliefs about racism, preferences for physician race, and satisfaction with care. Ann Fam Med, 3(2), 138-143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.282</u>
- Cheyney, M., Bovbjerg, M., Everson, C., Gordon, W., Hannibal, D., & Vedam, S.
  (2014). Outcomes of Care for 16,924 Planned Home Births in the United States:
  The Midwives Alliance of North America Statistics Project, 2004 to 2009. Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health, 59(1), 17–27.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jmwh.12172

- Cheyney, M., Bovbjerg, M. L., Leeman, L., & Vedam, S. (2019). Community versus outof-hospital birth: what's in a name? Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health, 64(1), 9–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jmwh.12947</u>
- Chinn, J. J., Martin, I. K., & Redmond, N. (2021). Health Equity Among Black Women in the United States. Journal of Women's Health (2002), 30(2), 212–219. <u>https://doi-org.echo.louisville.edu/10.1089/jwh.2020.8868</u>
- Clark, R. R. S., & Lake, E. T. (2020). Spontaneous vaginal birth varies significantly across US hospitals. Birth, 48(1), 44-51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/birt.12508</u>
- Coast, E., Jones, E., Portela, A., & Lattof, S. R. (2014). Maternity care services and culture: a systematic global mapping of interventions. PLoS One, 9(9), e108130.
   <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0108130</u>
- Collins, H. N., Oza-Frank, R., & Marshall, C. (2021). Perceived social support and postpartum depression symptoms across geographical contexts: Findings from the 2016 Ohio Pregnancy Assessment survey. Birth, 48(2), 257-264.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/birt.12536">https://doi.org/10.1111/birt.12536</a>

- Corrigan, C. P., Kwasky, A. N., & Groh, C. J. (2015). Social Support, Postpartum
  Depression, and Professional Assistance: A Survey of Mothers in the Midwestern
  United States. J Perinat Educ, 24(1), 48-60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1891/1058-</u>
  1243.24.1.48
- Creanga, A. A., Berg, C. J., Ko, J. Y., Farr, S. L., Tong, V. T., Bruce, F. C., & Callaghan, W. M. (2014). Maternal Mortality and Morbidity in the United States: Where Are We Now? Journal of Women's Health, 23(1), 3–9.

https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2013.4617

- Crear-Perry, J., Maybank, A., Keeys, M., Mitchell, N., & Godbolt, D. (2020). Moving towards anti-racist praxis in medicine. *Lancet (London, England)*, 396(10249), 451–453. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31543-9</u>
- Creswell, J. W., Plano Clark, V. L., Gutmann, M. L., & Hanson, W. E. (2003). Advanced mixed methods research designs. In A. Tashakkori & C. Teddlie (Eds.), *Handbook of mixed methods in social and behavioral research* (pp. 209–240). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell J.W. (Eds.). (2016). 30 Essential Skills for the Qualitative Researcher. SAGE Publications.
- Dahlem, C. H., Villarruel, A. M., & Ronis, D. L. (2015). African American Women and Prenatal Care: Perceptions of Patient-provider Interaction. Western Journal of Nursing Research, 37(2), 217–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0193945914533747</u>
- Dahlen, H. G., Kennedy, H. P., Anderson, C. M., Bell, A. F., Clark, A., Foureur, M.,Ohm, J. E., Shearman, A. M., Taylor, J. Y., Wright, M. L., & Downe, S. (2013).The EPIIC hypothesis: intrapartum effects on the neonatal epigenome and

consequent health outcomes. Medical Hypotheses, 80(5), 656-62.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2013.01.017

- Darlington, A., McBroom, K., & Warwick, S. (2011). A Northwest Collaborative Practice Model. Obstetrics and Gynecology, 118(3), 673–677. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.0b013e31822ac37f</u>
- Declercq, E. R., Sakala, C., Corry, M. P., Applebaum, S., & Herrlich, A. (2014). Major Survey Findings of Listening to Mothers III: Pregnancy and Birth. Journal of Perinatal Education, 23(1), 9-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1891/1058-1243.23.1.9</u>
- Desai, N. M., & Tsukerman, A. (2021). Vaginal Delivery. StatPearls Publishing. Retrieved June 18, 2021from

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK559197/?report=printable

- Dominguez T. P. (2011). Adverse birth outcomes in African American women: the social context of persistent reproductive disadvantage. Social work in public health, 26(1), 3–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10911350902986880</u>
- Dominguez, T. P., Dunkel-Schetter, C., Glynn, L. M., Hobel, C., & Sandman, C. A. (2008). Racial differences in birth outcomes: the role of general, pregnancy, and racism stress. Health Psychology, 27(2), 194–203. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.27.2.194</u>
- Douthard, R. A., Martin, I. K., Chapple-McGruder, T., Langer, A., & Chang, S. (2021).
   U.S. Maternal Mortality Within a Global Context: Historical Trends, Current
   State, and Future Directions. Journal of Women's Health (2002), 30(2), 168–177.
   <a href="https://doi-org.echo.louisville.edu/10.1089/jwh.2020.8863">https://doi-org.echo.louisville.edu/10.1089/jwh.2020.8863</a>

- Dresang, L. T., & Yonke, N. (2015). Management of spontaneous vaginal delivery. American Family Physician, 92(3), 202–8.
- Edmonds, J. K., Yehezkel, R., Liao, X., & Moore, S. T. A. (2013). Racial and ethnic differences in primary, unscheduled cesarean deliveries among low-risk primiparous women at an academic medical center: a retrospective cohort study. Bmc Pregnancy and Childbirth, 13, 168–168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-13-168</u>
- Farrish, J., & Robertson, R. V. (2012). A Qualitative Examination of Factors that Influence Birthing Options for African American Women. Critical Sociology, 40(2), 271-283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0896920512437609</u>
- Fersini, F., Govi, A., Rizzo, M. L., De Nooijer, K., Ingravallo, F., Fais, P., Rizzo, N., & Pelotti, S. (2019). Shared decision-making for delivery mode: An OPTION scale observer-based evaluation. Patient Educ Couns, 102(10), 1833-1839. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2019.04.015</u>
- Fleming, S. E., Donovan-Batson, C., Burduli, E., Barbosa-Leiker, C., Hollins Martin, C.
  J., & Martin, C. R. (2016). Birth Satisfaction Scale/Birth Satisfaction ScaleRevised (BSS/BSS-R): A large scale United States planned home birth and birth centre survey. Midwifery, 41, 9-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2016.07.008</u>
- Ford, C. L., & Airhihenbuwa, C. O. (2010). The public health critical race methodology: Praxis for antiracism research. Social Science & Medicine, 71(8), 1390–1398. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.07.030</u>

- Ford, C. L., & Airhihenbuwa, C. O. (2018). Commentary: Just What is Critical Race Theory and What's it Doing in a Progressive Field like Public Health? Ethnicity & Disease, 28, 223–230. <u>https://doi.org/10.18865/ed.28.S1.223</u>
- Fowles, E. R. (2017). Cultural Differences in Defining Normal Labor and Delivery. International Journal of Childbirth Education, 32(4), 33–36.
- Getahun, D., Strickland, D., Lawrence, J. M., Fassett, M. J., Koebnick, C., & Jacobsen, S.
  J. (2009). Racial and ethnic disparities in the trends in primary cesarean delivery based on indications. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 201(4), 422 e421-427.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2009.07.062
- Ghasemi, S., Nazari, M., Vafaei, H., & Fararouei, M. (2017). The impact of Educational Intervention Based on the Theory of Planned Behavior in Choosing Delivery Mode in Primigravida Pregnant Women. International Journal of Women's Health and Reproduction Sciences, 5(1), 47–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.15296/ijwhr.2017.09</u>
- Glanz, K., Rimer, B. K., & Viswanath, K. (2015). Health Behavior: Theory, Research, and Practice. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Giurgescu, C., Misra, D. P., Sealy-Jefferson, S., Caldwell, C. H., Templin, T. N.,
  Slaughter-Acey, J. C., & Osypuk, T. L. (2015). The impact of neighborhood
  quality, perceived stress, and social support on depressive symptoms during
  pregnancy in African American women. Soc Sci Med, 130, 172-180.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.02.006">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.02.006</a>
- Golden, T. L., & Wendel, M. L. (2020). Public Health's Next Step in Advancing Equity: Re-evaluating Epistemological Assumptions to move Social Determinants From

Theory to Practice. Frontiers in Public Health, 8, 131–131.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2020.00131

- Green, J. & Thorogood, N. (Eds.). (2018). Qualitative Methods for Health Research (4th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Gregory, K. D., Jackson, S., Korst, L., & Fridman, M. (2012). Cesarean versus vaginal delivery: whose risks? whose benefits? American Journal of Perinatology, 29(1), 7–18. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0031-1285829
- Gruber, K. J., Cupito, S. H., & Dobson, C. F. (2013). Impact of doulas on healthy birth outcomes. The Journal of Perinatal Education, 22(1), 49–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1891/1058-1243.22.1.49</u>
- Guo, Y., Murphy, M. S. Q., Erwin, E., Fakhraei, R., Corsi, D. J., White, R. R., Harvey,
  A. L. J., Gaudet, L. M., Walker, M. C., Wen, S. W., & El-Chaar, D. (2021). Birth outcomes following cesarean delivery on maternal request: a population-based cohort study. CMAJ, 193(18), E634-E644. <u>https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.202262</u>
- Hardeman, R. R., Karbeah, J., & Kozhimannil, K. B. (2019). Applying a critical race lens to relationship-centered care in pregnancy and childbirth: An antidote to structural racism. Birth (Berkeley, Calif.), 47(1), 3–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/birt.12462</u>
- Hetherington, E., Doktorchik, C., Premji, S. S., McDonald, S. W., Tough, S. C., & Sauve,
  R. S. (2015). Preterm Birth and Social Support during Pregnancy: A Systematic
  Review and Meta-Analysis. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol, 29(6), 523-535.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/ppe.12225">https://doi.org/10.1111/ppe.12225</a>
- Hoope-Bender, P., de Bernis, L., Campbell, J., Downe, S., Fauveau, V., Fogstad, H., Homer, C. S. E., Kennedy, H. P., Matthews, Z., McFadden, A., Renfrew, M. J., &

Van Lerberghe, W. (2014). Improvement of maternal and newborn health through midwifery. The Lancet, 384(9949), 1226-1235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(14)60930-2</u>

Howell, E. A., Egorova, N., Balbierz, A., Zeitlin, J., & Hebert, P. L. (2016). Black-white differences in severe maternal morbidity and site of care. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 214(1), 1–122.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2015.08.019

Huesch, M., & Doctor, J. N. (2015). Factors Associated with Increased Cesarean Risk among African American Women: Evidence from California, 2010. American Journal of Public Health, 105(5), 956–962.

https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2014.302381

- Hughes, R. A., Heron, J., Sterne, J. A. C., & Tilling, K. (2019). Accounting for missing data in statistical analyses: multiple imputation is not always the answer. International Journal of Epidemiology, 48(4), 1294–1304.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyz032">https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyz032</a>
- Janevic, T., Loftfield, E., Savitz, D. A., Bradley, E., Illuzzi, J., & Lipkind, H. (2013).
  Disparities in Cesarean Delivery by Ethnicity and Nativity in New York
  City. Maternal and Child Health Journal, 18(1), 250–257.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-013-1261-6

Janssen, P. A., Henderson, A. D., & Vedam, S. (2009). The Experience of Planned Home Birth: Views of the First 500 Women. Birth (Berkeley, Calif.), 36(4), 297–304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-536X.2009.00357.x</u>

- Jevitt, C. M., Stapleton, S., Deng, Y., Song, X., Wang, K., & Jolles, D. R. (2020). Birth Outcomes of Women with Obesity Enrolled for Care at Freestanding Birth Centers in the United States. J Midwifery Womens Health, 66(1), 14-23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jmwh.13194</u>
- Johnson, P. D., Duzyj, C. M., Howell, E. A., & Janevic, T. (2019). Patient and hospital characteristics associated with severe maternal morbidity among postpartum readmissions. Journal of Perinatology, 39(9), 1204–1212. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41372-019-0426-6
- Jones, E., Lattof, S. R., & Coast, E. (2017). Interventions to provide culturallyappropriate maternity care services: factors affecting implementation. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth, 17(1), 267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-017-1449-7</u>
- Julian, Z., Robles, D., Whetstone, S., Perritt, J. B., Jackson, A. V., Hardeman, R. R., & Scott, K. A. (2020). Community-informed models of perinatal and reproductive health services provision: A justice-centered paradigm toward equity among Black birthing communities. Semin Perinatol, 44(5), 151267.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semperi.2020.151267

Kanani, S., Allahverdipour, H., & AsghariJafarabadi, M. (2015). Modeling the intention to choose natural vaginal delivery: using reasoned action and social cognitive theories. Health Promotion Perspectives, 1, 24–33.

https://doi.org/10.15171/hpp.2015.004

Kawakita, T., & Landy, H. J. (2017). Surgical site infections after cesarean delivery: epidemiology, prevention and treatment. Maternal Health, Neonatology and Perinatology, 3(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40748-017-0051-3</u>

- Keag, O. E., Norman, J. E., & Stock, S. J. (2018). Long-term risks and benefits associated with cesarean delivery for mother, baby, and subsequent pregnancies: Systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS Med, 15(1), e1002494.
  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002494
- Kennedy, H. P., Myers-Ciecko, J. A., Carr, K. C., Breedlove, G., Bailey, T., Farrell, M.
  V., Lawlor, M., & Darragh, I. (2018). United States Model Midwifery Legislation and Regulation: Development of a Consensus Document. J Midwifery Womens Health, 63(6), 652-659. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jmwh.12727</u>
- Kennedy, H. P., Cheyney, M., Dahlen, H. G., Downe, S., Foureur, M. J., Homer, C. S. E., Jefford, E., McFadden, A., Michel-Schuldt, M., Sandall, J., Soltani, H., Speciale, A. M., Stevens, J., Vedam, S., & Renfrew, M. J. (2018). Asking different questions: a call to action for research to improve the quality of care for every woman, every child. Midwifery, 65, 16–17.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2018.06.015

- Kim, T. H. M., Connolly, J. A., & Tamim, H. (2014). The effect of social support around pregnancy on postpartum depression among Canadian teen mothers and adult mothers in the maternity experiences survey. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 14, 162. <u>https://doi-org.echo.louisville.edu/10.1186/1471-2393-14-162</u>
- Koblinsky, M., Chowdhury, M. E., Moran, A., & Ronsmans, C. (2012). Maternal
  Morbidity and Disability and Their Consequences: Neglected Agenda in Maternal
  Health. Journal of Health, Population and Nutrition, 30(2), 124–130.
- Koblinsky, M., Moyer, C. A., Calvert, C., Campbell, J., Campbell, O. M., Feigl, A. B., Graham, W. J., Hatt, L., Hodgins, S., Matthews, Z., McDougall, L., Moran, A. C.,

Nandakumar, A. K., & Langer, A. (2016). Quality maternity care for every woman, everywhere: a call to action. Lancet (London, England), 388(10057), 2307–2320. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31333-2

- Korb, D., Goffinet, F., Seco, A., Chevret, S., Deneux-Tharaux, C., & EPIMOMS Study Group. (2019). Risk of severe maternal morbidity associated with cesarean delivery and the role of maternal age: a population-based propensity score analysis. Canadian Medical Association Journal, 191(13), 360.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.181067">https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.181067</a>
- Kozhimannil, K.B., Carrie A., Vogelsang, R.H., Prasad, S.P. (2015). Disrupting the Pathways of Social Determinants of Health: Doula Support during Pregnancy and Childbirth. The Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine, 29 (3) 308-317. <u>https://doi.org/10.3122/jabfm.2016.03.150300</u>
- Kozhimannil, K. B., Attanasio, L. B., Yang, Y. T., Avery, M. D., & Declercq, E. (2015).Midwifery care and patient-provider communication in maternity decisions in the United States. Matern Child Health J, 19(7), 1608-1615.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-015-1671-8

- Kozhimannil, K. B., Law, M. R., & Virnig, B. A. (2013). Cesarean delivery rates vary tenfold among US hospitals; reducing variation may address quality and cost issues. Health Aff (Millwood), 32(3), 527-535.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2012.1030">https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2012.1030</a>
- Lang, G., Farnell, E. A., & Quinlan, J. D. (2021). Out-of-hospital birth. American Family Physician, 103(11), 672–679.

- Lee, P. H. (2013). Is a Cutoff of 10% Appropriate for the Change-in-Estimate Criterion of Confounder Identification? Journal of Epidemiology, 24(2), 161–7.
- Lee, P. H., & Burstyn, I. (2016). Identification of confounder in epidemiologic data contaminated by measurement error in covariates. BMC Medical Research Methodology, 16, 54–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-016-0159-6</u>
- Lee, T.A., Pickard, A.S. (2013). Exposure Definition and Measurement. In Velentgas P., Dreyer N.A., Nourjah P., Smith S.R., Torchia, M.M. (Eds.), (pp. 45-58). Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.
- Leonard, S. A., Main, E. K., & Carmichael, S. L. (2019). The contribution of maternal characteristics and cesarean delivery to an increasing trend of severe maternal morbidity. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 19(1), 16–16.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-018-2169-3

- Leonard, S. A., Main, E. K., Scott, K. A., Profit, J., & Carmichael, S. L. (2019). Racial and ethnic disparities in severe maternal morbidity prevalence and trends. Annals of Epidemiology, 33, 30–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2019.02.007</u>
- Levine, A., Souter, V., & Sakala, C. (2021). Are perinatal quality collaboratives collaborating enough? how including all birth settings can drive needed improvement in the United States maternity care system. Birth (Berkeley, Calif.), 2021 Oct 26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/birt.12600</u>
- Loke, A. Y., Davies, L., & Mak, Y. W. (2019). Is it the decision of women to choose a cesarean section as the mode of birth? A review of literature on the views of stakeholders. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth, 19(1), 286. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-019-2440-2

- Lotshaw, R. R., Phillippi, J. C., Buxton, M., McNeill-Simaan, E., & Newton, J. M.
  (2020). A Collaborative Model of a Community Birth Center and a Tertiary Care Medical Center. Obstet Gynecol, 135(3), 696-702.
  https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.00000000003723
- Liu, S., Liston, R. M., Joseph, K. S., Heaman, M., Sauve, R., Kramer, M. S., & Maternal Health Study Group of the Canadian Perinatal Surveillance System. (2007).
  Maternal mortality and severe morbidity associated with low-risk planned cesarean delivery versus planned vaginal delivery at term. Canadian Medical Association Journal, 176(4), 455–60.
- Lu, M. C., Kotelchuck, M., Hogan, V., Jones, L., Wright, K., & Halfon, N. (2010).Closing the Black-White Gap in Birth Outcomes: A Life-courseApproach. Ethnicity & disease, 20(1 Suppl 2), S2–76.
- MacDorman, M. F., & Declercq, E. (2019). Trends and state variations in out-of-hospital births in the United States, 2004-2017. Birth, 46(2), 279-288. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/birt.12411</u>
- Malat, J., & Hamilton, M. A. (2006). Preference for Same-Race Health Care Providers and Perceptions of Interpersonal Discrimination in Health Care. Journal of Health & Social Behavior, 47(2), 173–187.

Mannava, P., Durrant, K., Fisher, J., Chersich, M., & Luchters, S. (2015). Attitudes and behaviours of maternal health care providers in interactions with clients: a systematic review. Global Health, 11, 36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-015-</u> 0117-9

- Maroof, D. A. (2012). Statistical Methods in Neuropsychology: Common Procedures Made Comprehensible. Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-3417-7\_1</u>
- Martin, J. A., Hamilton, B. E., Osterman, M., & Driscoll, A. K., & Division of Vital Statistics. (2019). Births: Final Data for 2018. National vital statistics reports: from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics, National Vital Statistics System, 68(13), 1–47.
- Martinez, L. D., Glynn, L. M., Sandman, C. A., Wing, D. A., & Davis, E. P. (2020). Cesarean delivery and infant cortisol regulation. Psych neuroendocrinology, 122, 104862. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2020.104862</u>
- Mazzoni, A., Althabe, F., Liu, N. H., Bonotti, A. M., Gibbons, L., Sánchez AJ, & Belizán JM. (2011). Women's preference for caesarean section: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Bjog: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, 118(4), 391–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.2010.02793.x</u>
- McLeroy, K. R., Bibeau, D., Steckler, A., & Glanz, K. (1988). An Ecological Perspective on Health Promotion Programs. Health Education Quarterly, 15(4), 351–77.
- Meghani, S. H., Brooks, J. M., Gipson-Jones, T., Waite, R., Whitfield-Harris, L., & Deatrick, J. A. (2009). Patient-provider race-concordance: does it matter in improving minority patients' health outcomes? Ethn Health, 14(1), 107-130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13557850802227031</u>
- Menacker, F., Declercq, E., & Macdorman, M. F. (2006). Cesarean Delivery: Background, Trends, and Epidemiology. Semin Perinatol, 30(5), 235-241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.semperi.2006.07.002</u>

- Morikawa, M., Okada, T., Ando, M., Aleksic, B., Kunimoto, S., Nakamura, Y., Kubota, C., Uno, Y., Tamaji, A., Hayakawa, N., Furumura, K., Shiino, T., Morita, T., Ishikawa, N., Ohoka, H., Usui, H., Banno, N., Murase, S., Goto, S., Kanai, A., Masuda, T., & Ozaki, N. (2015). Relationship between social support during pregnancy and postpartum depressive state: a prospective cohort study. Sci Rep, 5, 10520. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep10520</u>
- Morris, T., Meredith, O., Schulman, M., & Morton, C. H. (2016). Race, Insurance Status, and Nulliparous, Term, Singleton, Vertex Cesarean Indication: A Case Study of a New England Tertiary Hospital. Womens Health Issues, 26(3), 329-335.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2016.02.005">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2016.02.005</a>
- Munro, S., Kornelsen, J., & Hutton, E. (2009). Decision making in patient-initiated elective cesarean delivery: the influence of birth stories. J Midwifery Womens Health, 54(5), 373-379. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmwh.2008.12.014</u>
- Neal, J. L., Carlson, N. S., Phillippi, J. C., Tilden, E. L., Smith, D. C., Breman, R. B., Dietrich, M. S., & Lowe, N. K. (2018). Midwifery presence in United States medical centers and labor care and birth outcomes among low-risk nulliparous women: A Consortium on Safe Labor study. Birth, 46(3), 475-486. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/birt.12407</u>

Nethery, E., Schummers, L., Levine, A., Caughey, A. B., Souter, V., & Gordon, W. (2021). Birth outcomes for planned home and licensed freestanding birth center births in washington state. Obstetrics and Gynecology, 138(5), 693–702. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.00000000004578</u>

- Nielsen, P. E., Munroe, M., Foglia, L., Piecek, R. I., Backman, M. P., Cypher, R., & Smith, D. C. (2012). Collaborative Practice Model: Madigan Army Medical Center. Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinics of North America, 39(3), 399–410. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ogc.2012.05.008</u>
- Nieuwenhuijze, M. J., Korstjens, I., Jonge A., Vries R., & Lagro-Janssen, A. (2014). On speaking terms: a delphi study on shared decision-making in maternity care. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 14(1), 1–1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-14-223</u>
- Niles, P. M., Stoll, K., Wang, J. J., Black, S., & Vedam, S. (2021). "I fought my entire way": Experiences of declining maternity care services in British Columbia. Plos One, 16(6), 0252645. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0252645</u>
- Noursi, S., Clayton, J. A., Bianchi, D. W., & Fink, D. (2021). Maternal Morbidity and Mortality. Journal of Women's Health, 30(2), 145–146.
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 16(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847</u>
- Nuru-Jeter, A. M., Michaels, E. K., Thomas, M. D., Reeves, A. N., Thorpe, R. J., & LaVeist, T. A. (2018). Relative Roles of Race Versus Socioeconomic Position in Studies of Health Inequalities: A Matter of Interpretation. Annual Review of Public Health, 39(1), 169-188. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040617-014230</u>
- Ogburn, J. A., Espey, E., Pierce-Bulger, M., Waxman, A., Allee, L., Haffner, W. H., & Howe, J. (2012). Midwives and Obstetrician-Gynecologists Collaborating for

Native American Women's Health. Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinics of North America, 39(3), 359–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ogc.2012.05.004</u>

- Olayemi, O., Morhason-Bello, I. O., Adedokun, B. O., & Ojengbede, O. A. (2009). The role of ethnicity on pain perception in labor among parturients at the university college hospital Ibadan. The Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology Research, 35(2), 277–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1447-0756.2008.00937.x</u>
- Omeish, Y. & Kiernan, S. (2020). Targeting bias to improve maternal care and outcomes for black women in the USA. Eclinicalmedicine, 27, 100568–100568.
- Oribhabor, G. I., Nelson, M. L., Buchanan-Peart, K. R., & Cancarevic, I. (2020). A Mother's Cry: A Race to Eliminate the Influence of Racial Disparities on Maternal Morbidity and Mortality Rates among Black women in America. Cureus, 12(7), 9207. <u>https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.9207</u>
- Orr S. T. (2004). Social support and pregnancy outcome: a review of the literature. Clinical obstetrics and gynecology, 47(4), 842–882. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.grf.0000141451.68933.9f</u>
- Osamor, P. E., & Grady, C. (2016). Women's autonomy in health care decision-making in developing countries: a synthesis of the literature. Int J Womens Health, 8, 191-202. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/IJWH.S105483</u>
- Ottani, P. A. (2002). Embracing global similarities: a framework for cross-cultural obstetric care. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs, 31(1), 33-38. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1552-6909.2002.tb00020.x

- Owens, D. C., & Fett, S. M. (2019). Black Maternal and Infant Health: Historical Legacies of Slavery. Am J Public Health, 109(10), 1342-1345. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2019.305243</u>
- Pacher, J., Brix, E., & Lehner, R. (2014). The mode of delivery in patients with preeclampsia at term subject to elective or emergency Cesarean section. Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics, 289(2), 263–267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00404-</u> <u>013-2936-3</u>
- Panda, S., Begley, C., & Daly, D. (2018). Clinicians' views of factors influencing decision-making for caesarean section: A systematic review and metasynthesis of qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods studies. PLoS One, 13(7), e0200941. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0200941
- Pecci, C. C., Mottl-Santiago, J., Culpepper, L., Heffner, L., McMahan, T., & Lee-Parritz, A. (2012). The birth of a collaborative model: obstetricians, midwives, and family physicians. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am, 39(3), 323-334.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ogc.2012.05.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ogc.2012.05.001</a>
- Phillippi, J. C., Danhausen, K., Alliman, J., & Phillippi, R. D. (2018). Neonatal Outcomes in the Birth Center Setting: A Systematic Review. J Midwifery Womens Health, 63(1), 68-89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jmwh.12701</u>
- Pourhoseingholi, M. A., Baghestani, A. R., & Vahedi, M. (2012). How to control confounding effects by statistical analysis. Gastroenterology and Hepatology from Bed to Bench, 5(2), 79–83.

- Preis, H., Benyamini, Y., Eberhard-Gran, M., & Garthus-Niegel, S. (2018). Childbirth preferences and related fears comparison between Norway and Israel. BMC
   Pregnancy Childbirth, 18(1), 362. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-018-1997-5</u>
- Regan, M., McElroy, K. G., & Moore, K. (2013). Choice? Factors That Influence Women's Decision Making for Childbirth. J Perinat Educ, 22(3), 171-180. <u>https://doi.org/10.1891/1058-1243.22.3.171</u>
- Renfrew, M. J., McFadden, A., Bastos, M. H., Campbell, J., Channon, A. A., Cheung, N. F., Silva, D. R. A. D., Downe, S., Kennedy, H. P., Malata, A., McCormick, F., Wick, L., & Declercq, E. (2014). Midwifery and quality care: findings from a new evidence-informed framework for maternal and newborn care. Lancet (London, England), 384(9948), 1129–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60789-3
- Rimer, B.K., & Glanz, K. (2005). Theory at a glance: A guide for health promotion practice (2nd ed). (NIH Pub. No. 05-3896). Washington, DC: National Cancer Institute
- Rosenthal, L., & Lobel, M. (2011). Explaining racial disparities in adverse birth outcomes: unique sources of stress for Black American women. Social Science & Medicine (1982), 72(6), 977–83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.01.013</u>
- Rossi, A. C., & Prefumo, F. (2018). Planned home versus planned hospital births in women at low-risk pregnancy: A systematic review with meta-analysis. European Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 222, 102–108.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejogrb.2018.01.016

Roudsari, R.L., Zakerihamidi, M., & Khoei, E. M. (2015). Socio-Cultural Beliefs, Values and Traditions Regarding Women's Preferred Mode of Birth in the North of Iran. International Journal of Community Based Nursing and Midwifery, 3(3), 165–76.

- Rowlands, I. J., & Redshaw, M. (2012). Mode of birth and women's psychological and physical wellbeing in the postnatal period. Bmc Pregnancy and Childbirth, 12(1), 1–1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-12-138</u>
- Ruel, E., Wagner, W.E., Gillespie, B.J. (2016). *The Practice of Survey Research Theory and Applications*. SAGE Publications.
- Saha, S., Arbelaez, J. J., & Cooper, L. A. (2003). Patient-physician relationships and racial disparities in the quality of health care. American Journal of Public Health, 93(10), 1713–9.
- Salazar, L. F., Crosby, R. A., & DiClemente, R. J. (Eds.). (2015). Research Methods in Health Promotion (2nd ed.). Jossey-Bass, A Wiley Brand.
- Sandall, J., Tribe, R. M., Avery, L., Mola, G., Visser, G. H., Homer, C. S., Gibbons, D., Kelly, N. M., Kennedy, H. P., Kidanto, H., Taylor, P., & Temmerman, M. (2018).
  Short-term and long-term effects of caesarean section on the health of women and children. Lancet (London, England), 392(10155), 1349–1357.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31930-5
- Seaman, S. R., & White, I. R. (2013). Review of inverse probability weighting for dealing with missing data. Statistical Methods in Medical Research, 22(3), 278– 95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0962280210395740</u>
- Scarf, V. L., Rossiter, C., Vedam, S., Dahlen, H. G., Ellwood, D., Forster, D., Foureur,M. J., McLachlan, H., Oats, J., Sibbritt, D., Thornton, C., & Homer, C. S. E.(2018). Maternal and perinatal outcomes by planned place of birth among women

with low-risk pregnancies in high-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Midwifery, 62, 240–255.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2018.03.024

- Shahraki-Sanavi F., Rakhshani F., Navidiyan A., Ansari-Moghaddam A. A study on attitude of pregnant women with intention of elective cesarean based on theory of planned behavior. Zahedan J Res Med Sci. 2012; 14(9): 95-97.
- Shaw, D., Guise, J. M., Shah, N., Gemzell-Danielsson, K., Joseph, K. S., Levy, B., Wong, F., Woodd, S., & Main, E. K. (2016). Drivers of maternity care in highincome countries: can health systems support woman-centred care? Lancet (London, England), 388(10057), 2282–2295. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31527-6</u>
- Shay, L. A., & Lafata, J. E. (2015). Where is the evidence? A systematic review of shared decision making and patient outcomes. Med Decis Making, 35(1), 114-131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0272989X14551638</u>
- Shen, M. J., Peterson, E. B., Costas-Muñiz, R., Hernandez, M. H., Jewell, S. T., Matsoukas, K., & Bylund, C. L. (2018). The Effects of Race and Racial Concordance on Patient-Physician Communication: A Systematic Review of the Literature. Journal of racial and ethnic health disparities, 5(1), 117–140. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-017-0350-4

Silveira, S. L., & Motl, R. W. (2019). Environmental correlates of health-promoting leisure physical activity in persons with multiple sclerosis using a social cognitive perspective embedded within social ecological model. Preventive Medicine Reports, 15, 100921–100921. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2019.100921</u>

- Simons-Morton, B.G., McLeroy, K.R., & Wendel, M.L. (2012). Behavior theory in health promotion practice and research. Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Slaughter-Acey, J. C., Caldwell, C. H., & Misra, D. P. (2013). The influence of personal and group racism on entry into prenatal care among African American women. Womens Health Issues, 23(6), e381-387.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2013.08.001

- Slaughter-Acey, J. C., Sneed, D., Parker, L., Keith, V. M., Lee, N. L., & Misra, D. P. (2019). Skin Tone Matters: Racial Microaggressions and Delayed Prenatal Care. Am J Prev Med, 57(3), 321-329. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2019.04.014</u>
- Snowden, J. M., Tilden, E. L., Snyder, J., Quigley, B., Caughey, A. B., & Cheng, Y. W. (2015). Planned out-of-hospital birth and birth outcomes. The New England Journal of Medicine, 373(27), 2642–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsa1501738</u>
- Somer, S. J., Sinkey, R. G., & Bryant, A. S. (2017). Epidemiology of racial/ethnic disparities in severe maternal morbidity and mortality. Seminars in Perinatology, 41(5), 258–265. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.semperi.2017.04.001</u>
- Spong, C. Y., Berghella, V., Wenstrom, K. D., Mercer, B. M., & Saade, G. R. (2012).
  Preventing the first cesarean delivery: summary of a joint Eunice Kennedy
  Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, Society for
  Maternal-Fetal Medicine, and American College of Obstetricians and
  Gynecologists Workshop. Obstet Gynecol, 120(5), 1181-1193.
  <a href="https://doi.org/http://10.1097/AOG.0b013e3182704880">https://doi.org/http://10.1097/AOG.0b013e3182704880</a>

- Stapleton, S. R., Osborne, C., & Illuzzi, J. (2013). Outcomes of Care in Birth Centers: Demonstration of a Durable Model. Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health, 58(1), 3–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jmwh.12003</u>
- Stevens, G., & Miller, Y. D. (2012). Overdue Choices: How Information and Role in Decision-Making Influence Women's Preferences for Induction for Prolonged Pregnancy. Birth, 39(3), 248–257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-536X.2012.00554.x</u>
- Taber, K. S. (2018). The Use of Cronbach's Alpha When Developing and Reporting Research Instruments in Science Education. Research in Science Education, 48(6), 1273–1296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11165-016-9602-2</u>
- Tangel, V., White, R. S., Nachamie, A. S., & Pick, J. S. (2019). Racial and Ethnic
  Disparities in Maternal Outcomes and the Disadvantage of Peripartum Black
  Women: A Multistate Analysis, 2007-2014. American Journal of
  Perinatology, 36(8), 835–848. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0038-1675207</u>
- Taylor, J. K. (2020). Structural Racism and Maternal Health Among Black Women. J Law Med Ethics, 48(3), 506-517. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1073110520958875</u>
- Thomas, M.-P., Ammann, G., Brazier, E., Noyes, P., & Maybank, A. (2017). Doula Services Within a Healthy Start Program: Increasing Access for an Underserved Population. Maternal and Child Health Journal, 21(S1), 59–64.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-017-2402-0">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-017-2402-0</a>
- Thornton, P., McFarlin, B. L., Park, C., Rankin, K., Schorn, M., Finnegan, L., & Stapleton, S. (2017). Cesarean Outcomes in US Birth Centers and Collaborating

Hospitals: A Cohort Comparison. Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health, 62(1), 40–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jmwh.12553</u>

- Tunçalp, Were, W. M., MacLennan, C., Oladapo, O. T., Gulmezoglu, A. M., Bahl, R.,
  Daelmans, B., Mathai, M., Say, L., Kristensen, F., Temmerman, M., & Bustreo,
  F. (2015). Quality of care for pregnant women and newborns-the WHO vision.
  BJOG, 122(8), 1045-1049. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.13451</u>
- Tzadikevitch-Geffen, K., Melamed, N., Aviram, A., Sprague, A. E., Maxwell, C., Barrett, J., & Mei-Dan, E. (2021). Neonatal outcome by planned mode of delivery in women with a body mass index of 35 or more: a retrospective cohort study. Bjog: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, 128(5), 900–906. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.16467
- Ugwu, N. U., & de Kok, B. (2015). Socio-cultural factors, gender roles and religious ideologies contributing to Caesarian-section refusal in Nigeria. Reprod Health, 12, 70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-015-0050-7</u>
- United States Census Bureau. (2010). 2010 Census Regions and Divisions of the United States. <u>https://www.census.gov/geographies/reference-maps/2010/geo/2010-</u> census-regions-and-divisions-of-the-united-states.html
- United States Census Bureau. (2010). Quick Facts United States.

https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/US/PST045221

United States Department of Health and Human Services. (2018, November 6). What are some factors that make a pregnancy high risk?.

https://www.nichd.nih.gov/health/topics/high-risk/conditioninfo/factors

- VanGompel, E., Main, E., Tancredi, D., & Melnikow, J. (2018). Do provider birth attitudes influence cesarean delivery rate: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 18(1), 184–184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-018-1756-7</u>
- VanGompel, E., Perez, S., Datta, A., Wang, C., Cape, V., & Main, E. (2019). Cesarean overuse and the culture of care. Health Serv Res, 54(2), 417-424. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13123</u>
- Vedam, S., Leeman, L., Cheyney, M., Fisher, T. J., Myers, S., Low, L. K., & Ruhl, C. (2014). Transfer from planned home birth to hospital: improving interprofessional collaboration. J Midwifery Womens Health, 59(6), 624-634. https://doi.org/10.1111/jmwh.12251
- Vedam, S., Rossiter, C., Homer, C. S. E., Stoll, K., & Scarf, V. L. (2017). The ResQu Index: A new instrument to appraise the quality of research on birth place. PLoS One, 12(8), e0182991. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0182991</u>
- Vedam, S., Stoll, K., Martin, K., Rubashkin, N., Partridge, S., Thordarson, D., Jolicoeur, G., & Changing Childbirth in, B. C. S. C. (2017). The Mother's Autonomy in Decision Making (MADM) scale: Patient-led development and psychometric testing of a new instrument to evaluate experience of maternity care. PLoS One, 12(2), e0171804. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0171804</u>
- Vedam, S., Kathrin, S., Nicholas, R., Kelsey, M., Zoe, M.-V., Hermine, H.-K., & Ganga, J. (2017). The Mothers on Respect (MOR) Index: measuring quality, safety, and human rights in childbirth. SSM: Population Health, 3(C), 201–210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2017.01.005</u>

- Vedam, S., Stoll, K., MacDorman, M., Declercq, E., Cramer, R., Cheyney, M., Fisher, T., Butt, E., Yang, Y. T., & Powell Kennedy, H. (2018). Mapping integration of midwives across the United States: Impact on access, equity, and outcomes. PLoS One, 13(2), e0192523. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0192523</u>
- Vedam, S., Stoll, K., Taiwo, T. K., Rubashkin, N., Cheyney, M., Strauss, N., McLemore, M., Cadena, M., Nethery, E., Rushton, E., Schummers, L., Declercq, E., & GVtM-US Steering Council. (2019). The Giving Voice to Mothers Study: inequity and mistreatment during pregnancy and childbirth in the United States.
  Reprod Health, 16(1), 77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-019-0729-2</u>
- Versteegen, M., Bozlak, C. T., Larkin, H., & Appleton, A. A. (2021). Maternal depression, adverse childhood experiences, and social support in relation to gestational diabetes risk: results from the Albany Infant and Mother Study (AIMS). BMC Pregnancy Childbirth, 21(1), 335. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-021-03814-5</u>
- Washington, S., Caughey, A. B., Cheng, Y. W., & Bryant, A. S. (2012). Racial and Ethnic Differences in Indication for Primary Cesarean Delivery at Term: Experience at One U.S. Institution. Birth, 39(2), 128–134.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-536X.2012.00530.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-536X.2012.00530.x</a>
- Weng, S. S., & Landes, S. D. (2016). Culture and Language Discordance in the Workplace: Evidence from the National Home Health Aide Survey. The Gerontologist, 57(5), 900–909. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnw110</u>
- Werner, E. F., Savitz, D. A., Janevic, T. M., Ehsanipoor, R. M., Thung, S. F., Funai, E.F., & Lipkind, H. S. (2013). Mode of Delivery and Neonatal Outcomes in

Preterm, Small-for-Gestational-Age Newborns. Obstetrical & Gynecological Survey, 68(2), 151–153.

- World Health Organization (2016). Standards for Improving Quality of Maternal and Newborn Care in Health Facilities. <u>https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/mcadocuments/advisory-groups/quality-of-care/standards-for-improving-quality-ofmaternal-and-newborn-care-in-health-facilities.pdf</u>
- Yee, L. M., Kaimal, A. J., Houston, K. A., Wu, E., Thiet, M. P., Nakagawa, S., Caughey,
  A. B., Firouzian, A., & Kuppermann, M. (2015). Mode of delivery preferences in
  a diverse population of pregnant women. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 212(3), 377 e371324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2014.10.029
- Zakaria, M., Karim, R., Rahman, M., Cheng, F., & Xu, J. (2021). Disparity in physicianpatient communication by ethnicity: evidence from Bangladesh. International Journal for Equity in Health, 20(1), 65–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-021-01405-6</u>
- Zamani-Alavijeh, F., Araban, M., Hassanzadeh, A., & Makhouli, K. (2018). Contributing factors of pregnant women's beliefs towards mode of delivery: a cross-sectional study from Iran. Maternal Health, Neonatology and Perinatology, 4, 9–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40748-018-0077-1</u>
- Zamani-Alavijeh, F., Shahry, P., Kalhori, M., & Araban, M. (2017). Pregnant women's preferences for mode of delivery questionnaire: Psychometric properties. J Educ Health Promot, 6, 20. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/2277-9531.204738</u>
- Zhang, S., Cardarelli, K., Shim, R., Ye, J., Booker, K. L., & Rust, G. (2013). Racial Disparities in Economic and Clinical Outcomes of Pregnancy among Medicaid

Recipients. Maternal and Child Health Journal, 17(8), 1518–1525.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-012-1162-0

- Zielinski, R., Ackerson, K., & Kane Low, L. (2015). Planned home birth: benefits, risks, and opportunities. Int J Womens Health, 7, 361-377. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/IJWH.S55561</u>
- Zuckerwise, L. C., & Lipkind, H. S. (2017). Maternal early warning systems -Towards reducing preventable maternal mortality and severe maternal morbidity through improved clinical surveillance and responsiveness. Seminars in Perinatology, 41(3), 161–165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.semperi.2017.03.005</u>

## APPENDICES

Survey Question #	Survey Questions and Scales	Survey Respor	ises			
Demographic Factors						
Q1	What is your year of birth?	• 1940	1970 2000			
		• 1941	1971 2001			
		• 1942	1972 2002			
		• 1943	1973 2003			
		• 1944	1974 2004			
		• 1945	1975 2005			
		• 1946	1976 2006			
		• 1947	1977			
		• 1948	1978			
		• 1949	1979			
		• 1950	1980			
		• 1951	1981			
		• 1952	1982			
		• 1953	1983			
		• 1954	1984			
		• 1955	1985			
		• 1956	1986			
		• 1957	1987			
		• 1958	1988			
		• 1959	1989			
		• 1960	1990			
		• 1961	1991			
		• 1962	1992			
		• 1963	1993			
		• 1964	1994			
		• 1965	1995			
		• 1966	1996			
		• 1967	1997			
		• 1968	1998			
		• 1969	1999			

## Appendix A: Giving Voice to Mothers-US Adapted Survey Instrument

Q2	To help us to describe the communities that have contributed to this important national survey, please tell us how you describe your own race, ethnicity, or cultural heritage?	<ul> <li>Alaska Native</li> <li>Black</li> <li>East Asian</li> <li>Central Asian</li> <li>Latina or Hispanic</li> <li>Middle Eastern</li> <li>Native American</li> <li>Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>African</li> <li>South Asian</li> <li>South East Asian</li> <li>White/Caucasian</li> <li>Biracial (please specify below)</li> <li>Other Race/Ethnicity/Heritage (please specify)</li> </ul>
Q3	What was the highest level of education you had completed at the beginning of your most recent pregnancy?	<ul> <li>Primary school</li> <li>Some high school</li> <li>High school or equivalent (e.g., GED)</li> <li>Some college, but no degree</li> <li>Associate degree</li> <li>College (e.g., B.A., B.S.)</li> <li>Some graduate school, but no degree</li> <li>Graduate degree (e.g., M.S., M.D., Ph.D.)</li> <li>Professional school (e.g., MD, JD)</li> <li>Other (please specify)</li> </ul>
Q4	Including yourself, how many people AGE 18 AND OLDER live in your household? If you live in more than one household, please answer for only one of the households. (Select one option)	<ul> <li>1</li> <li>2</li> <li>3</li> <li>4</li> <li>5</li> <li>6</li> <li>7</li> <li>8</li> <li>9</li> <li>10</li> <li>11</li> <li>12</li> <li>13</li> <li>14</li> </ul>

		• 15
		• 16
		• 17
		18
		• 10
		• 19
05	Leslading groups of the service of the	• 20
QS	NOLINGED THAN 18 live in your	• 1
	household? If you live in more than	• 2
	nousehold, il you live in more than	• 3
	one of the households. (Select one	• 4
	ontion)	• 5
	option	• 6
		• 7
		• 8
		• 9
		• 10
		• 11
		• 12
		• 13
		• 14
		• 15
		• 16
		• 17
		• 18
		• 19
		• 20
Q6	Which of the following best describes	• Under \$9,999
	your total household income before	• \$10,000 to \$19,999
	taxes last year?	• \$20,000 to \$29,999
		• \$30,000 to \$39,999
		• \$40,000 to \$49,999
		• \$50,000 to \$69,999
		• \$70,000 to \$99,999
		• \$100 000 to \$119 999
		• \$120,000 to \$139,999
		<ul> <li>\$120,000 to \$159,999</li> <li>\$140,000 to \$159,999</li> </ul>
		• \$160,000 to \$139,999
		<ul> <li>\$100,000 to \$179,999</li> <li>\$180,000 to \$100,000</li> </ul>
		• \$200,000 to \$122,222
		• \$200,000 to \$217,777
		• \$220,000 to \$239,999
		• $$240,000$ and over
		• Decline to Answer

07	At ourse a sint design a second and an array	T 1'1'4 4 1 1 C 1
Q/	At any point during your pregnancy	• Inability to buy enough food
	or the year before your pregnancy did	• Lack of health insurance
	you experience? (Please check all	• Health or electricity turned off
	that apply)	<ul> <li>Inability to most financial</li> </ul>
		obligations
		• Inability to find work
		<ul> <li>Involvement of Child and</li> </ul>
		Family Services
		Housing instability
		Depression
		• Smoking (tobacco)
		• Problems with drug
		dependency
		<ul> <li>Daily alcohol use</li> </ul>
		• Daily alcohol use
		• Police violence, yourself or
		someone in your family
		• Imprisonment, yourself or
		partner
		• Intimate partner violence
		• Not enough support from
		family or friends
		• None of the above
08	During your recent pregnancy did	Response: Ves No
<b>Υ</b> 0	you feel you needed any of the	Response. Tes, No
	following accession of	(a) East atomic WIC for 1
	following services?	(a) Food stamps, will food
		vouchers, or money to buy food
		(Select on option)
		(b) State health plan (Select on
		option)
		(c) Assistance from Indian Health
		Services (Select on option)
		(d) Temporary Assistance for
		Needy Families (TANF) (Select
		on option)
		(e) Housing subsidies or assistance
		(Select on option)
		(f) Drug/Alcohol treatment
		program (Select on option)
		(g) Public child-care subsidies
		(Select on option)
		(h) Treatment for depression
		(Salast on ortion)
		(Select on option) (i) Hele to exit even line (Select
		(1) Help to quit smoking (Select on
		ontion)
		<ul> <li>(j) Counseling for nutrition (Select on option)</li> <li>(k) Counseling for mental health (Select on option)</li> <li>(l) Safe house or shelter from abuse (Select on option)</li> <li>(m) None of the above (Select on option)</li> </ul>
-----	--	---
Q9	What was the main source of payment for all of your maternity care services (doctor or midwife, lab tests, hospital bills, etc.)?	<ul> <li>Medicaid or CHIP</li> <li>Indian Health Services</li> <li>TriCare/United Healthcare for Active Duty service members</li> <li>Other government program</li> <li>Private insurance</li> <li>Paid for it myself/ourselves (out-of-pocket)</li> <li>Not sure</li> <li>Other (Please specify)</li> </ul>
Q10	In what state did you give birth?	<ul> <li>Alabama</li> <li>Alaska</li> <li>Arizona</li> <li>Arkansas</li> <li>Armed Forces Asia</li> <li>Armed Forces Europe</li> <li>Armed Forces Pacific</li> <li>California</li> <li>Colorado</li> <li>Connecticut</li> <li>Delaware</li> <li>District of Columbia</li> <li>Florida</li> <li>Georgia</li> <li>Hawaii</li> <li>Idaho</li> <li>Illinois</li> <li>Indiana</li> <li>Iowa</li> <li>Kansas</li> <li>Kentucky</li> <li>Louisiana</li> <li>Maine</li> <li>Maryland</li> </ul>

		<ul> <li>Massachusetts</li> <li>Michigan</li> <li>Minnesota</li> <li>Mississippi</li> <li>Missouri</li> <li>Montana</li> <li>Nebraska</li> <li>Nevada</li> <li>New Aampshire</li> <li>New Hampshire</li> <li>New Jersey</li> <li>New Mexico</li> <li>New York</li> <li>North Carolina</li> <li>North Dakota</li> <li>Ohio</li> <li>Oklahoma</li> <li>Oregon</li> <li>Pennsylvania</li> <li>Rhode Island</li> <li>South Carolina</li> <li>South Dakota</li> <li>Tennessee</li> <li>Texas</li> <li>Utah</li> <li>Vermont</li> <li>Virginia</li> <li>Washington</li> <li>West Virginia</li> <li>Wisconsin</li> <li>Wyoming</li> <li>Puerto Rico</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Wyoming</li> <li>Puerto Rico</li> <li>Other, please tell us where.</li> <li>If this is different from where</li> </ul>
		you nve, please ten us why.
Perina	atal Health Status	
Q11	Before your most recent pregnancy,	• Yes
Q12	How many times have you been	No     0
	pregnant in your life? (Select one option)	<ul> <li>1</li> <li>2</li> <li>3</li> <li>4</li> <li>5</li> </ul>

		• 6
		• 7
012	T	• 8 or more
Q13	In your most recent pregnancy, did	• Single baby
	you give birth to a single baby or	• Twins
	more than one? (Select one option)	• Triplets
		• Other
Q14	During this pregnancy I experienced:	• No health problems
	(please check all that apply)	High blood pressure
		• Problems with baby's growth
		• Problems with baby's health,
		please specify
		Gestational diabetes
		• Premature labor and birth
		Breech baby
		• Other medical problem, please
		specify
Q15	Please explain [Answer this question	• Other specify response
	only if answer to Q #14 is Problems	
	with baby's health, please specify]	
Q16	Please specify [Answer this question	• Other specify response
	only if answer to Q #14 is Other	
017	medical problem, please specify	
Q17	As best you can remember, what was	• Not sure
	your weight just before you became	• Decline to answer
	best estimate will de (Select one	• I was pounds
	option)	
018	How tall are you?	(a) Feet
Q10	now tall are you?	(a) Feet (b) Inches
		(c) Centimeters
Place	of Birth	
019	Where was your baby born? (Please	Birth center INSIDE hospital
	read ALL THE OPTIONS before	Birth center INSIDE hospital
	selecting the BEST answer) (Select	• Home planned in a home with
	one option)	midwife or physician present
		Home unplanned accidental or
		en-route to the hospital
		• Home, planned unassisted
		Hospital planned hospital birth
		Hospital transfer from planned
		home birth after labor started
		Hospital transfer from
		freestanding birth center after
		labor started

		• Other (please specify)
Perina	atal Care Providers	
Q20	My answer in this section (for Q#21) describe my conversations or experiences with a (Select one option)	<ul> <li>Family Doctor</li> <li>Obstetrician/OB-GYN doctor</li> <li>Midwife</li> </ul> Not applicable, did not have a doctor or
C		midwife
Collo	tive Factors	
O21	Mothers Autonomy in Decision	Pagnanga: Strongh Disagrag
Q21 a-g	Mothers Autonomy in Decision Making (MADM) Scale (7-item)	Response: Strongly Disagree, Disagree, Somewhat Agree, Agree, Strongly Agree
		(a) My doctor or midwife asked me how involved in decision making I wanted to be (Select one option)
		(b) My doctor or midwife told me that there are different options for my maternity care (Select one option)
		(c) My doctor or midwife explained the advantages/disadvantages of the maternity care options (Select one option)
		(d) My doctor or midwife helped me understand all the information (Select one option)
		(e) I was given enough time to thoroughly consider the different care options (Select one option)
		(f) I was able to choose what I considered to be the best care options (Select one option)
		(g) My doctor or midwife respected my choices (Select one option)
Envir	onmental Factors	
Norm	ative Beliefs	
Q22	Do you agree or disagree with the following statement? "Giving birth is	<ul><li>Completely Disagree</li><li>Strongly Disagree</li></ul>
	a process that should not be interfered	Somewhat Disagree

	with unless medically necessary." (Select one option)	<ul><li>Somewhat Agree</li><li>Strongly Agree</li></ul>
~ .		Completely Agree
Socia	l Support	
Q23	During labor and birth, some women get support from someone who is present to make them more comfortable and explain what is happening. Who if anyone, gave you this type of support when you were in labor? (Please choose all that apply).	<ul> <li>My partner/husband</li> <li>Another family member</li> <li>My friend</li> <li>A doula or trained labor assistant</li> <li>A midwife</li> <li>A nurse</li> <li>A doctor</li> <li>I did not receive this type of support</li> <li>Other</li> </ul>
Barri	er or Facilitator	
Racis	m or Discrimination	
Q24	I experienced racism during my pregnancy. (Select one option)	<ul> <li>Strongly Disagree</li> <li>Disagree</li> <li>Somewhat Disagree</li> <li>Somewhat Agree</li> <li>Agree</li> <li>Strongly Agree</li> </ul>
Q25	I am not affected by discrimination. (Select one option)	<ul> <li>Strongly Disagree</li> <li>Disagree</li> <li>Somewhat Disagree</li> <li>Somewhat Agree</li> <li>Agree</li> <li>Strongly Agree</li> </ul>
Respe	ectful Perinatal Care	
Q26 a-g Q27 a-d Q28 a-c	Mothers on Respect Index (MORi) (14 item)	<ul> <li>Response: Strongly Disagree, Disagree, Somewhat Disagree, Somewhat Agree, Agree, Strongly Agree</li> <li>Q33 a-g: Overall while making decisions about my pregnancy or birth care</li> <li>(a) I felt comfortable asking questions (Select one option)</li> </ul>
		(b) I felt comfortable declining care that was offered (Select one option)

(c) I felt comfortable accepting the options for care that my doctor or midwife recommended (Select one option)
(d) I felt pushed into accepting the options my doctor or midwife suggested (Select one option)
(e) I chose the care options that I received (Select one option)
(f) My personal preferences were respected (Select one option)
(g) My cultural preferences were respected (Select one option)
Response: Strongly Disagree, Disagree, Somewhat Disagree, Somewhat Agree, Agree, Strongly Agree
<b>Q34 a-d:</b> During my pregnancy I felt that I was treated poorly by my doctor or midwife BECAUSE of
(a) My race, ethnicity, cultural background or language (Select one option)
(b) My sexual orientation and/or gender identity (Select one option)
(c) My type of health insurance or lack of insurance (Select one option)
(d) A difference in opinion with my caregivers about the right care for myself or my baby (Select one option)
Response: Strongly Disagree, Disagree, Somewhat Disagree, Somewhat Agree, Agree, Strongly Agree

		Q35 a-c: During my pregnancy I held back from asking questions or discussing concerns BECAUSE (a) My doctor or midwife seemed rushed (Select one option) (b) I wanted maternity care that differed from what my doctor or midwife recommended (Select one option)
		might think I was being difficult (Select
Raca	and Culture Concordance	one option)
$\Omega^{29}$	Finding a midwife or doctor who	1 Strongly Agree
$\chi^{2j}$	shared my heritage race ethnic or	2 Agree
	cultural background was important to	3. Neither
	me. (Select one option)	4. Disagree
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	5. Strongly Disagree
Mode	of Delivery	
Q30	My most recent birth was a: (Select	Vaginal birth
	one option)	• Vaginal birth with forceps or
		vacuum
		Cesarean birth

### Appendix B: University of Louisville IRB Outcome Letter

#### University of Louisville

Human Subjects Protection Program Office 300 East Market Street, Suite 380 Louisville, Ky 40202 P: 502. 852.5188 E: <u>hsppofc@louisville.edu</u>

DATE:	March 07, 2022
то:	Muriel J Harris, PhD, MPH
FROM:	The University of Louisville Institutional Review Board
IRB NUMBER:	22.0191
STUDY TITLE:	Person-centered Decision-making and Socio-cultural Contexts Influencing Cesarean Deliveries: A National Analysis
REFERENCE #:	741640
DATE OF REVIEW:	03/07/2022
CONTACT FOR QUESTIONS:	Sarah Foster Merrill, MPH, swfost01@louisville.edu

An IRB member has reviewed your submission, and determined the project described does not meet the "Common Rule" definition of human subjects' research. The IRB has classified this project as Non-Human Subjects Research (NHSR). The project may proceed.

Any changes to this project or the focus of the investigation must be submitted to the IRB to ensure that the IRB determination above still applies.

Amendments for personnel changes or study closures are not required.

Thank you,

Sara fut Herrill

Sarah Foster Merrill, MPH, IRB Analyst, Institutional Review Board, Member

We value your feedback; let us know how we are doing: https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/CCLHXRP

## CURRICULUM VITAE

# Alice M. Story 678-525-1122 amstory11@gmail.com

# **EDUCATION**

May 2022 (Expected)	Doctor of Philosophy, Public Health Sciences, Health Promotion and Behavioral Sciences, University of Louisville, Louisville, KY	
May 2014	Juris Master in Health Law, Emory University, Atlanta, GA	
May 2013	Master of Public Health in Health Policy and Management, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, Little Rock, AR	
May 2011	Bachelor of Science in Biology, Spelman College, Atlanta, GA	
PROFESSIO	NAL EXPER	IENCE
Aug. 2018 - Pi	resent	<b>Graduate Research Assistant</b> University of Louisville, School of Public Health and Information Sciences, Louisville, KY
		Duties: Conduct perinatal health, global health, and health equity primary and secondary quantitative and qualitative research. Participate in program planning and evaluation. Conduct literature reviews. Submit Institutional Review Board (IRB) proposals. Prepare research for peer-reviewed journals.
Jan May 202	21	<b>Instructor</b> University of Louisville, School of Public Health and Information Sciences, Louisville, KY
		Duties: Taught the undergraduate course PHPB 305-01: Public Health Education Principles and Strategies for Spring 2021 semester.
Aug Dec. 20	020	<b>Co-Instructor</b> University of Louisville, School of Public Health and Information Sciences, Louisville, KY

	Duties: Co-taught the undergraduate course PHPB 305-01: Public Health Education Principles and Strategies for Fall 2020 semester.
Jan May 2019	<b>Teaching Assistant</b> University of Louisville, School of Public Health and Information Sciences, Louisville, KY
	Duties: Served as a teaching assistant for the undergraduate course PHPH 401-01: Public Health and Health Policy.
Feb Jul. 2018	<b>Post Award Research Administrator III</b> Emory University, Research Administration Services, School of Medicine, Brain Health and Surgery, Atlanta, GA
	Duties: Managed the Urology Department and Clinical Research Unit financial portfolio and 60 projects within the Brain Health (Neurology and Psychiatry) financial portfolio. Reconciled and projected federal, state, clinical trials, and foundation award finances for Principal Investigators (PIs). Communicated with PIs regularly regarding their financial portfolio. Ensured financial terms and conditions of awards were in compliance. Prepared monthly, annually, and end of the award period financial reports. Ensured the PIs effort was allocated appropriately among all awards. Initiated annual conflict of interest certification. Submitted request for no cost extensions, budget revisions, carryover, and other award changes. Reviewed and approved requisitions, payment request, expense reports, and sub-contractor invoices.
Mar. 2017 - Feb. 2018	<b>Post Award Research Administrator II</b> Emory University, Research Administration Services, School of Medicine, Brain Health, Atlanta, GA
	Duties: Managed a total of 60 projects within the Brain Health (Neurology and Psychiatry) financial portfolio. Reconciled and projected federal, state, clinical trials, and foundation award finances for PIs. Communicated with PIs regularly regarding their financial portfolio. Ensured financial terms and conditions of awards were in compliance. Prepared monthly, annually, and end of the award period financial reports. Ensured the PIs effort was allocated appropriately among all awards. Initiated annual conflict of interest certification. Submitted request for no

cost extensions, budget revisions, carryover, and other award changes. Reviewed and approved requisitions, payment request, expense reports, and sub-contractor invoices.

### Aug. 2015 - Mar. 2017 Grants Coordinator

Arkansas Department of Health, Family Health Branch, Little Rock, AR

Duties: Managed the Health Resources and Services Administration's (HRSA) Maternal, Infant, and Early Childhood Home Visiting (MIECHV) \$6.9 million FY15 competitive grant award contracted with Arkansas Children's Hospital. Managed grant-writing team by providing timelines and assignments, data compilation, and editing for HRSA's MIECHV \$7.1million FY16 formula grant. Managed the statewide Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI) program and provided technical assistance. Evaluated the effectiveness of programs and provided recommendations for program improvement. Developed operating budgets for grant applications, monitored and evaluated expenditures, and provided feedback on budget adjustments and spend down. Prepared and submitted contracts. Conducted programmatic and fiscal site reviews with contractor and sub-contractors. Procured internal and external agreements and contracts.

### Jun. 2014 - Aug. 2015 Youth and Schools Coordinator

Arkansas Department of Health, Tobacco Prevention and Cessation Program, Little Rock, AR

Duties: Coordinated youth and schools' programs at elementary, secondary, and post-secondary levels through program management, technical assistance, surveillance, and evaluation. Collaborated with entities related to youth and schools as it pertained to youth-based tobacco control initiatives. Monitored sub-grantees progress toward deliverables and provided recommendations for field improvement. Prepared, submitted, and analyzed reports, budgets, grant proposals, and requests for applications. Developed youth messaging for social media, website design, and tobacco prevention projects.

Jan. - May 2013

#### Capstone

University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, College of Public Health, Little Rock, AR

	Duties: Collected and analyzed data on the food vending environment at the University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences with respect to the percentage of healthiest, healthier, and unhealthy contents determined by the survey instrument. Provided recommendations to the University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences staff based on key findings to expand access to healthier vending options aligned with national and city guidelines.
Aug Dec. 2012	<b>Preceptorship</b> Arkansas Children's Hospital Research Institute, Little Rock, AR
	Duties: Conducted process evaluation to analyze whether strategies were implemented as planned for the "Delta Garden Study." Assisted with program development for GardenCorps members through the "Delta Garden Study" to assist with sustainability of school and community gardens in Arkansas. Interviewed Child Nutrition Directors under the "Arkansas Grow Healthy Study" regarding the incorporation of fresh fruits and vegetables into school lunch.
Jun Aug. 2010	Intern Health Career Connection, Mentoring in Medicine and Science Berkeley/Oakland, CA
	Duties: Developed asthma and sexual health presentations and modules for the Mentoring in Medicine and Science "Healthy Ambassador" program. Participated in community outreach activities designed to promote healthier lifestyles and choices by bringing awareness to stroke, hypertension, and heart disease. Mentored underserved youth to achieve higher education.
SKILLS	Proficient in Microsoft Office and Stata. Experience with SPSS, R Project for Statistical Computing, Qualtrics, and Dedoose. Skilled in program planning and evaluation. Strong organizational, written, communication, analytical, problem-solving, and interpersonal skills.
TRAININGS	
Jun Aug. 2020	Teaching Lab, Department of Health Promotion and Behavioral Sciences, School of Public Health and Information Sciences, University of Louisville

May - Jun. 2020	Teaching Seminar, Department of Health Promotion and Behavioral Sciences, School of Public Health and Information Sciences, University of Louisville
Jan Feb. 2020	Instructional Strategies in Health Professions Education Course, Health Professions Education Program, University of Louisville School of Medicine and College of Education and Human Development
Oct Dec. 2019	Teaching and Learning in Health Professions Education Course, Health Professions Education Program, University of Louisville School of Medicine and College of Education and Human Development

# LEADERSHIP/MEMBERSHIP ACTIVITIES

LEADERSHIP/MEMBERSHIP ACTIVITIES		
Feb. 2020 - Present	Sub-committee Member, Strategic Plan Implementation - Learn Strategy L3, University of Louisville	
Oct. 2019 - Present	Member, Mindfulness Meditation Club, University of Louisville	
Oct. 2019 - Present	Member, Multicultural Association of Graduate Students, University of Louisville	
Sept. 2019 - May 2020	Member, United Nations Association - Women at the University of Louisville	
Sept. 2019 - May 2020	Committee Member, Global Maternal Health Symposium, United Nations Association - Women at the University of Louisville	
May 2016 - Mar. 2017	Memory Screener, Emory University Alzheimer's Disease Research Center	
Aug. 2015 - Mar. 2017	Health Administration Section Member, Arkansas Public Health Association	
Aug. 2015 - Mar. 2017	State Lead, Home Visiting Collaborative Improvement and Innovation Network	
Aug. 2015 - Mar. 2017	MIECHV Leadership Team	
Aug. 2015 - Mar. 2017	CQI Chair, MIECHV/CQI Planning Group	

Aug. 2015 - Mar. 2017	AHVN National Advisory Board Member
Aug. 2013 - May 2014	Advisory Committee Member, AHVN Training Institute
Aug. 2013 - May 2014	Vice President of Programming, Juris Master Society, Emory University School of Law
Aug. 2013 - May 2014	Student Advisory Committee Member, Global Health Institute, Emory University
Aug. 2012 - May 2013	Secretary, College of Public Health Student Council, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences
AWARDS/HONORS Jan. 2022 - Present	Doctoral Dissertation Completion Award Spring 2022
May 2019 - Present	University of Louisville, Health Sciences Center, Health and Social Justice Scholars Program 4 <sup>th</sup> Cohort Recipient
Dec. 2020 - May 2021	Spelman College Sister2Sister Alumnae-Students Professional Mentoring Program, Mentor Recipient
Aug. 2018 - May 2020	University of Louisville, Dean's Scholar and List
Mar. 2020	Phi Kappa Phi Honor Society, top 10% of University of Louisville Graduate Students
Jan. 2020	Fulbright U.S. Student Program Canada, Semi-finalist
Apr. 2019	University of Louisville, Office of Study Abroad and International Travel, Roberson Fund for African Studies Recipient, Obuasi, Ghana
Jul. 2018	Aspiring Leaders at Emory University Program, selected for July 2018 Cohort
Oct. 2016 - May 2017	AHVN Leadership Academy 1st Cohort Recipient
Aug. 2012	University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences Non-resident Diversity Scholarship Recipient
Aug. 2012	Health Resources and Services Administration Scholarship for Disadvantaged Students Recipient
May 2012	U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs Student Career Experience Program Recipient

Apr. 2011	Society for Molecular Biology and Evolution Undergraduate Mentoring Program Award Recipient, Kyoto, Japan, selected among 10 students globally
Mar. 2011	Undergraduate Diversity at Evolution Travel Award Recipient, Norman, OK
May 2009 - May 2011	Minority Biomedical Research Support - Research Initiative for Scientific Enhancement Development Program Affiliate

## PRESENTATIONS

- Fisher, B., Brown, A., **Story, A**. *In My Hood: Using Photovoice to Understand Youth Perceptions of Structure and Agency in their Communities.* Abstract selected for the 2021 Society for the Study of Social Problems in Pursuit of Social Justice. Virtual
- Story, A., Elmore, S., Stoll, K. Harris, M., Vedam, S. *Race, Nationality Decision-Making & Respectful Maternity Care: The Effects on Preterm Birth*. Abstract selected for the 2020 American Public Health Association Annual Meeting and Expo. Virtual
- Story, A., Elmore, S., Stoll, K. Harris, M. Race, Nationality & Respectful Maternity Care: The Effects on Preterm Birth. Abstract selected for the 2020 Xavier University of Louisiana College of Pharmacy 13<sup>th</sup> Health Disparities Conference. New Orleans, LA
- Story, A., Elmore, S., Harris, M. *Examining Drinking Water Sources, Access, and Sanitation in Obuasi, Ghana*. Oral presentation at the 2020 University of Louisville Graduate Student Regional Research Conference. Louisville, KY
- Brown, A., **Story, A.**, Bailey-Ndiaye, S., Smith, J. *The Role of Culturally Responsive Camps: A Look into the Seven Generations African Heritage Camp.* Poster presentation at the 2020 American Camp Association National Conference. San Diego, CA
- Story, A., Elmore, S., Harris, M. *Examining Drinking Water Sources, Access, and Sanitation in Obuasi, Ghana*. Oral and poster presentations at the 2019 Afro-European Medical and Research Network. United Nations, Geneva, Switzerland
- Elmore, S., Story, A., Brown, A. *The Impact of Race/Ethnicity on Homeownership and Health*. Poster presentation at the 2019 Xavier University of Louisiana College of Pharmacy 12<sup>th</sup> Health Disparities Conference. New Orleans, LA

- Prewitt, T.E., Sanders, S., **Story, A.**, Moore, P. *Availability and Price of Selected Food and Beverages in SNAP Authorized Dollar Stores: A Pilot Survey.* Poster presentation at the 2017 American Public Health Association Annual Meeting and Expo. Atlanta, GA
- Pillow-Price, K., **Story, A**. *Shaping a Better Future by Improving Your Program*. Co-presented orally in 2017 at the Southern Early Childhood Association Conference. Biloxi, MS
- Pillow-Price, K., **Story, A**. *Shaping a Better Future by Improving Your Program with Continuous Quality Improvement*. Co-presented orally in 2016 at the Home Instruction for Parents of Preschool Youngsters USA National Leadership Conference. Orlando, FL
- Story, A. *Quality Improvement: Developing Strong SMART Aim Statements.* Presented orally in 2015 at the Home Visiting Collaboration Improvement and Innovation Network Learning Session. Chicago, IL
- Story, A., Montgomery, C., Qin. *The Interconnection of Molecular Evolution, Gene Network, and Cellular Aging.* Poster presented in 2011 at the Society for Molecular Biology and Evolution Annual Conference. Kyoto, Japan
- Story, A., Blackmon, A., Pai, A. *The Benefit of Mate Choice in Tribolium castaneum Male Beetles*. Poster presented in 2011 at the Undergraduate Diversity at Evolution Conference. Norman, OK
- Story, A., Blackmon, A., Pai, A. *The Benefit of Mate Choice in Tribolium castaneum Male Beetles.* Presented orally in 2011 at the Southeastern Ecology and Evolution Conference. Auburn, AL
- Story, A., Montgomery, C., Qin, H. *The Interconnection of Molecular Evolution, Gene Network, and Cellular Aging.* Poster presented in 2011 at the Southeastern Ecology and Evolution Conference. Auburn, AL
- Story, A., Blackmon, A., Pai, A. *The Benefit of Mate Choice in Tribolium castaneum Male Beetles*. Presented orally in 2011 at Spelman College Research Day. Atlanta, GA
- Story, A., Montgomery, C., Qin, H. *Robustness and Cellular Aging in Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Poster presented in 2011 at Spelman College Research Day. Atlanta, GA